# **Old Dominion University**

# **ODU Digital Commons**

Human Movement Sciences & Special Education Theses & Dissertations

Human Movement Sciences and Special Education

Spring 2024

# Co-Constructing Physical Education Resources and Recommendations with Blind Adults

M. Ally Keene Old Dominion University, ally.keene2@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/hms\_etds

Part of the Disability and Equity in Education Commons, Educational Administration and Supervision Commons, and the Health and Physical Education Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Keene, M. A.. "Co-Constructing Physical Education Resources and Recommendations with Blind Adults" (2024). Doctor of Philosophy (PhD), Dissertation, Human Movement Sciences, Old Dominion University, DOI: 10.25777/2jfn-3a77

https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/hms\_etds/98

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Human Movement Sciences and Special Education at ODU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Human Movement Sciences & Special Education Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ODU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@odu.edu.

# CO-CONSTRUCTING PHYSICAL EDUCATION RESOURCES AND RECOMMENDATIONS WITH BLIND ADULTS

by

M. Ally Keene B.S. May 2012, James Madison University M.S. May 2018, University of Hawaii

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Old Dominion University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

**EDUCATION** 

OLD DOMINION UNIVERSITY May 2024

Approved by:

Justin A. Haegele (Director)

Xihe Zhu (Member)

Angela Eckhoff (Member)

#### **ABSTRACT**

# CO-CONSTRUCTING PHYSICAL EDUCATION RESOURCES AND RECOMMENDATIONS WITH BLIND ADULTS

M. Ally Keene Old Dominion University, 2024 Director: Dr. Justin A. Haegele

Blind youth have reported unfavorable PE experiences, however, are optimistic that positive changes could be made. Despite recommendations to involve students in learning decisions, those made for teaching blind youth in PE have largely been constructed from nondisabled adults. This dissertation used a participatory research method and positioned blind people as research *partners*, amplifying their voices as knowers, collaborators, and researchers, to help construct resources and recommendations to disseminate to PE teachers. With that, the overall aim of this dissertation was to construct a product that provides PE teachers with useful and relevant resources and recommendations, in an attempt to enhance PE experiences for blind students. This dissertation used a two-manuscript format. The purpose of the first manuscript was to describe the experiences of co-constructing resources and recommendations for PE teachers, with blind individuals as research partners, aimed to enhance PE for blind students. Four blind young adults served as research partners within the project. The project meetings, consisting of 15 meetings over 19 weeks and two stages, took place entirely on Zoom. Stage one consisted of four meetings and focused on exploring the needs of the partners and their experiences and opinions for improving PE for future generations. Stage two consisted of 11 meetings and focused on constructing resources and recommendations to provide to PE teachers. A constant-comparative technique was used throughout to analyze all meeting transcriptions to help compare, keep track of, and reflect on all ideas. The first study manuscript details the

interworking of the process to highlight the research groups' experience with the project. We conclude this manuscript by disclosing the challenges, successes, and messiness of this project. Moving forward, we encourage researchers to continue to conduct research that involves disabled individuals as knowers, and in mindful and meaningful ways to respect their needs. The purpose of the second study was to examine PE teachers' perspectives on the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of resources co-constructed with blind young adults to help enhance PE for blind students. For this study, nine high school PE teachers were interviewed, using an interpretivist research paradigm, to inquire about the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of using the resource within their teaching practices, which might help to alleviate some of the concerns and stress teachers have noted experiencing. Reflexive thematic analysis guided the data analysis, and three themes were constructed: (a) "You're gonna have to get to know the person": Awareness of needs, (b)"For a teacher that's on their own...this is phenomenal": More than a planning tool, and (c) "I should meet with the student": Conversations for student input. Many of the participants noted that the resource was useful and relevant, however, there were some mixed opinions about the practicality of using some of the resources, given time and curriculum constraints. This co-constructed resource may be a first step in working with blind individuals and PE teachers to help to enhance PE experiences for blind students.

Copyright, 2024, by M. Ally Keene, All Rights Reserved.

This dissertation is dedicated to each of the research partners that made this possible. To Andrew, Julia, Nina, and Marie for your commitment to the construction of the resources and recommendations and desire to help enhance PE for generations of blind students to come.

Thank you!

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Completing my PhD would not have been possible without the overwhelming support I received from family, friends, mentors, and others, both near and far. The appreciation I have for those that have encouraged me throughout each step of the journey cannot adequately be put into words. However, I do hope some of the words that follow are able to express some of my sincere gratitude.

First and foremost, to my parents, thank you for your unwavering support, encouragement, and understanding throughout this academic journey. Your love, patience, and belief in me have been central to my success. I am profoundly grateful for your love and support. Your guidance has not only helped me academically but has also shaped me into the person I am today, and for that, I am eternally grateful.

I also owe a debt of gratitude to my mentor, Dr. Justin Haegele, whose guidance, wisdom, and expertise have shaped both my academic and personal growth. Your mentorship has been instrumental in shaping my research, fostering my intellectual curiosity, and supporting my love for adventure. Your patience, insights, and encouragement have been invaluable to me, and I am profoundly grateful for the opportunities you have provided me to learn, grow, and travel.

To Lindsay and Lindsey, I'm thrilled to have embarked on this journey with you both. Your unwavering encouragement, comforting words, and constructive feedback have meant the world to me. Your friendship and support have been a constant reminder that I wasn't navigating this path alone. Thank you for being two amazing individuals to have shared this journey with. Hopefully our paths with cross in the near future; regardless I know you both are only a phone

call away, and hope you know that I am as well. I am excited to see you both move forward with the next chapter and look forward to hearing about all your future success.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Angela Eckhoff and Dr. Xihe Zhu. Dr. Eckhoff, thank you for your support and guidance throughout each step of the process, I sincerely appreciate you assisting me with your expertise in participatory research, constructive feedback, and thoughtful discussions. Dr. Zhu, I am grateful for your encouragement, time, and support over the last few years which have contributed to the success of my academic journey.

Lastly, I extend my heartfelt thanks to all those who have contributed in ways both big and small to the completion of this dissertation. Your support, encouragement, and belief in me have made this journey possible, and for that, I am eternally grateful.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Background	2
Theoretical Framework	4
Statement of the Problem	6
Purpose	7
Research Questions	8
Significance of the Studies	8
Delimitations	9
Limitations	9
Definitions	11
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	13
Importance of Physical Activity	13
Physical Activity and Visual Impairment	15
Role of Physical Education	18
Physical Education Experiences of Blind and Visually Impaired Youth	20
Participatory Research	23

Chapter Summary	26
CHAPTER III: RESEARCH METHODS	29
Positionality & Reflexivity	30
Preliminary Study	31
Partners and Participants	32
Data Collection and Fieldwork Strategies	34
Data Analysis	38
CHAPTER IV: STUDY MANUSCRIPTS	40
Lessons Learned using Participatory Research to Develop Physical Education Resources a	nd
Recommendations for Blind Students	40
Physical Education Teacher Perspectives of Strategies to Enhance PE for Blind Students	77
CHAPTER V: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	. 109
REFERENCES	. 115
APPENDICES	. 137
APPENDIX A	. 137
APPENDIX B	. 138
APPENDIX C	. 141
APPENDIX D	. 142
APPENDIX E	. 145
VITA	. 147

#### **CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION**

Blind individuals can provide unique, valuable perspectives on the world, as such, the willingness of research partners to contribute to this project was invaluable as the research could not have been completed without their knowledge, perspective, time, and efforts (Wendell, 2001). It is important to note that within this dissertation the individuals who were part of this research project are referred to as *partners* as opposed to *participants*, posited by Smith et al. (2022), as this is a better reflection of their role within the research. Additionally, identity first language (i.e., disabled person) is used in line with a social relational understanding of disability that supports the values and beliefs of identifying disability as being socially constructed through oppressive systems (Adamson et al., 2022; Bogart & Dunn, 2019). The social relational model recognizes that physical activity and physical education experiences can be impacted by both society and impairment and may differ based on a plethora of factors (Martin, 2013).

Physical activity can provide mental, physical, and emotional health benefits for adults and youth alike (Lilia et al., 2023). However, despite such benefits, blind and visually impaired youth and adults report low incidences of meeting physical activity recommendations (Barbosa Porcellis da Silva et al., 2018; Gür et al., 2020; Marmeleira et al., 2014). Physical education (PE) classes are an educational context that may help youth meet these recommendations and provide education for youth to be active into their adult years (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019). However, blind and visually impaired youth and adults overwhelmingly report experiences in PE that do not contribute to their participation in physical activity as youth or adults (Ball et al., 2022; Bredahl, 2013; Haegele & Zhu, 2017; Holland et al., 2020). Pedagogical strategies may help improve the affective, social, and physical, domain for students within PE (Arufe-Giráldez et al., 2023) and should be student-centered to promote and nurture

active engagement in PE (Oliver & Kirk, 2016). Additionally, we must listen to students to learn about and enhance motivation, facilitate interest in, and optimize learning through content collaboration (Keene et al., 2023; Oliver & Kirk, 2016). Further empirical research is needed to help develop strategies to enhance PE experiences for blind and visually impaired youth and adults, through suggestions that amplify their voices and needs.

# **Background**

Physical activity can positively impact physical and mental health, such as helping to decrease the risk for disease, the management of anxiety and depression symptoms, and improve self-esteem (Lilia et al., 2023). To access these positive benefits, the United States Department of Health and Human Services (2018) recommends youth should aim to be physically active for 60 minutes per day. Youth who meet these guidelines are more likely to transfer their learned skills into consistent physical activity practices as an adult (Batista et al., 2019; Howie et al., 2020), which may help them meet the guidelines of participating in 150 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity per week (United States Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). However, it has been documented that blind and visually impaired youth typically do not meet physical activity guidelines (Gür et al., 2020; Haegele et al., 2018; Hou et al., 2023) which may impact their physical activity levels as an adult (Batista et al., 2019). A lack of physical activity participation, for blind and visually impaired individuals, may stem from societal or interpersonal barriers (Greguol et al., 2015; Gür et al., 2020), or a lack of meaningful participation in PE (Haegele & Zhu, 2017), as many visually impaired individuals note that negative physical activity experiences have originated within PE (Bredahl, 2013) which may contribute to a sedentary adulthood (Miyauchi, 2020). For youth, physical activity skills and knowledge can and should be learned, practiced, and integrated into their routine, within PE

classes (SHAPE America, n.d.; United States Department of Education, 2011), which should, ideally, promote a lifelong and positive interaction with physical activity (Spencer-Cavaliere & Rintoul, 2012). Many studies have examined the experiences blind and visually impaired youth have in PE, both concurrently and retrospectively, which have identified many unfavorable experiences (Coffey et al., 2020; Haegele et al., 2022; Haegele & Zhu, 2017; Yessick & Haegele, 2019). These negative experiences in PE have included but are not limited to bullying (Ball et al., 2022), different expectations than their non-disabled peers (Holland et al., 2020), exclusion (Coffey et al., 2020), and a lack of adaptations which limit engagement (Bredahl, 2013). These experiences may have limited the ability of blind or visually impaired individuals to learn physical activity skills and knowledge and develop a positive relationship with physical activity.

Despite suggestions that students should be involved in educational decisions (Deschenes et al., 2001; Lieberman et al., 2006; Murris, 2013), many of the current pedagogical guidelines are written from the perspective of non-disabled individuals and lack perspective from blind and visually impaired individuals (Eales & Goodwin, 2022). It is imperative that students, and more specifically blind and visually impaired students, are given autonomy within PE to express their needs and contribute to the construction of meaningful curricular content and pedagogical practices (Eales & Goodwin, 2022). Exploring ways in which PE experiences can be enhanced through listening to the voices and opinions of blind individuals may aid in more favorable views on PE and, perhaps, a higher likelihood of physical activity participation for such populations. In this study, strategies to enhance PE experiences utilizing a participatory research paradigm were the focus. Participatory research involves working with individuals as active partners within the research process and aims to provide agency through collaboration (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). Within PE, limited participatory research has been conducted with disabled individuals, and thus

the voice of researchers and scholars within the field has been privileged (Spencer & Molnár, 2022). As such, the overarching aim of this research study was to construct a product that provides PE teachers with useful and relevant resources and recommendations, in an attempt to help enhance PE experiences for blind students.

#### Theoretical Framework

This dissertation was guided by principles of critical disability theory which posits that disability is a social construct (Hosking, 2008). The central feature of critical disability theory recognizes, defines, and evaluates how culture impacts disabled individuals and how those factors intersect with social constructs such as race, class, and gender (Hall, 2019; Hosking, 2008). Critical disability theory attempts to amplify the voices of disabled individuals by listening to and valuing the perspectives of their lived experiences, aiming to pave the way for social, political, and economic change (Hall, 2019; Hosking, 2008; Meekosha & Shuttleworth, 2009). Critical disability theory aims to move away from a binary system of this or that, challenges the norm, and opens the conversation for more fluid discussions regarding disability (Hall, 2019; Hosking, 2008; Meekosha & Shuttleworth, 2009). It also aims to demonstrate how traditional disability studies have excluded disabled people, as Rocco (2005) claims: "Disabled people's voices are not heard because they are not asked or are ignored" (p.4). Critical disability theory aspires to change such narrative by involving disabled individuals in research.

Critical disability theory employs seven elements: "the social model of disability, multidimensionality, valuing diversity, rights, voices of disability, language, and transformative politics" (Hosking, 2008, p. 5). Critical disability theory aligns with a version of the social model of disability by acknowledging disability as a social construct, a complex relationship with impairment, and the social disadvantages (Hosking, 2008). Additionally, it recognizes that

multidimensionality or intersectionality of individuals' lives impacts how people move throughout their daily life and highlights the value of diverse characteristics (Hosking, 2008). Legal rights of disabled individuals, another tenant of critical disability theory, is used as a tool to help further equality within society (Hosking, 2008). Furthermore, amplifying the voices of disabled people, privileging their stories, and listening to and valuing disabled perspectives is of utmost importance within critical disability theory (Hosking, 2008). This also includes being aware of language that is used and how it is inherently political, emphasizing negative connotations and labels which may further negative attitudes about disabled people (Hosking, 2008). Critical disability theory maintains the connection with critical theory in that it recognizes the importance of influencing change within the "economic, political, and social structures of society" (Hosking, 2008, p. 14).

Due to the relatively new introduction of critical disability theory, it is still evolving and developing, and it provides space for shifts, responses, and collaboration across disciplines (Hall, 2019). By using critical disability theory within a variety of disciplines, researchers and activists alike can work to dismantle ableist voices that breed paranoia, fear, confusion, and inadequacy by using the seven tenants of critical disability theory (Goodley & Lawthom, 2019). Within physical activity, PE, health, and exercise fields, the areas for expansion are vast to work to improve the lives of and perception of disabled people. Critical disability theory has been minimally cited and could, and perhaps should, be utilized more prominently to involve the voices of disabled people. For example, when using critical disability theory to examine the experiences of disabled people in sport, Saxton (2018) was encouraged by participants to expand research in this area and examine how barriers were more present and exclusion was more common for disabled individuals within physical activity realms. Further, Peers (2018) provided

a call to action, specifically for the field of adapted physical activity, to utilize the framework in future studies to examine axiological assumptions, challenge normative ways, and ableist assumptions. This can be done by examining the language we use such as asking a person how society disables them as opposed to what disability they have, which places the value on the disability instead of placing the onus on disability, and acknowledges the disabling societal practices (Peers, 2018). However, the ideology does not seem to have been grasped, and instead scholars and activists appear to continue using what they already know. Moving forward, this researcher aims to use critical disability theory to gain perspectives about how disabled, and more specifically blind people, have experienced PE and how they believe it can be improved, with the hope that we might change what we think we know and mold it into something that more accurately benefits blind youth within PE.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

When reflecting about their physical education experiences, blind and visually impaired youth have largely reported them as negative, and that they include high incidences of bullying (Ball et al., 2022), feelings of exclusion (Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020), and a lack of instruction (Holland et al., 2020) and adaptations (Bredahl, 2013). These negative experiences may contribute to a sedentary childhood and adulthood, as youth may not develop a positive relationship with physical activity (Miyauchi, 2020). Within PE, most strategies to teach blind and visually impaired youth have been constructed from the perspective of non-disabled individuals (Eales & Goodwin, 2022) and lack input from blind and visually impaired individuals (Keene et al., 2023; Maher & Haegele, 2022). As such, most research within adapted physical activity and adapted PE has also failed to take into account the perspectives of the stakeholders researchers aim to represent (Spencer & Molnár, 2022). Thus, little is known, to

date, about blind and visually impaired individuals' recommendations that may improve PE experiences and if such opinions are being taken into consideration (Keene et al., 2023; Peers, 2018). Within this dissertation, the first study aimed to co-construct resources and recommendations, with blind individuals as research partners, aimed to enhance PE for blind students. The second study examined PE teachers' perspectives on the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of resources co-constructed with blind young adults to help enhance PE for blind students.

#### **Purpose**

This dissertation produced two articles. The purpose of the first manuscript was to describe the experiences of co-constructing resources and recommendations for PE teachers, with blind individuals as research partners, aimed to enhance PE for blind students. These methods include how blind individuals would like to be taught to benefit from PE classes within an integrated setting, what the individuals wish PE teachers had known, and what they wish they had learned that would be beneficial for living an independently active and healthy lifestyle into and through adulthood. Additionally, the product includes resources, such as accessible technology, adaptive sports equipment, external organizations, and a worksheet that may be useful in promoting a more equitable PE experience for blind youth. Using a participatory research method, the partners were positioned as knowers, collaborators, and researchers to narrow the axiological gap within research and provide strategies to improve PE for future generations (Peers, 2018). The purpose of the second study was to examine PE teachers' perspectives on the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of resources co-constructed with blind young adults to help enhance PE for blind students. The teachers provided their input regarding their perceptions of the usefulness, practicality, and understanding of the co-constructed

resources, and how such resources could be improved, within each of the categories, based on their experiences.

### **Research Questions**

- Study One
  - O Using their own experiences as students, in what ways do blind young adults think PE experiences in high school could be improved for blind students?
    - How can teaching strategies, approaches to communicating curriculum content, and/or engagement strategies be improved for blind students in PE class?
    - What PE curriculum content do blind adults perceive to be important to enhance the likelihood of being physically active into adulthood?
- Study Two
  - What are the perspectives of current PE teachers about the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of the co-constructed resource from the project "Co-constructing an understanding of the experiences and needs of blind individuals in physical education?"

## Significance of the Studies

The first study posited strategies and suggestions endorsed by blind individuals who recently graduated from high school, that they felt would have led to a more positive integrated PE experience [i.e., *how* should we teach, *what* we should teach]. Using the strategies created within this study, PE teachers can aim to provide experiences to current and future blind students that may make PE a more beneficial and positive experience. These opinions provide insight into what educational content might influence a higher desire to participate in physical activity during

and after leaving the school system. PE teachers can use the information co-constructed from the study to better inform their teaching practices that is beneficial to blind individuals, which may help them successfully navigate physical activity and other healthy lifestyle choices. The second study examined the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of the online resource, from the perception of current high school PE teachers. Their feedback was used to edit and improve the online resource in order to make it more useable, relatable, and helpful for PE teachers to implement within their class.

#### **Delimitations**

The following are delimitations to the first study:

- 1. Criteria for this study specifically required partners to be between the ages of 18-22 years, as such their recall of high school PE is more likely to be relevant and easily remembered than those who are further removed.
- 2. Partners were required to self-identify as blind (B1) and have no additional disabilities in order to provide recommendations for a specific population of individuals.
- Criteria to be included within this study requires partners to have graduated from high school in the United States, which may have limited individuals if they attended but did not graduate.

The following are delimitations to the second study:

Participants were required to self-identify as a current high school PE teacher in the
United States, providing recommendations for a specific population of teachers that is
relevant to the co-constructed resources.

#### Limitations

The following are limitations to the first study:

- The study results may not be generalizable for use with individuals who identify with a
  visual impairment but are not classified as blind (B1) or have additional disabilities, due
  to the exclusion criteria.
- 2. The study participants attended high school in two states and had varying experiences within high school PE that cannot necessarily be generalized for other blind students and their experiences.
- This study is very specific to age, disability status, and required partners to have attended high school in the US, therefore, these results may not be transferable outside of these parameters.
- 4. What they recalled and construct may be limited by their own experiences and what they know related to physical education.

The following are limitations to the second study:

- 1. The study cannot necessarily be generalized for elementary or middle school PE teachers, due to the exclusion criteria.
- The study participants taught high school in six states and had varying experiences within teaching high school PE that cannot necessarily be generalized for other PE teachers and their experiences.
- 3. This study is required PE teachers to teach in the U.S., therefore, these results may not be transferable outside of the United States.
- 4. The opinions of the usefulness, practicality, and understanding may be limited by their own experiences related to teaching physical education.

#### **Definitions**

The following definitions are provided to define terms and how they are specifically used in the context of this dissertation.

- **Adapted Physical Education.** Specially designed instruction to meet the needs of a child for physical education (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act [IDEA], 2004).
- **Ableism.** "Stereotyping, prejudice, discrimination, and social oppression toward people with disabilities" (Bogart & Dunn, 2019, p. 651).
- **Blind (B1).** "No light perception in either eye up to light perception, and an inability to recognize the shape of a hand at any distance or in any direction" (United States Association of Blind Athletes, n.d.).
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). "A law that makes available a free appropriate public education to eligible children with disabilities throughout the nation and ensures special education and related services to those children" (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act [IDEA], 2004).
- Inclusion. Subjective thoughts, feelings, and experiences of the child that center on feelings of belonging, acceptance, and value (Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020; Spencer-Cavaliere & Watkinson, 2010).
- **Integrated.** Disabled students placed in the same class as their non-disabled peers (Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020).
- **Partners.** Partners were used instead of participants to represent a more accurate depiction of their role as posited by Smith et al. (2022). These individuals were responsible for helping determine the research goals, conducting data collection, analyzing data, and

- other actions that contribute to the co-construction of resources and recommendations (Baum et al., 2006).
- **Physical Activity.** "Any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure" (World Health Organization, 2022).
- **Physical Education.** "Academic subject that provides students with a planned, sequential, K-12 standards-based program of curricula and instruction designed to develop motor skills, knowledge and behaviors for active living, physical fitness, sportsmanship, self-efficacy and emotional intelligence" (SHAPE America, n.d.).
- **Visual Impairment.** "A decrease in the ability to see to a certain degree that causes problems not fixable by usual means, such as glasses" (Industries for the Blind and Visually Impaired, 2023).

#### **CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

This section explains why physical activity is important and how individuals can access benefits to participating in physical activity. It further explains why blind and visually impaired individuals may receive added benefits and why physical activity is additionally beneficial for their quality of life. Within childhood, youth are provided the opportunity to participate in physical education (PE) classes while attending school, which should promote, foster, and help implement a positive relationship with physical activity, however, research has shown that blind and visually impaired students typically do not have positive experiences within PE class (Coffey et al., 2020; Yessick & Haegele, 2019). Many strategies for teaching blind and visually impaired youth have been constructed (Brian & Haegele, 2014; Lieberman & Houston-Wilson, 1999; Stribing et al., 2019), however, most of these strategies have been constructed without the input from blind and visually impaired individuals (Maher & Haegele, 2022). As such, participatory research is one avenue, not often utilized in research with disabled students (Spencer & Molnár, 2022), that can be employed to work with blind individuals to co-construct strategies for improving PE for current and future blind students.

### **Importance of Physical Activity**

Physical activity has been shown to have a number of physiological and psychological benefits (Lilia et al., 2023). Physiological benefits include, but may not be limited to, disease prevention and management such as a minimized risk for cancer, type two diabetes, cardiovascular disease (Zhao et al., 2020), osteoporosis (Ferrer et al., 2022), and obesity (Ahmadi et al., 2023). Physical activity can also improve muscular fitness, cardiometabolic health, bone strength, and heart and lung health (United States Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Affectively, physical activity can help with the management of mental health

disorders such as anxiety (Xiaoliang & Huaping, 2022; Zhu et al., 2019), depression (D'Angelantonio et al., 2022; Zhu et al., 2019), and schizophrenia (García-Garcés et al., 2021) and may be beneficial for overall quality of life (Eddolls et al., 2018). Cognitively, benefits for school-aged youth have also been shown to increase reading comprehension and attention (Muller et al., 2021).

To benefit from physical activity, the US Department of Health and Human Services (2021) recommends that children and adolescents are moderately to vigorously active for at least 60 minutes a day, while adults should aim for 150 minutes of moderate activity per week. Additionally, children and adolescents should aim to do muscle strengthening activities at least three days a week, while adults should aim for at least two days (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2021). For individuals who do not meet physical activity recommendations, there is an increased risk of premature death and disease (Katzmarzyk et al., 2019). Despite noted benefits, trends have shown that about 80 percent of American adults are not meeting physical activity guidelines (United States Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). These benefits are more likely to be achieved when individuals meet said guidelines in childhood, as they are more likely to then be active in adulthood (Batista et al., 2019). It is beneficial to learn skills and tools to become and maintain a healthy level of physical activity in childhood, in order to more successfully transfer those skills to adulthood (Howie et al., 2020).

Physical inactivity among adults is often a result of internal reasonings such as a lack of time or motivation, displeasure for sport, health concerns, age, and feelings of loneliness, among external factors such as weather conditions, occupational obligations, family, and finances (Skrebutėnaitė & Karanauskienė, 2019). However, and despite these reasonings, individuals cognitively know and understand the benefits of physical activity participation and attest that

after participating in physical activity they tend to have more energy, an improved mood, and higher personal perceptions of their physical appearance (Skrebutėnaitė & Karanauskienė, 2019). As such, physical activity has been attributed to an increased quality of life (Gill et al., 2013). Motivation to participate in physical activity may come from social or external factors, and may be pivotal for some individuals who lack internal motivation (Skrebutėnaitė & Karanauskienė, 2019). Addressing the common reasons for physical inactivity within childhood may be pivotal to increasing the rate at which individuals are active into adulthood (Batista et al., 2019).

# **Physical Activity and Visual Impairment**

In agreement with the aforementioned benefits of physical activity and quality of life, a positive correlation with a high level of physical activity and life satisfaction in research specific to visually impaired individuals (Łabudzki & Tasiemski, 2013). Many blind and visually impaired youth recognize the value of physical activity in relation to their body's basic needs and the benefits of overall fitness, understanding that physical activity can help with other life skills, energy levels, and can also promote relaxation (Anderson et al., 2019) and is often done for health benefits, fun, and social contact (Charles & Chinaza, 2018; Jaarsma et al., 2014).

Oftentimes blind and visually impaired individuals note that supportive family members and friends are also a strong facilitator in their physical activity participation (Greguol et al., 2015; Jaarsma et al., 2014). Having a support system that encourages and assists with physical activity can be central to the likelihood of blind and visually impaired individuals participating in physical activity (Jaarsma et al., 2014). Bredahl (2013) highlighted positive physical activity experiences blind and visually impaired individuals have experienced, which were centered around their abilities when they were seen as capable partners within physical activity spaces.

In understanding the benefits and potential desire to being physically active, however, blind and visually impaired individuals often face barriers to participating in physical activity. For example, blind and visually impaired youth and adults reference a lack of transportation, accessibility, dependance on others, and personal barriers as limitations to being able to participate in physical activity (Greguol et al., 2015; Gür et al., 2020; Jaarsma et al., 2014; Kirk et al., 2021). In one particular study by Stuart et al. (2006), when asked about barriers to participation, both blind and visually impaired youth noted that being made fun of and a lack of a physical activity partner (Stuart et al., 2006). Separately, blind youth identified that they couldn't do activity because they were blind, while visually impaired youth said they didn't know what to do or did not have any barriers (Stuart et al., 2006). Of note, in this particular study, some barriers to participation vary between visually impaired and blind youth (Stuart et al., 2006). Finding solutions to barriers, such as the ones mentioned and more, can be tiresome and demotivating. As referenced by Jaarsma et al. (2014) emphasizing ones abilities may help promote independence and increase self-confidence to participate in physical activity. Despite the noted benefits, research shows that a high percentage of blind and visually impaired youth and adults are not meeting physical activity guidelines (Hou et al., 2023; Marmeleira et al., 2014), possibly because of the barriers they experience (Jaarsma et al., 2014), which limits their access to physical activity participation benefits.

Most recently reported by Hou et al. (2023) using data from the 2020-2021 National Survey of Children's Health, visually impaired youth are not meeting PA guidelines. That is, in this report of 907 visually impaired youth ages six to 17, only 149 (15%) met such guidelines (Hou et al., 2023). This study shows a decline in visually impaired youth meeting PA guidelines, when compared to the analysis conducted by Haegele, Zhu, et al. (2020) using data from the

2016-2017 National Survey of Children's Health, where 105 of 561 youth (18.7%) met PA guidelines. It is of note that not only are most visually impaired youth not meeting guidelines, but there also appears to be a slight decline in the limited number of youths that are doing so. While this decline may have been a result of the COVID-19 pandemic (Hou et al., 2023), this factor cannot be assumed without further exploration, and additional and current data should be collected to reflect the most current trends. Regardless, both data sets reflect low adherence to physical activity guidelines by blind and visually impaired youth. To the authors knowledge, minimal studies have examined if there are differences in physical activity levels between blind and visually impaired youth, which may be attributed to vision level. Aslan et al. (2012) and Kozub and Oh (2004) both examined the physical activity levels of blind and visually impaired youth and found no significant differences in physical activity levels. However, Hopkins et al. (1987) and Houwen et al. (2009) both found a relationship between physical activity and vision level, noting that blind youth had lower levels of activity compared with visually impaired youth. Due to the difference in findings, it is worth examining further, since barriers to physical activity (Stuart et al., 2006) and physical activity accommodations (Lieberman et al., 2006) differ for these related, yet distinct, populations.

Using self-reported data from the 2015 to 2018 National Health and Nutrition

Examination Survey (NHANES) national dataset, Ross et al. (2022) found 59.3% of visually impaired adults who were surveyed, met physical activity guidelines. However, this data did not distinguish between individuals who were visually impaired and blind. Barbosa Porcellis da Silva et al. (2018) found a similar percentage of blind and visually impaired individuals meeting physical activity guidelines, however, it was noted that blind individuals were less active than those who are visually impaired. The physical activity guideline adherence percentages found by

Barbosa Porcellis da Silva et al. (2018) and Ross et al. (2022) are higher than many other reports, nevertheless, over 40% of visually impaired individuals are still not meeting explicated guidelines. In other research, physical activity guideline adherence has been notably lower. For example, in a study by Marmeleira et al. (2014), blind and visually impaired adults wore accelerometers for three consecutive days, and findings noted that less than 30 percent of participants met physical activity recommendations. Similarly, Holbrook et al. (2013) studied the step patterns of blind and visually impaired adults which resulted in findings that most participants did not meet guidelines. As such it is important to continue examining physical activity participation and barriers to participation in an attempt to help increase the number of blind and visually impaired individuals that meet physical activity guidelines.

# **Role of Physical Education**

Physical education is one specific context that may help blind and visually impaired youth meet physical activity guidelines (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022; Colabianchi et al., 2016) Ideally, PE can provide instruction and experiences that influence youth to become physically active throughout their lives (Spencer-Cavaliere & Rintoul, 2012; Walseth et al., 2018). According to the US Department of Education (2011), PE should be accessible and provide appropriate equipment and options, a flexible curriculum, assessments that monitor progress and achievement fairly, and teachers should be adequately prepared to create a climate for all children to participate. Similarly, but slightly different, SHAPE America (n.d.) posits that PE should provide students with a "planned, sequential, K-12 standards-based program of curricula and instruction designed to develop motor skills, knowledge and behaviors for active living, physical fitness, sportsmanship, self-efficacy and emotional intelligence" (n.p.). However, individuals who are deemed *motor competent* or have *high ability* are often found to be more

valuable within a PE setting by teachers, despite the fact that PE should be beneficial for all (Lynch et al., 2020). As such, these prejudices often results in teachers who have ascribed to the medical model of teaching and do not see disabled students as capable learners (Haegele & Hodge, 2016), whereas there is often an expectation from teachers for students to perform movements in a normal way that leads to additional challenges (Ruin et al., 2021).

Normalization within PE spaces must be challenged, and opportunity and choice should be provided for disabled students to meaningfully participate in movement (Peers, 2018). Within the dilemma of teaching students, there is no agreement on the best way to teach (Gamoran et al., 2000), however, it is critical that PE teachers recognize their role in constructing environments that take into account the experiences and feelings of all students (Spencer-Cavaliere & Rintoul, 2012).

For disabled students, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (2004) provides a legal requirement for students to receive PE that can include services such as special physical education, adapted physical education, movement education, or motor development. The IDEA requires disabled students to receive physical education classes, which focus on "physical and motor fitness, fundamental motor skills and patterns, and skills in aquatics, dance, and individual and group games and sports (including intramural and lifetime sports)" (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act [IDEA], 2004). While mandated by law, these requirements may present teachers and administrators with challenges to providing adequate education opportunities to disabled students due to the overwhelming amount of responsibilities they are tasked with, a lack of preparedness in teaching disabled students, large class sizes, and limited equipment (Block & Obrusnikova, 2007; Lirgg et al., 2017). Overall, teachers express concerns about their teacher education programs' ability to provide adequate preparation for

accommodating disabled students within an integrated environment (Lirgg et al., 2017). Teachers have specifically expressed barriers in including blind and visually impaired students in PE due to the lack of professional preparation, equipment, curriculum, and time (Lieberman et al., 2002). To address these concerns, it is recommended for preservice physical educators to have more hands on experience with disabled students prior to becoming a certified teacher (Lirgg et al., 2017). It has also been suggested that involving students in the planning process can help increase meaningfulness for students within PE and create more opportunities for students to feel included (Spencer-Cavaliere & Rintoul, 2012; Walseth et al., 2018). Walseth et al. (2018) and Keene et al. (2023) assert that students want to participate and benefit from learning content in PE, however, they have generally not found much utility in the class. This desire highlights the need for the PE to consistently meet the guidelines posited by the United States Department of Education (2011) and SHAPE America (n.d.). Examining the meaningfulness students receive from PE has been limited, however, in a review by Beni et al. (2017) it was noted that social interactions, fun, challenges, motor competence, personally relevant learning, and competition overarchingly attributed to students meaningfulness within PE. In particular, both Martins et al. (2021) and Rodrigues et al. (2023) identified the integral role friends play in becoming and staying active. Additionally, Barkoukis et al. (2021) found that providing autonomy-supportive practices can increase students autonomous motivation within PE, and further increase motivation and intention of participating in leisure time physical activity outside of school (Barkoukis et al., 2021).

# Physical Education Experiences of Blind and Visually Impaired Youth

The integration of disabled youth in PE spaces with their non-disabled peers does not always take into account the integrity, autonomy, influence, or participation the individual will

experience and is not always the best option for the student (Goodwin & Howe, 2016). Within integrated classes, blind and visually impaired students often find they are not very active, and although they may be placed in an integrated class, they are often separated from their peers and excluded from participating, which can elicit feelings of embarrassment and discomfort (Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020; Miyauchi, 2020). Blind and visually impaired youth overwhelmingly report negative experiences in PE classes, which stem from a lack of adaptations (Bredahl, 2013), bullying (Ball et al., 2022), feelings of exclusion (Haegele & Zhu, 2017), and feeling like a burden (Holland et al., 2020). Overall, a common theme is that blind and visually impaired youth do not feel they belong, are not accepted, and are not valued within integrated PE classes (Haegele et al., 2022; Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020). This may stem from ableist perspectives, which results in blind and visually impaired individuals experiencing discrimination, oppression, stereotyping, and prejudice because of their vision level (Bogart & Dunn, 2019). In several instances, students have expressed that they did not believe they could participate meaningfully, and were viewed as a burden by peers (Haegele & Zhu, 2017) because of a lack of adaptations to be included with their peers, leading to feelings of exclusion (Coffey et al., 2020; Giese et al., 2021). It has been noted that limited instruction, different expectations, and a lack of autonomy may have contributed to many of these feelings (Holland et al., 2020). Blind and visually impaired children have also reported high quantities of bullying by both adults (teachers and paraeducators) and their peers in PE class, which can lead to negative feelings about PE and has caused some to withdraw (Ball et al., 2022). The attitude modeled by PE teachers may have indirectly caused youth to experience bullying from their peers (Ball et al., 2022). Overall, these negative experiences may lead to an apprehension to participate in physical activity as an adult (Miyauchi, 2020; Yessick & Haegele, 2019).

Teachers may be unaware of how to adapt the curriculum to include a blind or visually impaired student, pace the lesson appropriately, or be overprotective of the student because of their visual impairment (Lieberman & Houston-Wilson, 1999) despite an abundance of literature and resources that provide guidance for providing accommodations and modifications (Lieberman et al., 2019; Maher & Haegele, 2022; Stribing et al., 2019). Students should be involved in their education and asked about their needs, as suggested throughout the literature (Deschenes et al., 2001; Lieberman et al., 2006; Murris, 2013; Smyth, 2006; Smyth & McInerney, 2012). Consequently, many of the published guidelines for integrating blind and visually impaired youth often lack voice and input from blind and visually impaired individuals despite literature that encourages physical educators to do so (Eales & Goodwin, 2022; Keene et al., 2023; Maher & Haegele, 2022). Furthermore, decisions about participation should involve input from the student (Winnick, 1985) as it is essential for individuals to have autonomy over their bodies and are able to make personal decisions about physical activity (Eales & Goodwin, 2022). Keene et al. (2023) further this sentiment exposing the desire from blind and visually impaired students for their physical educators to communicate with them about their needs. As such, physical educators are charged with the task of facilitating safe, inclusive, and accessible physical activity (Eales & Goodwin, 2022). However, educators cannot determine if a student feels safe, included, or if modifications or adaptations are the most accessible for their needs without speaking to them. Goodwin and Rossow-Kimball (2012) contest that people may experience disability as a result of the actions, or lack of action, of professionals. Eales and Goodwin (2022) additionally argue that enforcing normative motor patterns or behaviors, while typically with good intentions, can result in a dangerous practice as it can remove autonomy and self-expression. Moving forward, we must reconceptualize how dominant perceptions,

performance measures, and other qualities are valued in physical education in order to redefine normative practices and ensure that practices are safe and accessible (Fitzgerald, 2005).

Physical education is often a missed opportunity for blind and visually impaired individuals to work on skills that may provide benefits for everyday life (Ruin et al., 2021) and create an autonomous relationship with physical activity (Giese & Ruin, 2018). These missed opportunities and negative experiences may lead to lower levels of physical activity in adulthood (Yessick & Haegele, 2019). However, and despite all of the negative experiences, many blind and visually impaired youth tend to prefer to be integrated with their peers in PE classes, and are optimistic positive changes could be made (Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020). Blind and visually impaired youth have expressed limited positive experiences, namely when their teachers have treated them as they do the other students in the class, and not as if they couldn't participate (Haegele & Zhu, 2017). In alignment with the findings from Keene et al. (2023), which highlighted the desires from blind and visually impaired students, it is critical to continue talking to students about their needs, which namely may include providing more utility within PE, encouraging communication between PE teachers and students, and ensuring the necessary accommodations are provided for students to successfully participate in activities.

# **Participatory Research**

Axiologically, we often overlook assumptions that may be critical to the work we aim to do (Peers, 2018). Within adapted physical education research, the assumption has been that we can conduct meaningful research *on* disabled individuals without doing it *with* them, which may not support or help disabled individuals (Peers, 2018; Smith et al., 2022). Researchers, as professionals, can control the narrative and ultimately have power over the subjects of their research, which can lead to professionals' feeling as if their decision making process in is best

Howe, 2016; Spencer & Molnár, 2022). This conflicts with the assertion that disabled people should be included in work about disabled people, as Charlton (1998) noted "nothing about us without us" (p. 3). It is imperative that non-disabled researchers, who make up a very large majority of the researchers within adapted physical education, value and include disabled people to honor their knowledge, truths, and opinions (Peers, 2018). Supporting this, Oliver (2002) suggested that "failing to give disabled people, through their own representative organizations, complete control over research resources and agendas inevitably positions disabled people as inferior to those who are in control" (p.2). As such, disabled individuals might have different opinions and perspectives than non-disabled researchers that typically conduct research (Adamson et al., 2022). Thus, we must be reflexive in our practices and be responsive to the needs of the individuals we claim to advocate for, to minimize the risk of becoming self-righteous (Goodwin & Rossow-Kimball, 2012) and attempt to involve, amplify, and listen to the disabled voices we aim to represent.

Less common, or perhaps less conventional, some novelty research methods, such as participatory research, may support disabled people within research more positively (Fitzgerald et al., 2021). Participatory research aims to interrupt normative research beliefs and utilize practices that are mindful and meaningful for the communities research aims to represent (Peers, 2018) by involving research partners in determining the research goals, conducting data collection, analyzing data, and other actions (Baum et al., 2006). Research partners are most often untrained in conducting academic research, but rather have life experiences that can contribute to a better understanding of the needs researchers aim to represent within research (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). This research methodology may help prioritize the possibility for

real-world impact by involving and engaging disabled individuals within the research as active partners and not as subjects (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). Of necessity, partners must be provided resources that support their involvement, such as participation accommodations, compensation for their time, and other resources that would be provided to professional researchers (Bergold & Thomas, 2012). Participatory research requires researchers to question and change routines and relationship dynamics to rethink and reimagine possibilities that support collaboration and new insights (Bergold & Thomas, 2012). Ultimately, the aim is to amplify the voices and views of the research partners to be shared in ways that benefit their needs, wants, and preferences (Bergold & Thomas, 2012). Utilizing participatory research may help amplify the voices of disabled individuals, and allow them to contribute to curriculum and pedagogical development within PE, in order to be more attentive and proactive to their needs, and facilitate more meaningful experiences (Cook-Sather, 2002; Spencer-Cavaliere & Rintoul, 2012; Walseth et al., 2018). This can be critical to ensure understanding, respect, and meeting the needs of disabled students occurs (Peña et al., 2016).

## **Participatory Research in Adapted Physical Education**

According to Spencer and Molnár (2022), very limited research has been conducted within adapted physical activity (APA), and more specifically adapted physical education (APE), that include disabled people other than as a participant. This is of concern due to the lack of reflection of ways in which disabled people have and continue to be marginalized both in society and through research (Spencer & Molnár, 2022). Professional researchers hold power to disseminate, publish, and articulate information in which they find meaning, often failing to inquire and work with the stakeholders they aim to represent to check if the information is of meaning or worse, oppressive, to such individuals (Peers, 2018). As such, this section will

highlight the single study, to the author's knowledge, that has positioned disabled individuals as knowledgeable and valuable within PE, through their inclusion as more than a participant.

Anderson et al. (2019) used a participatory framework to explore the elements of physical health through the lens of visually impaired youth. They recruited and trained 21 visually impaired youth in Australia to respond to research questions by taking photographs and supplementing them with sound environment recordings and/or reflections (Anderson et al., 2019). The researcher thematically analyzed the data and then held a focus group with 11 of the youth to discuss the findings for feedback and verification. Anderson et al. (2019) reported four subthemes that were found between the members of the group after group consensus. These subthemes included "bodily health and fitness; energy; relaxation, and physical activity" (Anderson et al., 2019, p. 3). As such participants within this study valued the capabilities of their physical body, noted effects of their subjective energy levels, enjoyed activities they found relaxation in, and saw the importance of regular physical activity (Anderson et al., 2019).

Participatory research can work within communities and groups of individuals to empower and change the narrative (Spencer & Molnár, 2022). The goal of utilizing this method, within this study, was to co-construct resources and recommendations that may be beneficial to improving the experience blind students in PE class and subsequently enhancing their relationship with physical activity into adulthood. To my knowledge, this type of research has not been done within the physical education or adapted physical education field.

#### **Chapter Summary**

Participating in physical activity can be beneficial for both youth and adults to limit the possibility of disease (Zhao et al., 2020), improve mental health symptoms and disorders (Zhu et al., 2019), and improve overall quality of life (Eddolls et al., 2018). To access these benefits,

youth should attempt to be moderately to vigorously active for 60 minutes per day, while adults should aim for 150 minutes per week (United States Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). However, many blind and visually impaired individuals are not meeting these guidelines (Hou et al., 2023; Ross et al., 2022) which may be due to societal or personal barriers (Greguol et al., 2015; Jaarsma et al., 2014; Kirk et al., 2021).

Physical education is legally required to be provided to all disabled students (IDEA, 2004) and should influence youth to participate in physical activity throughout their lives (Walseth et al., 2018). Despite the legal requirement and national guidelines (SHAPE America, n.d.), many blind and visually impaired youth report experiences in PE that do not accommodate for their needs (Bredahl, 2013), exclude them from participation (Haegele & Zhu, 2017), and do not elicit feelings of belonging, acceptance, or value (Haegele et al., 2022). These missed opportunities for blind and visually impaired youth to participate in and foster a positive relationship with physical activity may lead to lower physical activity levels in adulthood (Yessick & Haegele, 2019). Of note, pedagogical strategies for teaching blind and visually impaired youth have been created without the guidance from blind and visually impaired individuals (Maher & Haegele, 2022).

In an attempt to better reflect the needs and wants of blind youth in PE, participatory research can be employed to involve individuals as more than a participant (Spencer & Molnár, 2022). Participatory research aims to involve individuals throughout the research process and position them as valuable and knowledgeable, which may contribute to a better understanding of their needs (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). Within PE research, only one study has positioned disabled individuals as more than a participant to better understand the lived experiences of visually impaired youth in PE. Anderson et al. (2019) noted that visually impaired youth found

value in physical activity, fitness, relaxation, and energy. Moving forward it is critical to work with disabled individuals, using participatory frameworks, to better understand how PE experiences can be improved for disabled students.

#### **CHAPTER III: RESEARCH METHODS**

Participatory research, a qualitative research approach, was employed for the partners to co-construct resources and recommendations about improving PE from the perspective of blind individuals. Participatory research engages and collaborates with research partners to represent their interests and maximize the impact research can have (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). This method works to empower those who are typically marginalized and increase control over their lives by authentically looking into their lived experiences, thoughts, insights, and interpretations (Baum et al., 2006; Eckhoff, 2019). Participatory research is designed to represent the interests of those who the research aims to benefit by attempting to equitably engage said individuals in the research and decision-making processes, but who are not necessarily trained in research (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). Therefore, partners were involved in co-constructing a product, analyzing data, and other actions (Baum et al., 2006).

Under the assumptions of an interpretivist paradigm, participatory research constructs knowledge from the perspective of the partner, instead of collecting it from passive partners (Eckhoff, 2019). The research process challenged partners to think critically regarding their experiences, beliefs, feelings, emotions, wants, and needs to produce a final product that represents the opinions of the blind individuals involved in the study. Participatory research allows for the familiar routines, processes, and power structures of traditional qualitative research to take a backseat in order to rethink and question fundamental and established procedures (Bergold & Thomas, 2012). The partners moved beyond traditional power structures to propose environments, methodologies, and modifications that may be beneficial to students and teachers, disabled and non-disabled individuals, alike. However, this process was very demanding, required patience and time, and blended science and practice to help individuals

understand one another (Bergold & Thomas, 2012). This research project aimed to mitigate poor tokenistic participatory practices that have been noted in other fields through review and reflection of such outcomes (Smith et al., 2022).

Lastly, this research incorporated dialectical thinking, in an attempt to seek out the perspectives of the ways in which society, and namely PE, has marginalized disabled people (Freeman, 2017). It has been suggested to use dialectical thinking when working with partners throughout the research process, which lends itself to pair well with participatory research (Freeman, 2017). Dialectical thinking brings together different and opposing forces to form new ideas, however, is not without its challenges (Freeman, 2017). Capturing each individuals' transformative capacities is critical but researchers should be careful not to impose a particular outcome (Freeman, 2017). The balance of combining dialectical thinking and participatory research is delicate and was monitored closely throughout the research process.

# **Positionality & Reflexivity**

As a researcher who identifies as non-disabled, I attempted to be reflexive in my practice to avoid positioning myself as virtuously ethical, and minimize the impact and perspective my own biases may have been portrayed (Goodwin & Howe, 2016). I am aware that my lived experiences and assumptions may be different than the partners and participants, and thus aimed to listen to the partners within this project to lead and guide the research from their experiences (Adamson et al., 2022). I identify as a cisgender White woman who has an interest in improving the PE experiences of blind and visually impaired youth. I have a master's degree in adapted physical activity and three years of professional teaching experience at a public school. Given the nature of my background and the proposal for this research project, I made every attempt to remain as a facilitator of the project and allowed the partners to guide the process. However, it is

critical to note that interaction took place between myself as the researcher, and partners; I attempted to remain reflexive about all interactions and noted them within the findings.

As posited by Fitzgerald et al. (2021) it is integral to this research process for the researcher to examine the questions 'What does it mean to be 'included' in research? In what ways can 'participation' be considered? What does it mean to be 'empowered' within and through research?' (p.424). I acknowledge the critical aspect of examining my own thoughts and ideas surrounding inclusion and attempted to maintain an understanding of the multifaceted nature it can entail, allowing the partners to define what being included in this process meant to them (Fitzgerald et al., 2021).

# **Preliminary Study**

A preliminary study for this project included individual one-on-one interviews with each partner that used an interpretive phenomenological lens which inquired about their experiences within high school health and PE class(es), transition services, and their opinions on improving PE for blind students. Each partner had the option to opt in or out of this research study. The results from the preliminary study were used to help guide the discussions and decisions for providing the co-constructed resources and recommendations to teachers. Overall, the participants' PE experiences were negative and did not foster enjoyment or desire to participate in physical activity. The participants felt as though they were seen as incapable, noting that they were not able to make decisions regarding their preferences. All of the participants expressed that general PE and transition services were inadequate and they were not permitted access to PE in the way that their non-disabled peers were. For most, that meant not being allowed to take the class and for one individual, who was enrolled in general PE, not being provided accommodations to be able to participate successfully and safely with their peers. However, one

participant found value within PE at a school for the blind, noting that their experience proved her capabilities and contributed to her participation in physical activity into adulthood. For the others, most of the value they now attribute to their physical activity participation was intrinsic, self-directed, or supported by others in their lives, such as an adapted PE teacher, friends, or family members. Additionally, most of the participants were not provided transition services that took into account their interests and preferences for community experiences or post school living objectives in relation to physical activity. However, and despite the negative experiences, many of the participants expressed finding enjoyment in participating in physical activity despite their negative PE experiences and nonexistent transition services related to physical activity.

# **Partners and Participants**

This study included two groups of individuals who took part in the study: research partners and research participants. The subsections below describe each of these groups.

# **Partners**

Research partners for the first study included those that were previously recruited for a preliminary study that inquired about their phenomenological experiences in high school PE and with transition services. Inclusionary criteria for study partners included adults between the ages of 18 and 22 who self-identified as blind (B1 – No light perception in either eye or some light perception with an inability to recognize the shape of a hand at any distance or in any direction) (United States Association of Blind Athletes, n.d.) and had no additional disabilities. The partners must have attended and graduated high school in the United States. They must also have had access to a computer to be able to join interviews, focus groups, and complete other methods of data collection via Zoom. At the time of the preliminary study, research partners were informed about this study and all expressed interest in also being part of this study. As this study

utilizes a participatory methodology, all study partners were required to further agree to participate throughout each phase of this project, while maintaining autonomy to withdraw at any point in time, for any reason. Study protocols were approved by the researcher's university.

Partners who agreed to participate in the first research study included four young adults: Andrew, a 19-year-old White man, Nina, a 22-year-old White woman, Marie, an 18-year-old Hispanic woman, and Julia, an 18-year-old White woman. Andrew and Nina attended public schools in the Northeast, Julia attended a private school in the Midwest, and Marie attended a public school, school for the blind, and a credit recovery school in the West. Andrew and Marie's blindness was acquired, while Julia and Nina's were congenital; all of these individuals reported having B1 vision currently and when enrolled in high school.

# **Focus Group Participants**

Physical educators were required to act as participants for the second study because they are the target recipient and user of the co-constructed resources and recommendations. Focus group research participants were recruited using an email database list of PE teachers throughout the United States. Potential participants were sent an inquiry email that included the requirements (a) self-identify as a high school PE teacher in the U.S. (b) are between the ages of 18-89, incentive information, and a Google link that included the consent form to opt into the study. Within the second study, focus group participants included nine high school PE teachers from Alabama, Illinois, Massachusetts, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Virginia. They ranged from 26 to 58 years old and had from two to 30 years of teaching experience. There were four women, four men, and one non-binary individual who all identified as White.

# **Data Collection and Fieldwork Strategies**

This dissertation study was part of a multi-stage project. The research group aimed to complete each stage within a specific timeframe, as the partners were able to commit to meetings, while keeping in mind that the needs, lives, and preferences of the partners was the priority. Stage one was composed of four meetings and had two aims. The first aim was to understand the needs of the partners to successfully engage in the project, and the second was to learn about the partners experiences and opinions for improving PE for future generations (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). Stage two involved constructing resources and recommendations to provide to PE teachers to help improve PE for blind youth. All meeting sessions were conducted via Zoom for convenience purposes, as the participants were located in various locations around the U.S. Within each of these stages, according to the Institute of Development Studies (n.d.), the facilitator was careful to avoid facipulation. Facipulation can happen when a facilitator manipulates the conversation in ways that force a set agenda or they may steer conversations in a particular direction because of preconceived opinions or feelings (Institute of Development Studies, n.d.). As such, the facilitator aimed to let the research partners guide meetings and times as they saw fit.

Within this project, a product was developed to provide resources and recommendations to disseminate to PE teachers. Throughout stage one and stage two the facilitator and partners discussed, shared, and examined how PE can be improved for blind students through various resources and recommendations. Both pedagogical strategies and curriculum content were discussed and incorporated into the final product. Pedagogical strategies encompassed how the partners wish they had been taught in PE to be more physically active into adulthood, which includes the knowledge of how to do physical activity in various spaces. Curriculum content

suggestions were also created regarding what concepts the partners found beneficial or wish they had learned to aid in their physical activity participation as adults. For instance, this included program design and nutrition information. Additional information was also provided, such as resources for purchasing equipment, and is detailed below.

# **Stage One**

The purpose of stage one was to understand and learn about the needs of the partners to engage in the project, and secondly to learn about their experiences and opinions for improving PE for future blind students (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). Aligning with Vaughn and Jacques (2020), this study first employed partners to identify their goals of the research process, their needs within and for the project, and then the needs of the research in order to achieve the desired result of the project. It was fundamental to this research that roles and expectations were established first, in order to set a precedence that all voices should be respectfully listened to (Smith et al., 2022). After identifying roles and expectations, the following prompt was initiated:

this research is designed to learn about your PE experiences and how your experiences and opinions can help improve PE for future generations. Why don't we have each person share with the group a little bit about yourself and a quick synopsis of the experiences you had in high school PE that you recounted in the preliminary study.

Dialogue between partners can be helpful for understanding different viewpoints and for partners to get to know each other (Smith et al., 2022). Partners were then invited to share any thoughts or concerns regarding the project, and partners were asked to self-reflect about the meeting and contemplate how they would like to proceed with the project to create suggestions for PE teachers to teach blind students in ways that may be more beneficial and result in more positive experiences.

The second group meeting was semi-structured and used discussion prompts to initiate conversation within the group and attempt to minimize interaction with the facilitator. Some examples of discussion prompts for the session included:

- 1. After to listening to each person's recount of their experience, reviewing the findings from part one, and reflecting on the first meeting, has anyone identified common themes or patterns among the group that you would be willing to share?
- 2. Within these themes or patterns does anyone have any immediate recommendations they feel might be beneficial for PE teachers to improve PE for blind students today?
- 3. What skills or content knowledge do you wish you had learned that may have aided in your physical activity participation from youth to adulthood?

After the group meeting, partners were asked to self-reflect about the discussion and contemplate how they would like to proceed with the project. The facilitator encouraged partners to be reflexive throughout the project regarding the cohesiveness of the group, how they responded to differing views, power, assumptions, and experiences that influenced the research (Smith et al., 2022). The facilitator provided space for the partners to request individual meetings with the facilitator, if the partner wanted to ask additional questions based on information the individual shared, or wanted to share any thoughts or concerns they were not comfortable sharing with the whole group. One partner requested an individual meeting. The researcher also inquired about additional thoughts, feelings, concerns, or other comments that occurred during the group meetings.

The group Then reconvened to discuss the synthesis of information gathered from the group and individual interviews by the facilitator and developed themes based on the data. The

researcher explained how themes were constructed using questions developed by Boeije (2002) such as:

Which codes are used to label the categories in this particular interview? What is the core message of this interview? How are all the fragments related? What are the similarities and differences between interviews? Which themes appear in one group but not in the other group and vice versa? (pp. 397-398)

The researcher presented all of the information to the group to receive feedback regarding the next steps and about the accuracy of the interpretation of the themes. The group then used the themes, concepts, and notable findings from the group and individual interviews to decide on the next step of the process. The facilitator also explained and educated partners about additional method options for conducting and continuing with the participatory research: focus groups, interviews, personal logs, or questionnaires (MacDonald, 2012). As seen in the participatory research by Anderson et al. (2019) partners could choose to enter and exit the process throughout the study at their discretion. Redefining roles was discussed, such as who would facilitate the remaining meetings, however, the group decided that the researcher would remain the facilitator as to not have the partners responsible for additional work outside of the meeting times (Pain et al., 2011).

# **Stage Two**

Based on the group's decision(s) in stage one, the research continued moving forward with constructing recommendations and resources to provide to PE teachers to improve PE for blind youth. This was the purpose and focus of stage two. Improvement was subjective based on the research partners perspectives with the aim to increase enjoyment in PE and physical activity participation in blind youth and into adulthood. Partners decided how and what was created to

disseminate to PE teachers that provided resources and recommendations for teaching blind students. Involvement from the partners was as detailed or minimal as they saw fit. The research partners, in conjunction with the facilitator, determined that the product would be a website that was accessible for teachers, students, and parents to be able to access, that included website links, written suggestions, and more. The co-constructed content included a *Dear Teacher* section that detailed how teachers can be mindful of their attitudes, behaviors, and beliefs, teaching strategies, and curriculum that would be most beneficial for blind students. The second section created was a *Resource* section that detailed some accessible fitness opportunities, such as YouTube channels, organizations, and apps, information about adaptive techniques, equipment, and funding, and lastly information regarding advocacy.

# **Data Analysis**

The data analysis for manuscript one entailed [Author 1] transcribing and reflecting upon the conversations that occurred. Throughout the research process [Author 1] used a constant-comparative technique in order to consistently compare and reflect on the data presented (Boeije, 2002). Doing so allowed for the possibility of answering questions that had been previously posed and aided in the discovery of relationships between categories (Boeije, 2002). Additionally, this technique required the group to keep track of all ideas, which increased the probability of creating a product that is clear, close to the data, and could be well integrated and operationalized for use by PE teachers (Glaser, 1965). Within the constant-comparative analysis, [Author 1] constructed three themes that highlighted both the opinions and desires of the research partners, as well as the content of the resources and recommendations: *Awareness*, *Accessibility*, and *Generalizability that Fosters Individuality*. The first theme, *Awareness*, described instances where the partners reflected about a need to be more aware of resources as a

high school student, wanting to promote awareness of resources for future blind students and their teachers, and wanting to construct recommendations that brought about awareness to PE teachers of perspectives of being a blind student in PE class. The second theme, *Accessibility*, described the importance of the constructed online resource being useable and beneficial for both teachers and students, as well as the importance of accessibility for blind students to access and share materials. Lastly, *Generalizability that fosters Individuality* described the need to create resources and recommendations that could be used by a wide variety of individual preferences.

For manuscript two, each of the interviews were recorded and then transcribed by [Author 1]. Reflexive thematic analysis was then used to analyze the data, based on recommendations by Braun and Clarke (2022). [Author 1] acted as a lead analyst. She began the analysis by listening to, reading, and rereading each of the interviews, familiarizing herself with the data, and critically engaging with the information presented to her by each of the participants (Braun & Clarke, 2022). Next, she coded the data set using both semantic and latent codes which led to the generation of initial themes (Braun & Clarke, 2022). At this stage, [Author 1] shared initial themes with [Author X], who provided probing and exploratory questions to help stimulate [Author 1]'s thinking regarding the thematic development. Following, [Author 1] revisited the data to review the potential themes, the relationship between the potential themes, and how they are situated within the context of the research project (Braun & Clarke, 2022). As reflexive thematic analysis is not a linear process, there were several times [Author 1] returned to the dataset to review the themes, and discussed potential themes with [Author X], as she moved forward refining, defining, and naming the themes, and writing up the analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2022). Lastly, final themes were identified and described by [Author 1], drafted using exemplary quotes from participants, and presented as findings.

# **CHAPTER IV: STUDY MANUSCRIPTS**

# **Manuscript 1:**

# Lessons Learned using Participatory Research to Develop Physical Education Resources and Recommendations for Blind Students

(Formatted for Submission to Journal of Participatory Research Methods – 8,000 words)

#### Abstract

Using a participatory research methodology, the purpose of this manuscript was to describe the experiences of co-constructing resources and recommendations for PE teachers, with blind individuals as research partners, aimed to enhance PE for blind students. Four blind young adults served as research partners within the project. The project meetings consisted of 15 meetings over 19 weeks and two stages, and took place entirely on Zoom. Stage one consisted of four meetings and focused on exploring the needs of the partners and their experiences and opinions for improving PE for future blind students. Stage two consisted of 11 meetings and focused on constructing resources and recommendations to provide to PE teachers. A constant-comparative technique was used throughout to analyze all meeting transcriptions to help compare, keep track of, and reflect on all ideas. Four themes were constructed based on the analysis: *Awareness, Accessibility,* and *Generalizability that fosters Individuality.* We conclude this manuscript by disclosing the challenges, successes, and messiness of this project. Moving forward, we encourage researchers to continue to conduct research that involves disabled individuals as knowers, and in mindful and meaningful ways, to respect their needs.

**Keywords**: Participatory Research, Blind Students, Physical Education, Adapted Physical Education, Critical Disability Studies

# **Background**

Physical activity has been shown to have numerous physiological, psychological, social, and cognitive benefits. For example, studies have identified that individuals who engage in recommended amounts of physical activity may decrease their risk for cancer, type two diabetes, cardiovascular disease (Zhao et al., 2020), osteoporosis (Ferrer et al., 2022), and obesity (Ahmadi et al., 2023), while also reducing the likelihood of mental health disorders such as anxiety (Xiaoliang & Huaping, 2022; Zhu et al., 2019), depression (D'Angelantonio et al., 2022; Zhu et al., 2019), and schizophrenia (García-Garcés et al., 2021). To access these positive benefits, the United States Department of Health and Human Services (2018) recommends for youth to be physically active for 60 minutes per day. Despite these benefits, research shows that a high percentage of blind and visually impaired youth are not meeting physical activity guidelines (Hou et al., 2023), and therefore may not enjoy these health-enhancing benefits. A host of barriers have been identified by blind and visually impaired youth that may influence their ability to engage in recommended amounts of physical activity, including a lack of transportation, accessibility, dependance on and support from others, and a variety of personal barriers (Greguol et al., 2015; Gür et al., 2020).

Physical education (PE) is a class youth participate in throughout their K-12 education that is intended to provide instruction and experiences that promote physical literacy and lifetime physical activity participation (Spencer-Cavaliere & Rintoul, 2012; Walseth et al., 2018). As such, PE is a context that may help promote movement for youth during the school day, and provide education for individuals to understand the importance of and skills to lead a physically active lives outside of the school context (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022; Colabianchi et al., 2016). However, and unfortunately, an overwhelming amount of research has

shown that blind and visually impaired students tend to not be able to access PE in equitable ways compared to their non-disabled peers (Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020; Miyauchi, 2020). That is, blind and visually impaired youth have reported a lack of adaptations (Bredahl, 2013), instances of bullying (Ball et al., 2022), feelings of exclusion (Haegele & Zhu, 2017), and feeling like a burden (Holland et al., 2020) with respect to their PE experiences. These elements have resulted in blind and visually impaired youth feeling like they don't belong, are not accepted, and are not valued within integrated PE classes (Haegele et al., 2022; Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020). It has also been noted that limited instruction, different expectations, and a lack of autonomy may contribute to negative feelings toward and perceptions of PE (Holland et al., 2020). Negative experiences within PE, like these, may lead to an apprehension for blind and visually impaired youth to participate in physical activity outside of schools and into adulthood (Miyauchi, 2020; Yessick & Haegele, 2019). Finding ways to enhance the PE experience for blind and visually impaired youth may help create more enjoyable PE experiences, which may help contribute to their understanding of themselves as being capable of being physically active individuals.

Currently, there are a number of limitations with current strategies suggested to help enhance PE for blind and visually impaired youth. For example, most strategies to teach blind and visually impaired youth have been constructed from the perspective of non-disabled individuals (Eales & Goodwin, 2022) and lack input from blind and visually impaired individuals themselves (Keene et al., 2023; Maher & Haegele, 2022). Further, most research within adapted physical activity and adapted PE has been dominated by scholarship that fails to take into account the perspectives of the individuals researchers aim to represent (Spencer & Molnár, 2022). Thus, little is known about blind and visually impaired individuals' perspectives

and opinions on strategies that may promote positive PE experiences (Keene et al., 2023; Peers, 2018). Finally, most explicated instructional strategies make blanket recommendations for all visually impaired individuals, and therefore there is a lack of specific recommendations for blind (B1) individuals within PE (Ruin et al., 2021).

While still an emerging research method in adapted PE research, participatory research may help support disabled people within research more positively and provide a better understanding of the issues surrounding disabled individuals needs and interests (Fitzgerald et al., 2021). Participatory research aims to interrupt normative research beliefs and utilize practices that are mindful and meaningful for the community's research aims to represent (Peers, 2018) by involving research partners in determining the research goals, conducting data collection, analyzing data, and other actions (Baum et al., 2006). This involves working with individuals as active research partners within the research process and aims to provide agency through collaboration (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). Research partners are most often untrained in conducting academic research, but rather have life experiences that can contribute to a better understanding of the needs researchers aim to represent within research (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). As such, individuals who are part of this research project are referred to as partners as opposed to participants, posited by Smith et al (2022), as this is a better reflection of their role within the research. This research methodology may help prioritize the possibility for real-world impact by involving and engaging disabled individuals within the research as active partners and not as subjects (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). Ultimately, the aim was to amplify the voices and views of the research partners to be shared in ways that benefit their needs, wants, and preferences (Bergold & Thomas, 2012).

In this study, we employed participatory research to help amplify the voices of blind individuals, and involve them in contributing to resources and recommendations provided to PE teachers, in order to be more attentive and proactive to their needs, and facilitate more meaningful experiences (Cook-Sather, 2002; Spencer-Cavaliere & Rintoul, 2012; Walseth et al., 2018). We found this to be critical to helping better understand, respect, and meet the needs of disabled students in PE classes (Peña et al., 2016). With that, the purpose of this manuscript was to describe the experiences of co-constructing resources and recommendations for PE Teachers, with blind individuals as research partners, aimed to enhance PE for blind students.

#### **Methods**

This study was rooted in a participatory research approach, a qualitative research approach that supports the participation of research partners to co-construct resources and recommendations to help enhance PE for blind students. Research partners were involved in conducting data collection, analyzing data, and constructing a product to disseminate to PE teachers and other invested parties (Baum et al., 2006). Under the assumption of an interpretivist paradigm, this participatory research project aimed to construct knowledge from the perspective of the partners, instead of collecting it from passive participants (Eckhoff, 2019). The partners moved beyond traditional research power structures to make decisions within the research process, propose recommendations, resources, and ideas that may be beneficial to students and teachers, disabled and non-disabled, alike. This process was demanding, required patience and time, and blended science and practice to help individuals understand one another (Bergold & Thomas, 2012).

# **Positionality & Reflexivity**

As a researcher who identifies as non-disabled, [Author 1] aimed to be reflexive in their practice to avoid positioning themselves as virtuously ethical, and minimize the impact and perspective their own biases may have portrayed (Goodwin & Howe, 2016). [Author 1] was aware that their lived experiences and assumptions may be different than the partners, and thus aimed to listen to the partners within this project to facilitate the research from their experiences and opinions (Adamson et al., 2022). [Author 1] identifies as a cisgender White woman who has an interest in improving the PE experiences of blind and visually impaired youth. They have a master's degree in adapted physical activity and three years of experience teaching at a public school. Given the nature of their background and the proposal for this research project, [Author 1] made every attempt to remain as a facilitator of the project and allow the partners to guide the process.

# **Partners**

Blind individuals can provide unique, valuable perspectives on the world. As such, the willingness of the research partners to contribute to this project was invaluable as the research could not have been completed without their knowledge, perspective, time, and efforts (Wendell, 2001). Research partners for this study were recruited via email using prior contacts, blindness and low vision databases, and various adapted sports organizations throughout the US. The email invitations detailed the purpose of the study, incentive structure (i.e., participants received a \$25 gift card at the completion of each meeting), and data collection procedures. Requirements for this study included partners to have (a) self-identified as blind (B1 – i.e., no light perception in either eye or some light perception with an inability to recognize the shape of a hand at any distance or in any direction) (United States Association of Blind Athletes, n.d.), (b) no additional

disabilities, (c) attended and graduated from high school in the US, and (d) been between the ages of 18-22 at the time of recruitment. Partners must also have had access to a computer to be able to join interviews via Zoom and to complete any digitized information. As this study utilized a participatory methodology, partners agreed to participate throughout each stage of this project while maintaining autonomy to withdraw at any point in time, for any reason. An accessible google form was used for partners to consent to participate in the study electronically. Participants also completed demographic information on this form, by reporting their age, gender, race/ethnicity, if their blindness was congenital or acquired, and what their vision level was while in high school and is currently. The questionnaire also asked potential partners to answer the following open-ended questions: 'What year did you graduate from high school?', 'In which state did you attend high school?', 'Please describe your high school (approximately how many students, rural/suburban/urban, zoned school, vocational school, etc.)', and 'Can you please describe your high school physical education placement?' Partners who participated in the entire project were given the option to disclose their names, providing autonomy to acknowledge their role within the project, or be presented through a pseudonym. Andrew, Julia, and Nina each elected to disclose their actual names in the manuscript, whereas Marie is represented through a pseudonym. The protocol was approved by the College Human Subjects Committee at the researcher's university.

#### Andrew

Andrew identifies as a 19-year-old White man, whose blindness (B1) was acquired prior to high school. He graduated from a public New York high school in 2021 and described his high school as being 'very small'. According to Andrew, the entire school, kindergarten through 12<sup>th</sup>

grade, included approximately 500 kids; his graduating class was composed of approximately 35 students. In high school, he was in an integrated general education PE class.

#### Julia

Julia identifies as an 18-year-old White woman whose blindness (B1) was congenital. She attended a private high school with about 800 students, in the middle of a mid-sized city in Michigan. Julia graduated from high school in 2022 and was exempt from PE requirements during high school. Julia participated in PE throughout elementary and middle school.

#### Nina

Nina identifies as a 22-year-old White woman whose blindness (B1) was congenital. She attended a suburban high school in New York with approximately 1200 students. She graduated from high school in 2018 and was in an adapted PE class.

#### Marie

Marie identifies as an 18-year-old Hispanic woman whose blindness (B1) was acquired. Marie went to three different high schools in the western US. The first one was a public school with over 2000 students. Following, she attended a school for the blind, and lastly graduated from a credit recovery school that had a class of about 150 students. Marie participated in stage one of the project and is a pseudonym for confidentiality purposes.

# **Procedure**

This project took place entirely on Zoom, as it was convenient with all partners being located in different geographic regions. Meetings were scheduled based on the availability of each of the research group members. All meetings began with a statement that reiterated the researcher's appreciation for the partners commitment to the project, reminded partners to

respect the privacy of others in the group, and their autonomy to withdraw or refrain from participating in any aspects of the project they did not wish to be part of.

This study was composed of two stages of meetings. Stage one was composed of four meetings and had two aims. The first aim was to understand the needs of the partners to successfully engage in the project, and the second was to learn about the partners experiences and opinions for improving PE for future generations (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). Stage two involved constructing resources and recommendations to provide to PE teachers to help enhance PE for blind youth. Within each of these stages, and according to the Institute of Development Studies (n.d.), the facilitator was careful to avoid facipulation. Facipulation can happen when a facilitator manipulates the conversation in ways that force a set agenda or steers conversations in a particular direction because of preconceived opinions or feelings (Institute of Development Studies, n.d.). As such, the facilitator aimed to let the research partners guide meetings and times as they saw fit.

Meetings began in October of 2023 and concluded in February of 2024. When the project began, the research group planned to meet each week. However, due to scheduling conflicts and other responsibilities, the weekly schedule was deemed to be unreasonable to maintain, and therefore, some weeks were skipped to reflect the availability of all participating individuals. Meetings ranged in time from 39 minutes to 78 minutes, and most often concluded when partners had other obligations to attend to or expressed fatigue.

# **Data Analysis**

After each meeting, [Author 1] transcribed and reflected upon the conversations that occurred. Throughout the research process [Author 1] used a constant-comparative technique in order to consistently compare and reflect on the data presented (Boeije, 2002). Doing so allowed

for the possibility of answering questions that had been previously posed and aided in the discovery of relationships between categories (Boeije, 2002). Additionally, this technique required the group to keep track of all ideas, which increased the probability of creating a product that is clear, close to the data, and could be well integrated and operationalized for use by PE teachers (Glaser, 1965). Within the constant-comparative analysis, [Author 1] constructed three themes that highlighted both the opinions and desires of the research partners, as well as the content of the resources and recommendations: Awareness, Accessibility, and Generalizability that Fosters Individuality. The first theme, Awareness, described instances where the partners reflected about a desire to be more aware of resources as a high school student, wanting to promote awareness of resources for future blind students and their teachers, and wanting to construct recommendations that brought about awareness to PE teachers of perspectives of being a blind student in PE class. The second theme, Accessibility, described the importance of the constructed online resource being useable and beneficial for both teachers and students, as well as the importance of accessibility for blind students to access and share materials. Lastly, Generalizability that fosters Individuality described the need to create resources and recommendations that could be used by a wide variety of individual preferences. These themes are embedded and exemplified throughout the subsequent meetings section and discussed further in the reflection section.

# **Meetings**

In an attempt to discuss the variable, confusing, and unclear situations that arose when undertaking this research project and method, we elaborate on such situations to provide clarity to future researchers as suggested by Fitzgerald et al. (2021). This includes direct quotes from research partners that highlight how and why some decisions were made throughout the process,

in an attempt to minimize participants feeling misrepresented, alienated, or betrayed (Peers et al., 2014). Stage one is presented below in a chronological order which reflects the various tasks completed in each of the meetings. Due to the messy nature of stage two, which is not uncommon to participatory research (Fitzgerald et al., 2021), this stage is described in a task-based manner.

# **Stage One**

The first meeting began with [Author 1] providing space for the partners to introduce themselves and share about their personal experiences. [Author 1] read the following prompt:

This research is designed to learn about your PE experiences and how your experiences and opinions can help improve PE for future generations. Why don't we have each person share with the group a little bit about yourself and a quick synopsis of the experiences you had in high school PE that you recounted in the first interview with me.

After each partner shared their experiences, [Author 1] shared their findings from a recent study exploring high school PE experiences among blind people (citation anonymized), which included three categories of information: meaningful recollections, what teachers could have done better, and what they wish they had learned. [Author 1] then asked about their thoughts after listening to each person and the findings from the prior study. The second half of the meeting provided space for the group to discuss roles, needs and concerns, schedule the next meeting, and encouraged partners to reflect on the meeting after it concluded. Partners determined that they wanted the resource to be a framework for teachers, not a prescription, and it was important for this resource to be made easily available and accessible to both teachers and students, centering blind individual's voices, highlighting *accessibility* and a tool that could be *generalizable but foster individuality*. At the end of the meeting, and throughout subsequent meetings, [Author 1] let the

partners know that they could contact her via email or phone if they wanted to discuss anything privately or wanted additional support.

Meeting two revisited key points from the partners' prior experiences, and then inquired about their thoughts or recommendations that might be beneficial to provide to PE teachers, skills or knowledge they wished they had learned to promote physical activity as they transitioned into adulthood, ideas for the construction of a product, and their thoughts about the next steps. The research partners were vocal that "it'd be really cool to do something online for the simple fact that then anybody could access it, and that is a really powerful tool" (Nina), noting the importance of *accessibility*. Julia furthered that statement, acknowledging Nina's thoughts:

I think having something that students can also find, might be really useful. And not all of the sections will be relevant to students, but having a space where students can have access to a compilation of this is what I could advocate for, if I so desire.

Julia furthered the conversation of creating an accessible product that included resources that would promote *awareness* and *individuality*. After collectively agreeing to create a product that would be housed online, it had been noted that "maybe, since we have a few sessions and stuff together, I think maybe dividing them [key points] up into topics and kind of trying to tackle one topic at a time might be really helpful" (Nina), who furthermore expressed:

I think talking about resources might be a good place to start because we all have different knowledge of them. I think that that could inform future discussions on techniques and different things available.

From this point, the group decided to discuss resources they knew about or had previously used and found helpful. Discussion took shape about organizations, adaptive

equipment, self-advocacy, funding, and adaptations. At times [Author 1] interjected to pose questions, such as "would you want to be part of that game with all of the other students who are sighted?", or "have you read through that?" in reference to a book recommendation, as the group moved through voicing their opinions and experiences regarding different resources.

After analyzing the data from meeting one and two, [Author 1] concluded that it was necessary to ask more in-depth questions to each of the partners to gain more clarification and insight regarding their individual opinions. Therefore, [Author 1] structured the next meeting to inquire about the partners opinions on what they enjoyed within their PE experiences, their opinions regarding how PE could have been a more positive experience, any beneficial resources that were accessed while they were a high school student, and how they thought we could account for individual preferences within the group. Unique to other meetings, this meeting was heavily led by [Author 1], while partners answered questions regarding their opinions and experiences. This helped facilitate partner reflections on a broader range of topics and provided space for each partner to listen to the experiences and opinions of the other partners with specific regard to this line of questions and thinking. Prior to meeting four, Marie asked to further discuss the project in an individual meeting with [Author 1], inquiring about the pace of the project, her role, and her opinions on the discussion points up to this point in the project. After the conclusion of the aforementioned meetings, [Author 1] analyzed the data from the first three meetings, and discussed it with the group during the fourth meeting.

At the beginning of meeting four, the final meeting of stage one, [Author 1] asked reflective questions about the partners' needs and opinion of the project up to this point. Some of the questions posed included: Do you need any support within this project that you have not received? Do we want to redefine any of the roles? Do you have any other thoughts or concerns? Overall, there were no concerns, and the partners wanted to proceed with the way things were currently structured. [Author 1] continued the meeting by explaining to the partners how she read, reread, coded, and developed themes from the data that was previously collected using a constant comparative method (Boeije, 2002). The initial topics [Author 1] identified as important for the construction of the content centered on accessible fitness opportunities, adaptive equipment, communication, PE relevance, and teacher qualities. Each of these topics are well aligned with the themes, for example, the partners wanted teachers and students to be aware of accessible fitness opportunities, what adaptive equipment could be used or purchased, how teachers could communicate with students, what PE elements would be most beneficial for blind students, and what teacher qualities they valued. The group then discussed the topics and organized them into two overarching sections, with three subsections each. At this stage, the two sections and three subsections represented manageable categories that became the outline for the content. After this final meeting of Stage One, Marie decided to discontinue her participation citing personal reasons.

Throughout Stage One various research intricacies were discussed, such as authorship, anonymity, how and what type of website to use to disseminate the product, how do we avoid 'inspiration porn' (Young, 2012), website disclaimer decisions, and ethics, in which the group came to autonomous, and when necessary, unanimous decisions. Within this stage, it was noted

that the partners wanted to ensure that the product highlighted that it was not representative of the needs or opinions of all blind people, emphasizing the need for the recommendations and resources to support *individuality*. The research partners spoke up and created a space themselves that was mindful of pronouns and other disabilities, as well as had an *awareness* of those within the group who had not spoken up and provided a space for them to share, voicing that their opinions and experiences mattered too.

# **Stage Two**

Stage two was composed of 11 meetings. When needed, adjustments to meeting days or times were considered when individuals requested to make last minute changes. On two separate occasions, research partners worked independently to provide feedback on the co-constructed resources and recommendations, and then reviewed each other's feedback as a group during the next meeting. Stage two started with [Author 1] initiating a discussion focused on what information the group thought was appropriate to put within each section and subsection of the content (stage two, meeting one). The group decided that the content should be a tool for teachers to use that promotes critical thinking and teacher-student collaboration versus a prescription, as *individual preferences* for accommodations, modifications, and feeling included may be different. When discussing this information, a pivotal conversation occurred during the first meeting of stage two, which resulted in the creation of a worksheet intend to facilitate teacher-student collaboration. The conversation went as follows, when discussing accommodations, modifications, and feeling included:

Julia: I would want to go about it activity by activity to consider with the teacher what I might like to do, either instead, or to make it more accessible. I would want to bring some ideas, but I also would hope that a teacher would bring in ideas, too, because I know

about my experience of being blind, but I wouldn't necessarily know about the objectives of all of the activities or the ins and outs of activities. And then, I think, with any accommodations, it's so important to think about what the learning outcomes that you are expecting from the sighted students, because if you're trying to make an adaptive situation, you need to make sure that those learning outcomes are constant, ideally you have basically the same activity. But if that's not possible, how do you still get the same learning outcomes?

Within this conversation, Nina noted the importance of *awareness, accessibility*, and *fostering individuality*, touching upon each of the identified themes described in our analysis. This conversation continued with Nina highlighting the importance of creating equitable experiences for blind students in PE, acknowledging that safety also needed to be taken into account. However, it was not only the needs of blind students that were taken into consideration, but also the goal of providing teachers with a resource that would be beneficial to them long-term. Nina commented:

I think outlining more of the thinking process that someone can creatively come up with some ideas on their own, as opposed to going sport by sport by sport. I think that can help them adapt their own stuff, and where to look for equipment and stuff. Versus oh, for the sport do this, for this sport do that, cause that's out there.

Julia continued the conversation, highlighting that providing an equitable experience in PE is not solely reliant on providing accommodations. She stated:

One more thing to add is the social component when you're considering these accommodations or adaptations, right? So, it's the learning outcomes, make sure those are the same, and then trying to minimize the social cost whether that be a student feels

uncomfortable working with a partner, because they don't have someone athletically equal to them, or whether that be, the student not wanting to miss out on the activity.

There is a real social benefit to participating, or find[ing] an alternative, partly because of the social anxiety one can feel around PE as a blind person. I think that's also an important part of the equation.

Within the conversation, the need for autonomy was recognized, while also acknowledging the secondary, and sometimes more important, benefits to student's feeling included in PE. Andrew additionally noted:

I think it also depends on the person itself, because what might work for a fully blind person might not work for someone who has a little bit more vision.

Based on the preceding conversation, it became apparent that it was important to highlight the variance in accommodation needs within PE, not only due to differences between student personalities and preferences, but also vision level, stressing the need for *individuality*. This has not always been taken into consideration when providing adaptation recommendations for blind and visually impaired students within PE (Ruin et al., 2021). Nina additionally reinforced the desire to create a product that would provide teachers with a tool that would encourage autonomous decision making for both teachers and students. She stated:

I think that us illustrating the process is really important, because that teaches teachers and students how to think critically about the activity in a new way, and how to think through it and come up with alternatives on their own, because, maybe there's a specific school thing that they do. I think it's really important to show people how to figure that out on their own by giving them examples and resources, but also by outlining sort of

step by step, of things to think about and ways to approach it, I think that's really important cause that is not out there as much, as you know.

Nina reiterated that there were many resources already created that describe ways to adapt sports and activities, whereas the thought process to providing adaptations and modifications should be individualized. As this conversation continued, Nina suggested that we should create a worksheet to help teachers initiate a conversation with students, as her experiences indicated that a lot of PE teachers don't know how to talk about successfully integrating blind students into PE. This conversation reinforced the many perspectives the group took into account throughout the project. For each member of the group, the importance of producing recommendations that recognized the need to consider both the teacher and the student, as well as the *individuality* of each student, informed a desire not to provide a set prescription that may only be relevant or helpful to a select few. The group collectively agreed and proceeded with constructing the key elements of the worksheet which would later be named "Collaborative Planning Tool for PE Accommodations." [Author 1] took detailed notes throughout the duration of that meeting, and then constructed the worksheet based upon the discussion. Partners independently reviewed the worksheet and provided their opinions for alterations after the meeting and over the course of the following week. Julia and [Author 1] met separately on this particular week, prior to the rest of the group, due to a scheduling conflict. They discussed the feedback provided by each of the partners. When the rest of the group reconvened (stage two, meeting two), [Author 1], Nina, and Andrew discussed each of the partner's feedback, including content of the discussions [Author 1] and Julia had, as well as the wording of various elements. When the entire group met again during meeting three, they came to an agreement on the content of two major sections, a *Teacher* 

Section and a Collaboration Section. They also wrote instructions and provided a place for the teacher and student to denote a chosen activity and a follow-up meeting time.

Throughout stage two there were times where suggestions were mentioned, and partners freely expressed their agreement or disagreement with suggestions. For example, when discussing how students would follow up with the teacher regarding the accommodations, the research group had varying opinions. Nina voiced:

I agree. But I also, disagree. I agree in the sense that we don't want to alienate blind students, and I think this should be instituted for all students. But I disagree in terms of, I think it might be a good idea even if we don't make a formal [follow-up] worksheet or survey, but we give suggestions. Because we don't want the collaborative worksheet tool to be completed in a vacuum, right?

Comments like these opened discussion points, which allowed for the research group to share varying opinions. Some partners reflected on their personal experiences, while others described and questioned hypothetical scenarios where they contemplated their desires for collaboration and a safe and supportive PE environment. At times, [Author 1] would also provide their opinions from their experiences as a PE teacher. Through these conversations the group was able to come to agreements with how they wanted to construct the worksheet and proceed with the project. Overall, it took three meetings, and one independent working session, to construct a product that each member of the research group was satisfied with disseminating.

After the construction of the worksheet, the group decided to work through the *Resource* section (stage two, meetings 4-7) and then the *Dear Teacher* section (meetings 7, 9-11) of the content. As the group worked through the *Resource* section, it was reinforced that they didn't want to 'reinvent the wheel' in terms of creating new resources, but rather, identified resources

they wanted to recommend, including those that had been constructed well by others or have been created or endorsed by blind individuals. Highlighting individual preference, when discussing some of the resources, not all members liked or used each of the suggested resources but noted that was due to their personal physical activity/exercise preferences and wanted to include a variety of resources that would appeal to a variety of individual preferences. For example, Nina stated that she "love(d) like mainstream things, like apple fitness, where [she] can share it with [her] sighted friends, and both get something out of it," whereas Julia expressed that she "use(s) so few fitness apps" and "likes to use [her] brain as [her] fitness app", to which Andrew agreed. Similarly, Andrew and Julia both expressed loving to run with a tether, and opposingly, Nina would "personally, absolutely hate that." Overall, it was important to the group to bring about *awareness* of a variety of resources that were *accessible* and provided individuals with choices based on their individual needs and desires.

Similar to the construction of the worksheet, the content of the Website sections was discussed, [Author 1] took detailed notes, and after meetings concluded she transcribed and organized the information into the Website document. Research partners then reviewed the document to ensure it aligned with the discussions, and that they agreed with the information that was included. Occasionally, partners identified changes that were needed, such as adding how certain apps could be made *accessible* and providing explanations for certain information, navigating how some information overlapped with multiple sections, and how we should best organize the data for consumers to access. The group also decided when they wanted to take on tasks independently, for example, Julia independently wrote a statement about advocacy, and Julia and Andrew wrote about their opinions under the *Teacher attitudes, behaviors, beliefs*, and *Teaching strategies* sections. Upon completion of those independent pieces, the group reviewed,

edited, and agreed upon the wording and details for each section. Attention to detail was pivotal among the group, oftentimes scrutinizing the structure, wording, and placement of each element to help ensure that critical details were not overlooked.

Throughout the discussions of which resources to include, missions of the organizations that were being included was highlighted and debated. For instance, the group did not want to include organizations they found via Google search but did not have any personal experience with, as they thought that they might not be a safe and beneficial resource for blind individuals. Supporting this, Julia noted that 'if people want to find it, they can find it by Googling that. If I found it on the internet, anyone can find it on the internet.' There was also some disagreement regarding the inclusion of one organization that aims to cure blindness, but oftentimes provides generous funding for blind students to receive adaptive equipment. Ultimately, the group decided to keep the resource listed within the content, noting:

let's add it, because it's up to the people to make their choice. I know a lot of people have had success with it and I don't want to discount that option, especially in somewhere where adaptive sports isn't really super developed yet. (Nina)

Additionally, the partners were frustrated with some of the resources not being fully *accessible*, or easy to access, despite them being a resource for blind or other disabled individuals. However, it was also decided to list them within the content, since they found the resources themselves valuable, but noted that accessing some of them was "gonna be a miserable experience" (Julia).

Approximately halfway through the project [Author 1, X, and Y] discussed the possibility of and subsequently decided to share content with and interview PE teachers to evaluate the product and provide their opinions on the usefulness, practicality, and understanding of the

content, after its completion. The group discussed who specifically should be recruited to speak to. Julia noted:

I think traditional PE teachers are probably most useful, but I wonder how many disabled students these teachers might have encountered, and I was thinking that might be helpful to get people who have both teaching experience, but also some more direct experience with disability. And teaching physical education specifically for disability... but in terms of getting different cross sections of people who have different perspectives on education and/or disability, and what that looks like from an educator's perspective.

Others shared their opinion based on their experiences with PE and adapted PE teachers, and how we could maximize feedback from varying perspectives. When the content was near completion the group discussed and wrote questions during meeting eight that would be asked to the focus groups regarding their opinions of the content. Due to time constraints, [Author 1] conducted the focus groups, of which the results will be part of a separate publication. It should be noted that this manuscript provides information regarding the construction of the content. The project will continue in other stages that will include revision of the content based on teacher feedback, discussion for dissemination of the content, and other unknown elements that arise in order to continually evaluate and improve the product.

#### Reflection

This research project was conducted in an attempt to position the *partners* as knowers, collaborators, and researchers to narrow the axiological gap within research and provide strategies to enhance PE for future generations of blind students (Peers, 2018). This study aimed to consider the needs for non-disabled researchers in PE to more thoroughly take into consideration the knowledge, truths, and opinions of blind individuals (Peers, 2018). In

alignment with Fitzgerald et al. (2021), we used this manuscript to expose the interworking of this participatory project to paint an authentic picture of the groups' experience with the process. This project began without a clear vision for how the project would take shape, but hopeful that the research partners would have ideas and suggestions and lead the project in the ways they thought best, based on their personal opinions and lived experiences, deepening the collaboration (Muller-Schoof et al., 2023). Additionally, we attempted to deviate from cultural norms, such as providing information about the needs for teachers to consider student feelings, that may have perpetuated unwritten exclusionary practices within PE (Kristén et al., 2022). Each meeting brought about new suggestions and ideas, shaping the product in ways that the group thought beneficial for blind students, and PE teachers of blind students. In total, the construction of the first draft of the product, as described in this manuscript, took 19 weeks, with the group meeting as frequently as schedules permitted.

Based on the constant-comparative analysis, three themes that highlighted both the opinions and desires of the research partners, as well as the content of the resources and recommendations, were constructed: Awareness, Accessibility, and Generalizability that Fosters Individuality. Awareness was highlighted throughout the project, as the partners wished for more awareness from their PE teachers, themselves, and others, reinforcing this in ways that took into account intersectionality, differences, and personal preferences. Accessibility was also key, noting the importance of blind students being able to equitably access PE class, and the product being accessible for both teachers and blind students. Lastly, within the theme Generalizability that Fosters Individuality, it was critical that the product was available to be utilized by a wide variety of individuals and could be tailored to personal preferences. Overarchingly, it was pivotal to note that the awareness of blind students' needs and desires for PE that is accessible should be

prioritized and fostered through *individual* needs and preferences, which reinforced Charlton's (1998) "nothing about us without us" (p. 3) call to include disabled people in the development of resources, recommendations, or products that effect this population.

Toward the beginning of this project, [Author 1] struggled with some suggestions that were made, afraid that this would become a resource of ideologies similar to those constructed by non-disabled, sighted individuals. For example, when discussing recommendations and resources, previously constructed recommendations for teaching blind students in PE were often referenced. In response to a call from Spencer and Molnár (2022) to examine paradigmatic trends in adapted physical activity research, [Author 1] reflected upon the need to examine whose knowledge is privileged, and if a resource co-constructed with blind individuals, that recommended information constructed by sighted, non-disabled individuals, might perpetuate harmful normative practices (Eales & Goodwin, 2022). With the desire to advance understanding, challenge ideas, and change injustices, through meaningful research (Peers, 2018), [Author 1] reflected and asked questions of the partners to gain a deeper understanding of their beliefs and opinions.

The concept of creating a novel resource was challenging. [Author 1] took the time to reflect upon how to communicate the goal of the project, wanting to amplify the partners' voices, while respecting their opinions, experiences, preferences, and views. Novice to participatory methodology, and with limited literature that includes disabled people other than as a participant within PE research (Spencer & Molnár, 2022), [Author 1] leaned on [Author X], who has extensive participatory research experience, for guidance on ways to address challenges and encourage group members to embrace and contribute to their full potential, was complex (Muller-Schoof et al., 2023). Oftentimes, this meant discussing recommendations for next steps

and [Author 1]'s reflexivity and positionality as the researcher and facilitator, wanting to ensure she was supporting the autonomy of and working with the partners, avoiding facipulation as much as possible (Institute of Development Studies, n.d.). At times this also meant reminding the research partners that their experiences and opinions were valuable without adding in non-disabled voices; at other times the partners would remind each other. For [Author 1], this reinforced the ideal that knowledge-production, within participatory research, should be a joint process between scholars, practitioners, and those with the lived experience (Bergold & Thomas, 2012). Echoing prior research, and the sentiments of the partners within this group, collaboration was often key, and demonstrated that perhaps a combination of knowledge and experience from blind individuals and PE specialists may result in better outcomes for blind students (Keene et al., 2023).

Throughout the project there were times the partners acknowledged that they didn't know what they didn't know, such as not being familiar with resources, recommendations, or accommodations that might be available that they had never been exposed to (Muller-Schoof et al., 2023). A major strength of the three participating partners was their willingness to challenge narratives, assumptions, [Author 1], and each other. For example, Nina interjected during an early meeting regarding the use of pronouns, asking "would we be able to go over everyone's pronouns? Because I just realized when we're referring to each other, I don't know how everyone prefers to be referred to." An oversight on [Author 1]'s behalf, as she had had individual conversations with each partner prior to the group meetings, this willingness to speak up helped create a higher level of respect among group members and acknowledgement of intersectional attributes. Seemingly, each partner was willing to be vulnerable, step in where they saw necessary, and admit where their knowledge or experiences were lacking. When [Author 1]

inquired about additional resources that would support the partners throughout the project, none were requested, however, it was noted to reach out to her in the event something arose that would support their involvement. [Author 1] had concerns that the partners would not speak up if there was something they needed, due to power dynamics or other factors, and tried to provide multiple avenues for partners to contact her or express concerns, such as providing them with her personal cell phone number (Fitzgerald et al., 2021). There were two occasions where partners requested and met with [Author 1] independently, once due to scheduling conflicts, and another to gain further clarification and insight regarding the previous meeting. However, equal power distribution could have been evaluated more often throughout the project, between research partners and [Author 1] (Muller-Schoof et al., 2023).

In this project, listening to, respecting, and amplifying the voices of research partners to help develop products to enhance PE practices for future blind students was central to our goals, objectives, and ideals. With that, it seems fitting to conclude our reflection about the project with displaying an unaltered reflection from one of the research partners, Julia, about her experiences within this product. We do so here for readers to gain an understanding of the process by exposing the views of those who engaged within it, differing from those of [Author 1]:

Participating in this project was an exciting opportunity to help shape physical education instruction. I participated in the research because when I was in high school, I had no idea how to adapt PE class, and my teachers decided I should be exempted from it.

Although I didn't mind this much at the time, looking back, I am disappointed in all of the learning I missed out on and think that the lack of information I had was unfortunate. I had some accommodations in elementary and middle school PE class, but it wasn't until after graduation that I learned about the scale of adaptive PE opportunities. Because I

was exempted from PE class in high school, I often felt that I did not have much to contribute to the research. I did have opinions on everything we discussed from my broader experience of blindness, my accessible physical activity since high school and my limited PE class in elementary and middle school, but I often felt like I was learning much more than I was adding to the conversation. The format of the research felt like a productive way to integrate various experiences from blind individuals, and the facilitation was an excellent guide, without influencing the content. [Author 1]'s experience as an educator was an invaluable resource, since none of the blind individuals had any sort of background in education, and we needed some working knowledge of curriculum development. I think the product of the research could have been richer with more participants, and I would have appreciated more individual voices as part of our synthesis. I am very glad I participated in this research; I was able to learn a lot and contribute to a resource that will hopefully improve PE education for future blind children.

#### **Conclusion**

In an attempt to produce research that is mindful and meaningful for the individuals research aims to represent (Peers, 2018) and more positively support youth through research (Fitzgerald et al., 2021), this paper presents an attempt to move towards methodologies that challenge current research and prioritizes real-world impact by working with such individuals (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). We must continue to challenge current practices and provide opportunity for disabled individuals to infiltrate and positively engage with research (Fitzgerald et al., 2021), ideally helping to mitigate prior research that has been poor and tokenistic (Smith et al., 2022). In alignment with suggestions from Fitzgerald et al. (2021), we encourage researchers

to be transparent about their experiences with participatory research, ideally adding to the conversation and approaching participatory research with greater scrutiny and awareness. Moving forward, in order to disseminate the product, non-disabled scholars, practitioners, and others will need to be employed in order for the resource to reach as many individuals as possible, as the journals in which the research from this study will be published, oftentimes do not reach the individuals which it aims to affect (Chen et al., 2010).

### Footnote

Identity first language is used (i.e., disabled person) in line with a social relational understanding of disability that supports the values and beliefs of identifying disability as being socially constructed through oppressive systems (Adamson et al., 2022; Bogart & Dunn, 2019). The social relational model recognizes that physical activity can be impacted by both society and impairment and may differ based on a plethora of factors (Martin, 2013).

## References

- Adamson, B., Adamson, M., Clarke, C., Richardson, E. V., & Sydnor, S. (2022). Social justice through sport and exercise studies: A manifesto. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, 46(5), 407-444. https://doi.org/10.1177/01937235221099150
- Ahmadi, M. N., Inan-Eroglu, E., Mishra, G. D., Salis, A., & Stamatakis, E. (2023). Associations of changes in physical activity and diet with incident obesity and changes in adiposity:

  Longitudinal findings from the UK Biobank. *Preventive Medicine: An International Journal Devoted to Practice and Theory*, 168, 1-10.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2023.107435
- Ball, L., Lieberman, L., Haibach-Beach, P., Perreault, M., & Tirone, K. (2022). Bullying in physical education of children and youth with visual impairments: A systematic review.
   British Journal of Visual Impairment, 40(3), 513-529.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/02646196211009927
- Baum, F., MacDougall, C., & Smith, D. (2006). Participatory action research. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 60(10), 854-857. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2004.028662
- Bergold, J., & Thomas, S. (2012). Participatory research methods: A methodological approach in motion. *Partizipative Forschungsmethoden: Ein methodischer Ansatz in Bewegung*, 37(4), 191-222.
- Boeije, H. (2002). A purposeful approach to the constant comparative method in the analysis of qualitative interviews. *Quality & Quantity*, *36*(4), 391-409. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020909529486

- Bogart, K. R., & Dunn, D. S. (2019). Ableism special issue introduction. *Journal of Social Issues*, 75(3), 650-664. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12354
- Bredahl, A. M. (2013). Sitting and watching the others being active: The experienced difficulties in PE when having a disability. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 30(1), 40-58.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). *Benefits of school-based physical activity*.

  U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

  https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/physicalactivity/pdf/Benefits-of-PA-Infographic\_DRAFT\_v4.pdf
- Charlton, J. I. (1998). *Nothing about us without us: Disability oppression and empowerment*.

  University of California Press.
- Chen, P. G., Diaz, N., Lucas, G., & Rosenthal, M. S. (2010). Dissemination of results in community-based participatory research. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 39(4), 372-378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2010.05.021
- Colabianchi, N., Griffin, J. L., McIver, K. L., Dowda, M., & Pate, R. R. (2016). Where are children active and does it matter for physical activity? A latent transition analysis. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 13(12), 1294-1300.
- Cook-Sather, A. (2002). Authorizing students' perspectives: Toward trust, dialogue, and change in education. *Educational Researcher*, *31*(4), 3-14.
- D'Angelantonio, M., Collins, J. L., Manchia, M., Baldessarini, R. J., & Tondo, L. (2022).

  Physical exercise, depression, and anxiety in 2190 affective disorder subjects. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 309, 172-177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.04.079

- Eales, L., & Goodwin, D. L. (2022). Addressing trauma in adaptive physical activity: A call to reflection and action. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 39(2), 141-159. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2020-0129
- Eckhoff, A. (2019). Chapter 1: Conceptual and ethical considerations for participatory work. In A. Eckhoff (Ed.), *Participatory Research with Young Children* (pp. 3-20). Springer Nature Switzerland.
- Ferrer, P., Iglesia, I., Muniz-Pardos, B., Miguel-Berges, M. L., Flores-Barrantes, P., Gomez-Bruton, A., Moreno, L. A., & Rodríguez, G. (2022). Is it important to achieve physical activity recommendations at early stages of life to improve bone health? *Osteoporosis International*, *33*(5), 1017-1026. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00198-021-06256-z
- Fitzgerald, H., Stride, A., & Enright, E. (2021). Messy methods: Making sense of participatory research with young people in PE and sport. *European Physical Education Review*, 27(3), 421-435. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356336x20953462
- García-Garcés, L., Sánchez-López, M. I., Cano, S. L., Meliá, Y. C., Marqués-Azcona, D., Biviá-Roig, G., Lisón, J. F., & Peyró-Gregori, L. (2021). The short and long-term effects of aerobic, strength, or mixed exercise programs on schizophrenia symptomatology.
  Scientific Reports, 11(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-03761-3
- Glaser, B. G. (1965). The constant comparative method of qualitative analysis. *Social Problems*, 12(4), 436-445. https://doi.org/10.2307/798843
- Goodwin, D., & Howe, P. D. (2016). Framing cross-cultural ethical practice in adapt[ive] physical activity. *Quest*, 68(1), 43-54. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2015.1117501
- Greguol, M., Gobbi, E., & Carraro, A. (2015). Physical activity practice among children and adolescents with visual impairment--influence of parental support and perceived barriers.

- Disability and Rehabilitation, 37(4), 327-330. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2014.918194
- Gür, K., Beyhan, A., Aktan, Ç., Akbulut, E., Sezer, M., Çelik, Ş., & Çakıcı, T. (2020). Physical activity levels, enjoyment, and perceptions of barriers to physical activity of adolescents with visual impairments in Turkey. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 114(6), 502-515. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482X20972206
- Haegele, J. A., Ball, L. E., Zhu, X., Keene, M. A., & Nowland, L. A. (2022). Absent, incapable, and "normal": Understanding the inclusiveness of visually impaired students' experiences in integrated physical education. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 39(4), 424-445. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2022-0105
- Haegele, J. A., Hodge, S. R., Zhu, X., Holland, S. K., & Wilson, W. J. (2020). Understanding the inclusiveness of integrated physical education from the perspectives of adults with visual impairments. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 37(2), 141-159.
  https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2019-0094
- Haegele, J. A., & Zhu, X. (2017). Experiences of individuals with visual impairments in integrated physical education: A retrospective study. *Research Quarterly for Exercise* and Sport, 88(4), 425-435. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2017.1346781
- Holland, K., Haegele, J. A., & Zhu, X. (2020). "My eyes have nothing to do with how my legs move": Individuals with visual impairments' experiences with learning to run. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *37*(3), 253-269. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2019-0098
- Hou, M., Herold, F., Healy, S., Haegele, J., Block, M., Ludyga, S., Schuch, F., Ng, J., Gerber,
  M., Hossain, M. M., Taylor, A., Van Damme, T., Mueller, N., Kramer, A., & Zou, L.
  (2023). 24-Hour movement behaviors among visually impaired US children and

- adolescents. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 25, 100545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2023.100545
- Institute of Development Studies. (n.d.). *Participatory methods*. https://www.participatorymethods.org/task/facilitate
- Keene, M. A., Haegele, J. A., Ball, L. E., Nowland, L. A., & Zhu, X. (2023). Exploring blind and visually impaired students' views on how to improve physical education. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*. https://doi.org/10.1123/jtpe.2023-0013
- Kristén, L., Klingvall, B., & Ring, M. (2022). The co-development of inclusive tools in physical education for pupils with and without disabilities. *Sport in Society*, 25(5), 1000-1016. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2020.1819243
- Maher, A. J., & Haegele, J. A. (2022). *Teaching disabled children in physical education:*(Dis)connections between research and practice. Routledge.
- Martin, J. J. (2013). Benefits and barriers to physical activity for individuals with disabilities: A social-relational model of disability perspective. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *35*(24), 2030-2037. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2013.802377
- Miyauchi, H. (2020). A systematic review on inclusive education of students with visual impairment. *Education Sciences*, *10*(11), 346. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10110346
- Muller-Schoof, I. J. M., Verbiest, M. E. A., Snoeren, M., & Luijkx, K. G. (2023). Lessons learned from co-designing educational programs for student and practicing healthcare professionals in nursing homes: A participatory qualitative study. *Journal of Participatory Research Methods*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.35844/001c.57529

- Peers, D. (2018). Engaging axiology: Enabling meaningful transdisciplinary collaboration in adapted physical activity. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *35*(3), 267-284. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2017-0095
- Peers, D., Spencer-Cavaliere, N., & Eales, L. (2014). Say what you mean: rethinking disability language in Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 31(3), 265-282. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2013-0091
- Peña, E. V., Stapleton, L. D., & Schaffer, L. M. (2016). Critical perspectives on disability identity. New Directions for Student Services, 2016(154), 85-96.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.20177
- Ruin, S., Giese, M., & Haegele, J. A. (2021). Fear or freedom? Visually impaired students' ambivalent perspectives on physical education. *British Journal of Visual Impairment*, 39(1), 20-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0264619620961813
- Smith, B., Williams, O., & Bone, L. (2022). Co-production: A resource to guide co-producing research in the sport, exercise, and health sciences. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 15(2), 159-187. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676x.2022.2052946
- Spencer, N. L. I., & Molnár, G. (2022). Whose knowledge counts? Examining paradigmatic trends in adapted physical activity research. *Quest*, 74(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2021.2021258
- Spencer-Cavaliere, N., & Rintoul, M. A. (2012). Alienation in physical education from the perspectives of children. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, *31*(4), 344-361. https://doi.org/10.1123/jtpe.31.4.344
- United States Association of Blind Athletes. (n.d.). *Visual Classifications*. https://www.usaba.org/membership/visual-classifications/

- United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2018). Physical activity guidelines for Americans, 2nd edition. https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-09/Physical\_Activity\_Guidelines\_2nd\_edition.pdf#page=32
- Vaughn, L. M., & Jacquez, F. (2020). Participatory research methods choice points in the research process. *Journal of Participatory Research Methods*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.35844/001c.13244
- Walseth, K., Engebretsen, B., & Elvebakk, L. (2018). Meaningful experiences in PE for all students: An activist research approach. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 23(3), 235-249. https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2018.1429590
- Wendell, S. (2001). Unhealthy disabled: Treating chronic illnesses as disabilities. *Hypatia*, 16(4), 17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1527-2001.2001.tb00751.x
- Xiaoliang, Z., & Huaping, C. (2022). The effect of physical fitness exercise on relieving psychological anxiety of college students. *Revista de Psicología del Deporte*, 31(4), 42-51.
- Yessick, A., & Haegele, J. A. (2019). 'Missed opportunities': Adults with visual impairments' reflections on the impact of physical education on current physical activity. *British Journal of Visual Impairment*, *37*(1), 40-49. https://doi.org/10.1177/0264619618814070
- Young, S. (2012). I'm not your inspiration, thank you very much.

  https://www.ted.com/talks/stella\_young\_i\_m\_not\_your\_inspiration\_thank\_you\_very\_mu
  ch?language=en
- Zhao, M., Veeranki, S. P., Magnussen, C. G., & Xi, B. (2020). Recommended physical activity and all cause and cause specific mortality in US adults: prospective cohort study. *BMJ*, 370, m2031. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2031

Zhu, X., Haegele, J. A., & Healy, S. (2019). Movement and mental health: Behavioral correlates of anxiety and depression among children of 6–17 years old in the US. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, *16*, 60-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2019.04.002

# **Manuscript 2:**

# Physical Education Teacher Perspectives of Strategies to Enhance PE for Blind Students

(formatted for submission to Sport, Education, and Society – 7,500 words)

#### Abstract

Prior to this study, resources and recommendations were co-constructed with blind young adults to provide to PE teachers, in an effort to enhance PE for blind students. The purpose of this study was to examine PE teachers' perspectives on the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of the content co-constructed with blind young adults to help enhance PE. For this study nine high school PE teachers were interviewed, using an interpretivist research paradigm, to inquire about the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of using the co-constructed content within their teaching practices, which might alleviate some of the concerns and stress teachers note experiencing. Reflexive thematic analysis guided the data analysis, and three themes were constructed: (a) "You're gonna have to get to know the person": Awareness of needs, (b) "For a teacher that's on their own...this is phenomenal": More than a planning tool, and (c) "I should meet with the student": Conversations for student input. Many of the participants noted that the content was useful and relevant, however, there were some mixed opinions about the practicality of using some of the content, given time and curriculum constraints. The co-constructed content may be a first step in working with blind individuals and PE teachers, to enhance PE experiences for blind students.

**Keywords:** Adapted Physical Education, Physical Education, Blind Students, Teacher Resources, Teacher-Student Communication

## **Background**

Disabled youth are often integrated into physical education (PE) spaces with their nondisabled peers without taking into account the integrity, autonomy, influence, or participation the individual will experience (Goodwin & Howe, 2016). With that in mind, integrated PE may not always be the best option for all students (Goodwin & Howe, 2016). For example, blind and visually impaired students often find that they are not active within this space, are often separated from their peers, and are excluded from participating in activities (Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020; Miyauchi, 2020). As a result, blind and visually impaired students often report negative experiences within integrated PE classes which stem from a lack of adaptations (Bredahl, 2013), experiences with bullying (Ball et al., 2022), feelings of exclusion (Haegele & Zhu, 2017), and feeling like a burden (Holland et al., 2020). With that, blind and visually impaired youth tend to report that they do not feel as though they belong, are accepted, or valued within integrated PE classes (Haegele et al., 2022; Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020). These experiences in PE may stem from or be informed by ableist perspectives of PE teachers or other school personnel, which may result in blind and visually impaired individuals experiencing instances of discrimination, oppression, stereotyping, or prejudice within and throughout their PE experiences (Bogart & Dunn, 2019). With this in mind, PE is often a missed opportunity for blind and visually impaired individuals to work on skills that may provide benefits for everyday life (Ruin et al., 2021) and create an autonomous relationship with physical activity (Giese & Ruin, 2018), which may lead to lower levels of physical activity throughout childhood and into adulthood (Yessick & Haegele, 2019).

Despite these aforementioned negative experiences, some blind and visually impaired youth report preferring to be integrated with their peers in PE classes, and are optimistic that

positive changes could be made (Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020). In order to better support blind and visually impaired students within physical education classes, strategies to support teachers who are responsible for constructing the spaces, classes, and activities that blind or visually impaired students are exposed to, need to be developed. Supporting this, a rich body of literature has demonstrated that teachers are not confident in teaching disabled students in an integrated PE class due to lack of training, support, and experience (Nowland & Haegele, 2023). Furthermore, PE teachers have identified a number of specific barriers to teaching blind and visually impaired students in integrated PE settings, which may include a lack of training, knowledge, equipment, programming, and time (Lieberman et al., 2002; Lirgg et al., 2017). Due to these challenges, it is perhaps unsurprising that blind and visually impaired students have expressed experiences in PE that have not been educational (Keene et al., 2023), were exclusionary (Haegele & Zhu, 2017), lacked instruction (Holland et al., 2020), and where they were not seen as capable participants (Haegele et al., 2022). Further, and problematically, many of the published guidelines for integrating blind and visually impaired youth often lack voice and input from blind and visually impaired individuals (Maher & Haegele, 2022), despite literature that encourages stakeholders, including higher education faculty and physical educators themselves, to do so (Eales & Goodwin, 2022; Keene et al., 2023; Maher & Haegele, 2022).

Given the need to support teachers to teach blind students within physical education (Tristani et al., 2020), we've set out to develop resources to share with physical educators to help better support blind students within PE (citation anonymized). Generally, teachers have expressed the need for resources that are easy to access and use (Kuo et al., 2024) and that electronic content delivered via website may meet such needs (Tristani et al., 2020). Furthermore, teachers have expressed the need for resources that are relevant, are perceived as

useful, and provide recommendations for specific disabilities to help support their teaching (Tristani et al., 2020). Taking these recommendations into consideration, a critical aspect of the construction of these resources for us was to work with blind individuals to create or recommend the types of support needed for blind students. That is, traditional PE practices are often underpinned and rooted in ableist ideals, often perpetuated from social and cultural norms that may oppress disabled students and hinder students feeling as if they belong, are accepted, and valued (Haegele & Maher, 2023). This is highlighted by Goodwin and Rossow-Kimball (2012), who suggest that individuals may experience disability as a result of the actions, or lack of action, of professionals, and furthermore, as well as Eales and Goodwin (2022), who argue that enforcing normative motor patterns or behaviors, while typically with good intentions, can result in a dangerous practice as it can remove autonomy and self-expression. As such, and within the call to action for research to include disabled individuals as knowers and collaborators (Peers, 2018), and provide resources to support PE teachers in teaching blind students in PE (Maher & Haegele, 2022), blind young adults served as research partners within our recent work, to construct recommendations to disseminate to PE teachers (citation anonymized), and ultimately, support blind students.

The current study aimed to extend, and support, our prior work by bringing the resources we have previously created with blind young adults to PE teachers to help explore the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of the co-constructed resources and recommendations. As noted previously, PE teachers have highlighted barriers to teaching disabled students in PE include a lack of knowledge, equipment, and time (Lieberman et al., 2002; Lirgg et al., 2017) and often face many other overwhelming concerns that contribute to low performance and motivation (Kul et al., 2018). With this, teachers have also expressed concerns regarding the stress of meeting the

needs of students (Hester et al., 2020; Robinson et al., 2023), overwhelming expectations (Robinson et al., 2023), and isolation (Spicer & Robinson, 2021). They have also noted that resource design, relevance, and perceived usefulness would impact their decision to adopt a resource (Tristani et al., 2020). As such, in this study, we aimed to further the conceptual development of the co-constructed resources and recommendations by examining the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of the content from the perspective of PE teachers in an attempt to provide a resource that PE teachers would ideally use within their teaching practices which might alleviate some of the concerns and stress teachers note experiencing. The purpose of this study was to examine PE teachers' perspectives on the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of the content, co-constructed with blind young adults, to help enhance PE for blind students.

## **Methods**

This study was conducted using an interpretivist research paradigm, focusing on participants' understanding of a co-constructed and proposed resources and recommendations for enhancing PE for blind students, and its potential usefulness, relevance, and practicality for more successfully integrating blind students into high school PE classes (citation anonymized for review). This study adopted a relative ontology (Maxwell, 2012), where the interpretations of the participants' experiences as high school PE teachers reflect multiple subjectivities and realities, and a subjective epistemology (Goodwin, 2020), where the meaning of the data was constructed by the research group through their cognitive processes.

## **Participants**

Research participants were recruited using an email database list of PE teachers interested in participating in research, as well as personal contacts, throughout the United States. Potential participants were sent an inquiry email that described the purpose, time commitment, incentive

information (i.e., \$25 gift card for completing the study), and participant inclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria for this study included those who (a) self-identified as a high school PE teacher in the U.S. and (b) were between the ages of 18-89. Those interested in participating were asked to click a Google link to express interest, complete a demographic questionnaire, and complete a consent form to opt into the study. Those who completed this step, and met each of the inclusion criteria, were invited to participate in the research study.

Nine high school PE teachers, ranging in age from 26 to 58 years, responded to the inquiry, met the inclusion criteria, and completed the semi-structured interview. The teachers had two to 30 years of teaching experience, of which six had experience teaching at least one blind student. Four participants identified as men, four as women, and one as non-binary. All participants identified their race/ethnicity as White. Participants taught in six different states, with three participants teaching in Virginia and two in Illinois. Detailed demographic information for each participant can be found in Table 1. The participant recruitment and data collection protocols were approved by the researcher's university.

## **Co-Constructed Content**

Prior to interviews, the drafted co-constructed content, which was developed with blind young adults for use by PE teachers, to support blind students (citation anonymized), was shared with the PE teachers. The co-constructed content was sent in a Word document due to its drafted form, and to allow for comments/edits to be provided on the document itself, should the participants have desired. The co-constructed content contained a *Dear Teachers* and *Resource Section*, as well as a worksheet titled *Collaborative Planning Tool for PE Accommodations*.

Within the *Dear Teachers* section there were three subsections, (1) *teacher attitudes*, behaviors, beliefs, (2) teaching strategies, and (3) PE curriculum. Teacher attitudes, behaviors,

beliefs listed and discussed some thoughts and opinions of how PE teachers could be mindful of their attitudes, behaviors, and understanding with respect to the perspectives of being a blind student in an integrated PE class. The teaching strategies subsection discussed the importance of having an inclusive attitude as a starting point, however, noted that actively providing accommodations, and taking into account the considerations within the teacher attitudes, behaviors, beliefs section is necessary to create an equitable environment. It also listed some additional strategies that may be useful in creating a more equitable learning environment. Lastly, the PE Curriculum subsection discussed elements of desired curriculum content, relevant for blind students, that would focus on body and spatial awareness, and post K-12 fitness and well-being. These suggestions were based on commonalities found throughout the project, for the content of PE curriculum.

The *resource section* also included three subsections: (1) *accessible fitness opportunities*, (2) *how to adapt*, and (3) *advocacy*. Within the first subsection, accessible websites and apps, groups and organizations that provide adapted sport/fitness opportunities, and camps, were listed. The *how to adapt* sub-section included techniques, links to purchase equipment, and funding opportunities. Lastly, the *advocacy section* provided information about the legality of providing blind students with PE, self-advocacy information, and a place for others to share their successes.

Lastly, the *Collaborative Planning Tool for PE Accommodations* is a worksheet that was constructed intending to help PE teachers talk with their blind students to create a more equitable PE experience, aiming to meet the needs of the student and the objectives of the lesson plan. The worksheet included a teacher section and a collaboration section, a place for the teacher and student to decide on the activity/accommodations, and a place to note how they would follow-up.

The co-constructed content, in its current iteration, can be found here [website anonymized for review].

#### **Data Collection**

Each of the nine participants completed a one-to-one semi-structured Zoom call interview in the Spring of 2024. Prior to each interview, the participants were independently emailed and asked to review the co-constructed content. Each interview began with [Author 1] explaining who she was, as a nondisabled White woman who was a doctoral scholar and prior high school physical educator herself, and was part of the creation of the resource. She followed by describing the procedures for the interview, including the option to stop the interview at any time and for any reason. [Author 1] reiterated that the purpose was to learn about the participant's opinions about the usefulness, relevance, practicality, and understanding of the co-constructed content created as a resource for PE Teachers, to help enhance PE for blind students.

The semi-structured interview guide included questions focused on each of the three sections of the co-constructed content: *Dear Teachers, Resources,* and the *Collaborative Planning Tool for PE Accommodations* worksheet. Within each section teachers were asked about the relevance and usefulness (e.g., How do you find this section relevant for teachers?), what they would change (e.g., What would you change about the content of this section?), how they comprehended the section (e.g., Is there anything you don't understand within this section? If so, please elaborate.), and if they had any additional feedback. Throughout the interviews, [Author 1] asked follow-up questions based on participant responses to further probe participants on their perspectives (Roulston, 2010). Interviews ranged from 25 to 75 minutes. Each participant is referred to using a pseudonym to protect their anonymity.

# Data Analysis

Each interview was recorded and then transcribed by [Author 1]. Reflexive thematic analysis was used to analyze the data, based on recommendations by Braun and Clarke (2022). [Author 1] acted as a lead analyst. She began the analysis by listening to, reading, and rereading each of the interviews, familiarizing herself with the data, and critically engaging with the information presented to her by each of the participants (Braun & Clarke, 2022). Next, she coded the data set using both semantic and latent codes which led to the generation of initial themes (Braun & Clarke, 2022). At this stage, [Author 1] shared initial themes with [Author X], who provided probing and exploratory questions to help stimulate [Author 1]'s thinking regarding the thematic development. Following, [Author 1] revisited the data to review the potential themes, the relationship between the potential themes, and how they are situated within the context of the research project (Braun & Clarke, 2022). As reflexive thematic analysis is not a linear process, there were several times [Author 1] returned to the dataset to review the themes, and discussed potential themes with [Author X], as she moved forward refining, defining, and naming the themes, and writing up the analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2022). Lastly, final themes were identified and described by [Author 1], drafted using exemplary quotes from participants, and presented as findings.

# **Quality of Research**

Multiple strategies were used to support the quality of this research. For example, prior to each interview, [Author 1] exposed her professional and personal positionality, given the influence it has on the interview process, to the participants. As the primary data analyst, it should be noted that these particularities also likely influenced the data analysis and interpretation of the findings (Shaw et al., 2020). Further, [Author 1] aimed to be reflective and examine her ontological position, that influenced the interviews and interpretations, noting her

desires to provide recommendations that may enhance PE for blind students, and her prior experiences as a PE teacher (Grant & Lincoln, 2021). In congruence with this, and in alignment with Yardley (2000), [Author 1]'s shared understanding of teaching high school PE allowed for her to have sensitivity to the context in understanding some of the lived experience and perspective shared by each participant. Furthering the quality commitments referenced by Yardley (2000), [Author 1] was committed to rigor, transparency, and coherence throughout the data collection, analysis, and discussion of findings. In commitment to this, we were mindful to disclose both positive, and critical, perceptions of the materials, transparency is supported through the details of the data collection and analysis, and coherently is supported through disclosing all aspects of the process (Yardley, 2000). Additionally, disconfirming opinions were noted, when available, to provide a counternarrative to the themes to enhance the quality of the analysis (Brantlinger et al., 2005). Lastly, [Author 1] aimed to listen and amplify the voices of each participant, in an attempt to highlight the importance and impact of the research and meet the needs and desires of PE teachers (Yardley, 2000). However, as noted by Yardley (2000) the importance of this research is difficult to ascertain as authors and should be more so attributed to the way in which this research is received and consumed among those within the field.

# **Findings and Discussion**

In this study, we explored the opinions of high school PE teachers regarding the usefulness, practicality, and understanding of the content co-constructed by blind adults, in an attempt to provide resources and recommendations for improving PE experiences for blind students. Throughout the interviews, it was clear that they found the content useful and relevant, noting that most of them would use this resource, particularly if they had a blind student in their class. To further highlight the perspectives of the participants, three themes were constructed

based on the interviews: (a) "You're gonna have to get to know the person": Awareness of needs, (b)"For a teacher that's on their own...this is phenomenal": More than a planning tool, and (c) "I should meet with the student": Conversations for student input.

# "You're Gonna Have to Get to Know the Person": Awareness of Needs

Overall, the PE teachers expressed that the content made them aware of how blind students may feel or what they might be concerned with during PE. It was noted that this awareness would encourage reflection of their current and future practices and was thought to be a good resource not only for PE teachers but also parents, paraprofessionals, and administrators. For example, Elizabeth noted:

I think that it really does a good job of letting the teachers know what the student may be feeling, but also that it's not just gonna be cut and dry. You're gonna have to get to know the person, you're gonna have to get to know what works best for them, and that not each kid is going to be the same.

For Elizabeth, the content highlighted individuality and the importance of getting to know each student. Within the privilege that exists as a sighted individual, many of these teachers reflected on the unawareness of the lived experience blind students have when participating in PE class (Adamson et al., 2022), furthering the importance of listening to the voices of their students (Eales & Goodwin, 2022). In agreement, but more broadly speaking, Amy commented that "all of this is important to read, and I think [these are] things that we would already do for any student." Likewise, Carter remarked that "I would find it relevant just because it not only speaks to students with special needs, but just more or less, everybody in general." For these participants, the information reinforced the importance of understanding how concepts such as student insecurities, advocacy, communication, and participation are relevant to most, if not all,

students. Furthering this sentiment, Doug shared that the information was "forcing [him] to reflect on what [he] do(es)," particularly with regard to gaining awareness of student insecurities, which was one of the featured aspects within the content. In alignment with Smyth (2006), Carter asserted that educators, and other pivotal school personnel, should strive to understand the lived experiences and needs of students as that can promote engagement and enjoyment within PE.

In reflecting about the content, the teachers also acknowledged it as an important tool to bring awareness to parents, paraprofessionals, and other key advocates. For instance, Susan stated:

A parent needs to have a copy of this. I think that the PE department chair definitely needs to have a copy of it, and when that teacher is assigned to that student, it needs to be definitely discussed for sure, 100%.

Susan and others emphasized the importance of a team effort in making sure that the students' needs are met and accommodated for, and how this content could help to initiate conversations with students by providing resources that would be beneficial for both teacher and student.

Reinforcing this, Jordan discussed the importance of using the content to educate and bring awareness to others who work with blind students and may have ableist viewpoints. For example, Jordan discussed their experience with some paraeducators noting:

I work with a lot of paraeducators and a lot of paraeducators who maybe have a different view of disability than myself, I would say. I guess paraeducators who are like a little bit, inspiration porn-y about the students. We [want to] empower students to participate in PE and do all these things, practice independence, not do everything for them.

Jordan utilized the term *Inspiration Porn* here, which, as first used by Stella Young (2012), describes instances where non-disabled individuals objectify disabled individuals as inspirational for completing tasks they do every day, noting them as inspirational for doing so. This behavior generally hinders independence and often furthers ableist ideals that may be detrimental to student learning (Goodwin & Rossow-Kimball, 2012). To help promote independence among blind students, Ball et al. (2021) described the importance of providing opportunities for students to have opportunities to meet their potential, which can include supporting their dignity of risk to make independent decisions.

Our participants also suggested a broader application for the resources provided within the content, noting that such elements may provide awareness to students and parents to activities and opportunities outside of the school setting, such as camps. More specifically, Doug noted:

it's also valuable as you make relationships with the students and their families, obviously with the camps that you've listed and the other resources, to share with those families' things that they can do to help their student.

# Similarly, Landon commented that:

I think the kids knowing it's other people like them out there and giving them a chance to be involved. Camps once again, they're able to reach out, meet new people like them.

Furthermore, Elizabeth noted that it was useful "if you're trying to find more things for them outside of school." Here, it appears that these teachers understood the importance of and had the desire to be able to provide opportunities for their students to be active outside of school and saw the content to be an important tool to help facilitate these activities. This support is not surprising, given common understandings among physical educators that physical activity

outside the classroom can promote a sense of connection to the community (Azzarito & Ennis, 2003) and provide equitable and collaborative opportunities for students to be physically active (Physical Activity Alliance, 2022).

# "For a Teacher That's on Their Own...This is Phenomenal": More Than a Planning Tool

When reviewing the content, the participants were particularly favorable of sections with links to purchase equipment, accessible fitness websites and apps, techniques for adapting, and funding options, which was viewed as informative and helpful. For example, Christina commented that:

For a teacher that's on their own, like may not know how to find some of this stuff, this is phenomenal. Y'all have done a great job about getting these resources, providing links.

Basically, just saying, hey here, if you need help in this area, here's a link. This [resource section] is great.

For Christina and others, they referenced that the *Resource* section could help reduce the need for them to spend time researching options for accommodations, modifications, and equipment, which have been areas previously identified as barriers to teaching disabled students (Lieberman et al., 2002; Lirgg et al., 2017). Ideally, providing resources, such as this, could help alleviate some stress that teachers experience regarding meeting the needs of students, being overwhelmed, and wanting to support students social and emotional well-being (Robinson et al., 2023). Furthermore, PE teachers have expressed feeling isolated and desire more support (Spicer & Robinson, 2021), as such these resources might provide connection and support which may work to minimize such feelings. Echoing Christina's sentiment, Carter explained that this content could "help teachers figure out how to come up with a game plan or a lesson to adapt towards

these individual students, [especially] if you don't really know where to even look or to get started."

While many teachers noted this section of the content as a relevant resource for novice teachers, or those unfamiliar with working with a blind student, several also mentioned its utility for any or all teachers. Highlighting this, Landon noted that this section "gives you tools that you can definitely use, whether young or veteran teachers, throughout each one [section]" (Landon). The teachers emphasized the convenience and accessibility of the content, in that it would allow them to access a number of resources in one location, helping to prepare them, as it has been noted that blind students have felt as if their teachers were ill-prepared to support their needs (Haegele et al., 2021). The teachers noted that they were particularly impressed with the perceived utility of resources to help blind students participate in integrated PE classes, which have been identified previously as a setting where students tend to have limited participation (Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020; Miyauchi, 2020). For example, Jordan commented about the auditory soccer balls and how a blind student could participate with their peers in an integrated PE class using that particular piece of equipment. These resources may help teachers plan their lessons in ways that are equitable for blind students to be integrated with the class and their peers. Providing options for adaptive equipment and funding resources to be able to acquire such equipment, this resource can ideally begin to close the gap between what has been provided for students, and their desire for their accommodations to be met (Keene et al., 2023). Furthermore, Landon expressed the importance of being able to collaborate and plan "activities that kids want to do and enjoy doing [as] they're more likely to participate and be involved". Notably, students are more likely to participate in physical activity outside of school when they enjoy PE (Moore and Fry (2017), and their autonomy is supported (Leyton-Román et al., 2020), providing such

tools for PE teachers may contribute to such principles being put into practice for blind students. For James, who noted that the resources could help teachers plan to collaborate with the student, and "help align your learning objectives as far as PE," which is critical for helping to provide the opportunity for disabled students to meet learning outcomes (Bertills et al., 2018).

While some participants identified specific sections of the content to have practical value for course planning, others expressed more global opinions about the impact a resource like this could have for them. For example, Doug expressed that the content, as a whole, could have an impact on planning, stating that:

As a planning resource, I think it's valuable 'cause you have a combination of things that could be used. Say you're planning for that week, or that unit, you certainly could look at some of these things. But then it's also valuable as you make relationships with the students and their families, obviously with the camps that you've listed and the other resources to share with those families' things that they can do to help their student.

The resources may help to minimize some stress teachers feel regarding supporting students' needs (Robinson et al., 2023) and feeling isolated within their role (Spicer & Robinson, 2021) by providing support to meet their needs to teach students. The teachers viewed the content as more than just a planning tool, and rather as a resource that could help remediate some of the ill-preparedness of teachers to teach blind students in integrated PE classes (Haegele et al., 2021).

# "I Should Meet with the Student": Conversations for Student Input

As discussed by Keene et al. (2023), one key element needed to help enhance PE for blind students is better communication between teachers and students. This has been corroborated by a number of studies, where blind or visually impaired students have noted the lack of teacher-student communication as a significant issue within PE (Holland et al., 2020;

Lieberman et al., 2006). Within the content, a worksheet was designed to facilitate this communication, titled *Collaborative Planning Tool for PE Accommodations*. When reviewing the worksheet, most of the participants provided support for this particular element, and emphasized that elevation of student voice, autonomy, and collaboration could be a result of it. Reinforcing this, Carter stated that the worksheet can:

Take some of the burden, or maybe guesswork, off the teacher's plate and kinda helps the student advocate for themself. They're doing things that they're going to be enjoying and keeping them engaged, and that can kind of give the teacher a better understanding of where to go with the lesson based on the student's feedback so that way if there's, you know, something the student doesn't like to do, and the teachers unfamiliar with, rather than having an unsuccessful lesson where there's some kinda hesitation to want to do something because the students not comfortable doing it, [or] maybe the teachers just unaware because they haven't dealt with the situation. [They've] given the student some responsibility to kind of choose what they like to do to keep them engaged.

This teacher suggested that by using this tool, students may gain further agency, which has been shown to support more meaningful and enjoyable educational experiences (Leyton-Román et al., 2020; Shilcutt et al., 2020; Walseth et al., 2018). For some of the participants, the content and subsequent inclusion of the worksheet prompted reflection about taking time to meet with students, as Doug commented "it makes me think that I should meet with the student. It's a useful document because it makes me think of what to do if I was to meet with the student." This type of worksheet was regarded as well needed, and would add to the existing literature where most guidelines for adapting and including blind and visually impaired youth in physical education

(Brian & Haegele, 2014; Lieberman et al., 2014; Lieberman et al., 2009; Stribing et al., 2019), do so without the active input of blind or visually impaired students themselves.

In discussing the worksheet, and the recommendation to speak with students, most participants noted their willingness and desire to use it as a tool to have a conversation with students regarding their needs and opinions, finding it useful to initiate such conversations. For example, James commented "it would be something that would not take long to fill out and to just give you both a perspective on what's gonna be best for the student". Similarly, Elizabeth reflected about the practicality of having time to meet with the student, stating:

warm up, just kind of pull the kid aside, talk to the student about it. I have to go to IEP [Individualized Education Plan] meetings for a lot of my students, so this could also be something done there. I think that I would, I would never think of time as a restraint in this. I think you could probably do the whole thing in like 5/10 minutes, if you had to. For these teachers, making the time to talk to students was an important behavior that they were willing and interested in adopting. It is possible, perhaps, that this willingness came from an intrinsic motivation to equitably teach disabled students, which has emerged in prior research in

I feel like I would make time. Yeah, I would, either at the beginning of class, during

Despite the positive perceptions toward this worksheet, two participants suggested that there was limited practicality for its utilization and indicated that they would not have time to meet with a student. For example, Christina indicated that while it might be useful for IEP meetings, it likely wouldn't be for PE teachers themselves:

this area of inquiry (Hersman & Hodge, 2010).

it would be hard for us [PE teachers] to do, just because our schedule doesn't permit us a lot of extra time. But this is something that could definitely be done with a student. Now, I'm gonna be completely honest. This is probably something that wouldn't be done by us as a PE educator teacher, this is something that will probably be done by our Admin staff that we have.

While this teacher noted the importance and value of the worksheet, the practicality of collaborating with the student was not realistic from her viewpoint. Similarly, Susan indicated that completing the worksheet with the student was not feasible, indicating that the teacher could do their part, and the student could provide input separately with their case manager. Susan commented that, in her opinion and experience, teachers and students are not making curriculum or activity choices, stating:

We're not choosing the activity. We have a curriculum that is given to us, so that students are not going to get to choose the activity. If I have a blind student in my class, they are not going to get to tell me what activity they choose to do. Those are already set. I can accommodate that student in that activity. But it says chosen activity accommodations, our students go don't get to choose activities.

She further noted, "you can't always accommodate", when discussing the needs of students and the charge for teachers to be flexible to those needs. These quotes may be reflective of a general mindset of PE teachers and their unwillingness to accommodate (Haegele & Buckley, 2019; Haegele et al., 2021) or be open to change (Petrie et al., 2018) to ensure the success of disabled students within their classes. This unwillingness to change may be related to teachers' general perceptions toward the capabilities of blind students within their classes. This was additionally highlighted by Susan, who noted:

I think that it's hugely important that you try to include these students in regular classes rather than adaptive, if you can, and of course it depends on your level of your class. For

instance, I have a ninth-grade class that these blind students could very easily be in there accommodated with our curriculum there and then I have an elective class, which is juniors and seniors and our level of what we do daily is pretty high. It would be difficult to accommodate a blind student in that class without it hindering the rest of the class, because of me having to accommodate that one student. I would have 30 other students' kind of standing around chomping at the bits with 98%, 99% of them are males, and that would be difficult. I could accommodate a blind student in my ninth-grade class doing those same activities, because the level is lower and it's slower.

Here Susan clearly identified their views about blind students' abilities within classes, and their unwillingness to compromise the hypermasculine culture they support in PE to support those who cannot keep up. This finding should not be surprising, though, given that blind students themselves have previously identified that they perceive their teachers feel this way about them within their classes (Keene et al., 2023). For us, this is part of a larger problem that may not be able to be addressed by providing resources to PE teachers, and rather systemic changes would be needed to support blind or disabled students. This systemic issue was identified by Susan, who stated that:

Some teachers would not make the effort to accommodate. They dance to their own little deal, and they do what they want to do, and they don't follow the curriculum, they don't follow the rules, and they get away with it. And most of them are football coaches. I hate to say it, that's what their primary focus is on. And they don't, they're not worried about following the rules, so you could give it to them, but the only way in all my time of teaching that things get done is, parents, parents make stuff happen.

Reiterating concerns of students, parents, and other invested stakeholders, some PE teachers, as observed by Susan, do not have the willingness or desire to provide accommodations to disabled students and instead perpetuate masculine dominance within PE (Bourdieu, 2002) regardless of the negative experiences that may be therefore experienced by their students.

## **Reflection and Conclusions**

In this study, we shared resources and recommendations with PE teachers, co-constructed with blind adults to help enhance PE for blind youth, to explore their perceptions of usefulness, relevance, and practicality of the content. While many of the participants noted that the content was useful and relevant, an integral element to the likelihood that teachers will adopt the resource (Tristani et al., 2020), some mixed opinions were shared about their practicality given time constraints (Malm, 2020) and stressors (Hester et al., 2020) experienced by physical education teachers while teaching disabled students. It is our hope that resources, such as the one provided, can help address student needs and alleviate some of the demands and expectations for teachers (Hester et al., 2020; Robinson et al., 2023). Additionally, providing such resources may help minimize teachers feelings of isolation and being on their own to design and create lessons that integrate blind students in PE (Spicer & Robinson, 2021). It is important to note that despite teachers viewing the content as relevant, the existence and utilization of the resource does not necessarily mean blind students will feel included, accepted, or will have good experiences within PE. This resource is an early step to provide resources to try to help these experiences. However, we contest that continuing to involve students in their educational decisions is vital to take into account the integrity, autonomy, influence, and participation the individual experiences (Goodwin & Howe, 2016) and support their individual needs (Maher & Haegele, 2022). We must continue to reconceptualize how dominant perceptions, performance measures, and other

qualities are valued in physical education in order to redefine normative practices and ensure that practices are safe and accessible (Fitzgerald, 2005). Doing so must involve disabled individuals as knowers and collaborators within research (Peers, 2018) in order to ensure that such work is in the best interest of the individuals it aims to serve (Goodwin & Howe, 2016; Spencer & Molnár, 2022).

## References

- Adamson, B., Adamson, M., Clarke, C., Richardson, E. V., & Sydnor, S. (2022). Social justice through sport and exercise studies: A manifesto. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, 46(5), 407-444. https://doi.org/10.1177/01937235221099150
- Azzarito, L., & Ennis, C. D. (2003). A sense of connection: Toward social constructivist physical education. *Sport, Education and Society*, 8(2), 179-197. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573320309255
- Ball, L., Lieberman, L., Haibach-Beach, P., Perreault, M., & Tirone, K. (2022). Bullying in physical education of children and youth with visual impairments: A systematic review.
   British Journal of Visual Impairment, 40(3), 513-529.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/02646196211009927
- Ball, L., Lieberman, L. J., & Haibach-Beach, P. (2021). Check your fear at the door: Allowing students with disabilities the "dignity of risk" in physical education. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 92(6), 57-59.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2021.1936872
- Bertills, K., Granlund, M., Dahlström, Ö., & Augustine, L. (2018). Relationships between physical education (PE) teaching and student self-efficacy, aptitude to participate in PE and functional skills: With a special focus on students with disabilities. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 23(4), 387-401. https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2018.1441394
- Bogart, K. R., & Dunn, D. S. (2019). Ableism special issue introduction. *Journal of Social Issues*, 75(3), 650-664. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12354
- Bourdieu, P. (2002). Masculine domination. Stanford University Press.

- Brantlinger, E., Jimenez, R., Klingner, J., Pugach, M., & Richardson, V. (2005). Qualitative studies in special education. *Exceptional Children*, 71(2), 195-207. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440290507100205
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2022). Thematic analysis: A practical guide. Sage.
- Bredahl, A. M. (2013). Sitting and watching the others being active: The experienced difficulties in PE when having a disability. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 30(1), 40-58.
- Brian, A., & Haegele, J. A. (2014). Including students with visual impairments: Softball.

  \*\*JOPERD: The Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance, 85(3), 39-45.
- Eales, L., & Goodwin, D. L. (2022). Addressing trauma in adaptive physical activity: A call to reflection and action. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 39(2), 141-159. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2020-0129
- Fitzgerald, H. (2005). Still feeling like a spare piece of luggage? Embodied experiences of (dis)ability in physical education and school sport. *Physical Education & Sport Pedagogy*, 10(1), 41-59.
- Giese, M., & Ruin, S. (2018). Forgotten bodies an examination of physical education from the perspective of ableism. *Sport in Society*, 21(1), 152-165. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2016.1225857
- Goodwin, D., & Howe, P. D. (2016). Framing cross-cultural ethical practice in adapt[ive] physical activity. *Quest*, 68(1), 43-54. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2015.1117501
- Goodwin, D. L. (2020). Qualitative inquiry in adapted physical education. In J. A. Haegele, S. R. Hodge, & D. R. Shapiro (Eds.). In *Routledge handbook of adapted physical education* (pp. 163–182). Routledge.

- Goodwin, D. L., & Rossow-Kimball, B. (2012). Thinking ethically about professional practice in adapted physical activity. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 29(4), 295-309. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.29.4.295
- Grant, M. R., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2021). A conversation about rethinking criteria for qualitative and interpretive research: Quality as trustworthiness. *Journal of Urban Mathematics Education*, *14*(2), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.21423/jume-v14i2a403
- Haegele, J. A., Ball, L. E., Zhu, X., Keene, M. A., & Nowland, L. A. (2022). Absent, incapable, and "normal": Understanding the inclusiveness of visually impaired students' experiences in integrated physical education. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 39(4), 424-445. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2022-0105
- Haegele, J. A., & Buckley, M. (2019). Physical education experiences of Alaskan youths with visual impairments: A qualitative inquiry. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 113(1), 57-67. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482X18818614
- Haegele, J. A., Hodge, S. R., Zhu, X., Holland, S. K., & Wilson, W. J. (2020). Understanding the inclusiveness of integrated physical education from the perspectives of adults with visual impairments. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 37(2), 141-159.
  https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2019-0094
- Haegele, J. A., Kirk, T. N., Holland, S. K., & Zhu, X. (2021). 'The rest of the time I would just stand there and look stupid': Access in integrated physical education among adults with visual impairments. *Sport, Education and Society*, 26(8), 862-874. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2020.1805425

- Haegele, J. A., & Maher, A. J. (2023). Toward a conceptual understanding of inclusion as intersubjective experiences. *Educational Researcher*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x231176287
- Haegele, J. A., & Zhu, X. (2017). Experiences of individuals with visual impairments in integrated physical education: A retrospective study. *Research Quarterly for Exercise* and Sport, 88(4), 425-435. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2017.1346781
- Hersman, B. L., & Hodge, S. R. (2010). High school physical educators' beliefs about teaching differently abled students in an urban public school district. *Education and Urban Society*, 42(6), 730-757. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124510371038
- Hester, O. R., Bridges, S. A., & Rollins, L. H. (2020). 'Overworked and underappreciated':

  Special education teachers describe stress and attrition. *Teacher Development*, 24(3),
  348-365. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2020.1767189
- Holland, K., Haegele, J. A., & Zhu, X. (2020). "My eyes have nothing to do with how my legs move": Individuals with visual impairments' experiences with learning to run. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *37*(3), 253-269. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2019-0098
- Keene, M. A., Haegele, J. A., Ball, L. E., Nowland, L. A., & Zhu, X. (2023). Exploring blind and visually impaired students' views on how to improve physical education. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*. https://doi.org/10.1123/jtpe.2023-0013
- Kul, M., Yilmaz, S. H., & Yasartürk, F. (2018). An investigation of professional problems of physical education and sports teachers and effects of these problems on their performance and motivation. *Higher Education Studies*, 8(4), 23-34. https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v8n4p23

- Kuo, Y.-C., Kuo, Y.-T., & Tseng, H. (2024). Exploring the factors that influence k-12 teachers' use of open educational resources. *Education Sciences*, 14(3), 276. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci14030276
- Leyton-Román, M., Núñez, J. L., & Jiménez-Castuera, R. (2020). The importance of supporting student autonomy in physical education classes to improve intention to be physically active. *Sustainability*, *12*(10), 4251. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12104251
- Lieberman, L. J., Haibach, P., & Wagner, M. (2014). Let's play together: Sports equipment for children with and without visual impairments. *Palaestra*, 28(2), 13-15.
- Lieberman, L. J., Houston-Wilson, C., & Kozub, F. M. (2002). Perceived barriers to including students with visual impairments in general physical education. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *19*(3), 364. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.19.3.364
- Lieberman, L. J., Robinson, B. L., & Rollheiser, H. (2006). Youth with visual impairments:

  Experiences in general physical education. *RE:view: Rehabilitation and Education for Blindness and Visual Impairment*, *38*(1), 35-48. https://doi.org/10.3200/REVU.38.1.35-48
- Lieberman, L. J., Schedlin, H., & Pierce, T. (2009). Teaching jump rope to children with visual impairments. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 103(3), 173-178. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482X0910300306
- Lirgg, C. D., Gorman, D. R., Merrie, M. D., & Shewmake, C. (2017). Exploring challenges in teaching physical education to students with disabilities. *Palaestra*, *31*(2), 13-18.
- Maher, A. J., & Haegele, J. A. (2022). *Teaching disabled children in physical education:*(Dis)connections between research and practice. Routledge.

- Malm, B. (2020). On the complexities of educating student teachers: Teacher educators' views on contemporary challenges to their profession. *Journal of Education for Teaching:*International Research and Pedagogy, 46(3), 351-364.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/02607476.2020.1739514
- Maxwell, J. (2012). A realist approach for qualitative inquiry. Sage.
- Miyauchi, H. (2020). A systematic review on inclusive education of students with visual impairment. *Education Sciences*, 10(11), 346. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10110346
- Moore, E. W. G., & Fry, M. D. (2017). Physical education students' ownership, empowerment, and satisfaction with PE and physical activity. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 88(4), 468-478. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2017.1372557
- Nowland, L. A., & Haegele, J. A. (2023). The self-efficacy of physical education teachers to teach students with disabilities: A systematic review of literature. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 40(4), 758-780. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2022-0135
- Peers, D. (2018). Engaging axiology: Enabling meaningful transdisciplinary collaboration in adapted physical activity. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *35*(3), 267-284. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2017-0095
- Petrie, K., Devcich, J., & Fitzgerald, H. (2018). Working towards inclusive physical education in a primary school: 'Some days I just don't get it right'. *Physical Education & Sport Pedagogy*, 23(4), 345-357. https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2018.1441391
- Physical Activity Alliance. (2022). 2022 United States report card on physical activity.

  https://www.activehealthykids.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/US-report-card-short-form-2022.pdf

- Robinson, L. E., Valido, A., Drescher, A., Woolweaver, A. B., Espelage, D. L., LoMurray, S., Long, A. C. J., Wright, A. A., & Dailey, M. M. (2023). Teachers, stress, and the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative analysis. *School Mental Health*, *15*(1), 78-89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-022-09533-2
- Roulston, K. (2010). *Reflective interviewing: A guide to theory and practice*. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446288009
- Ruin, S., Giese, M., & Haegele, J. A. (2021). Fear or freedom? Visually impaired students' ambivalent perspectives on physical education. *British Journal of Visual Impairment*, 39(1), 20-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0264619620961813
- Shaw, R. M., Howe, J., Beazer, J., & Carr, T. (2020). Ethics and positionality in qualitative research with vulnerable and marginal groups. *Qualitative Research*, 20(3), 277-293. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119841839
- Shilcutt, J. B., Oliver, K. L., & Aranda, R. (2020). "I wish dance class never ended": An activist approach to teaching dance. *Journal of Dance Education*, 22(2), 108-118. https://doi.org/10.1080/15290824.2020.1791337
- Smyth, J. (2006). 'When students have power': Student engagement, student voice, and the possibilities for school reform around 'dropping out' of school. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 9(4), 285-298. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603120600894232
- Spencer, N. L. I., & Molnár, G. (2022). Whose knowledge counts? Examining paradigmatic trends in adapted physical activity research. *Quest*, 74(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2021.2021258

- Spicer, C., & Robinson, D. B. (2021). Alone in the gym: A review of literature related to physical education teachers and isolation. *Kinesiology Review*, *10*(1), 66-77. https://doi.org/10.1123/kr.2020-0024
- Stribing, A., Petersen, S., Lieberman, L., Beach, P. S., & Brian, A. (2019). Teaching strategies to improve object control development for children with visual impairments in physical education. *Palaestra*, 33(1), 34-39.
- Tristani, L., Tomasone, J., Fraser-Thomas, J., & Bassett-Gunter, R. (2020). Examining factors related to teachers' decisions to adopt teacher-training resources for inclusive physical education. *Canadian Journal of Education*, *43*(2), 368-396.
- Walseth, K., Engebretsen, B., & Elvebakk, L. (2018). Meaningful experiences in PE for all students: An activist research approach. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 23(3), 235-249. https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2018.1429590
- Yardley, L. (2000). Dilemmas in qualitative health research. *Psychology & Health*, *15*(2), 215. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870440008400302
- Yessick, A., & Haegele, J. A. (2019). 'Missed opportunities': Adults with visual impairments' reflections on the impact of physical education on current physical activity. *British Journal of Visual Impairment*, *37*(1), 40-49. https://doi.org/10.1177/0264619618814070
- Young, S. (2012). I'm not your inspiration, thank you very much.

  https://www.ted.com/talks/stella\_young\_i\_m\_not\_your\_inspiration\_thank\_you\_very\_mu
  ch?language=en

**Table 1. Participant Demographic Information** 

Pseudonym	Gender	Race/Ethnicity	Age	Years Teaching High School PE	Taught a Blind Student?	State
Amy	Woman	White	35	3	No	Massachusetts
Carter	Man	White	39	12	Yes	Illinois
Christina	Woman	White	36	2	No	Alabama
Doug	Man	White	54	4	Yes	Virginia
Elizabeth	Woman	White	29	7	Yes	New Jersey
James	Man Non-	White	42	16	No	Illinois
Jordan	Binary	White	26	3	Yes	Pennsylvania
Landon	Man	White	46	25	Yes	Virginia
Susan	Woman	White	58	30	Yes	Virginia

## **CHAPTER V: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS**

When reflecting about their physical education experiences, blind and visually impaired youth have largely reported them as negative, and that they include high incidences of bullying (Ball et al., 2022), feelings of exclusion (Haegele, Hodge, et al., 2020), and a lack of instruction (Holland et al., 2020) and adaptations (Bredahl, 2013). These negative experiences may contribute to a sedentary childhood and adulthood, as youth may not develop a positive relationship with physical activity (Miyauchi, 2020). Within PE, most strategies to teach blind and visually impaired youth have been constructed from the perspective of non-disabled individuals (Eales & Goodwin, 2022) and lacks input from blind and visually impaired individuals (Keene et al., 2023; Maher & Haegele, 2022). As such, most research within adapted physical activity and adapted PE has also failed to take into account the perspectives of the stakeholders researchers aim to represent (Spencer & Molnár, 2022). Thus, little is known, to date, about blind and visually impaired individuals' recommendations that may enhance PE experiences, and if such opinions are being taken into consideration (Keene et al., 2023; Peers, 2018). This dissertation aimed to construct a resource with blind young adults that would be useful and relevant for PE teachers to use to enhance PE experiences for blind students.

The purpose of the first manuscript was to describe the experiences of co-constructing resources and recommendations for PE Teachers, with blind individuals as research partners, aimed to enhance PE for blind students. A participatory research methodology was used to help amplify the voices of blind individuals and involve them as research partners in co-constructing such resources. Four blind young adults served as research partners within the project. The project meetings, consisting of 15 meetings over 19 weeks and two stages, took place entirely on Zoom. Stage one consisted of four meetings and focused on exploring the needs of the partners

and their experiences and opinions for improving PE for future generations. Stage two consisted of 11 meetings and focused on constructing the resources and recommendations to provide to PE teachers. A constant-comparative technique was used throughout to analyze all meeting transcriptions to help compare, keep track of, and reflect on all ideas. Three themes were constructed based on the analysis: *Awareness, Accessibility,* and *Generalizability that Fosters Individuality*. In alignment with Fitzgerald et al. (2021), we used this manuscript to expose the interworking of this participatory project to paint a picture of the groups' experience with the process.

This project began without a clear vision for how the project would take shape, but hopeful that the research partners would have ideas and suggestions and lead the project in the ways they thought best based on their personal opinions and lived experiences, deepening the collaboration (Muller-Schoof et al., 2023). Additionally, we attempted to deviate from cultural norms, such as providing information about the needs for teachers to consider student feelings, that may have perpetuated unwritten exclusionary practices within PE (Kristén et al., 2022). Each meeting brought about new suggestions and ideas, shaping the product in ways that the group thought beneficial for blind students and PE teachers of blind students. Some challenges faced were the fear that this would become a resource of ideologies similar to those constructed by non-disabled, sighted individuals, and creating a novel resource with limited participatory research experience. In response to such challenges, [Author 1] reflected upon the need to examine whose knowledge is privileged (Spencer & Molnár, 2022) and asked questions of the partners to gain a deeper understanding of their beliefs and opinions. Within the project and reflection of the meetings, it was noted that collaboration was key (Bergold & Thomas, 2012). A

major strength of the three participating partners was their willingness to challenge narratives, assumptions, [Author 1], and each other.

In an attempt to produce research that is mindful and meaningful for the communities research aims to represent (Peers, 2018) and more positively support youth through research (Fitzgerald et al., 2021), study one presents an attempt to move towards methodologies that challenge current research and prioritizes real-world impact (Vaughn & Jacquez, 2020). We must continue to challenge current practices and provide opportunity for disabled individuals to infiltrate and positively engage with research (Fitzgerald et al., 2021), ideally helping to mitigate prior research that has been poor and tokenistic (Smith et al., 2022). In alignment with suggestions from Fitzgerald et al. (2021), we encourage researchers to be transparent about their experiences with participatory research, ideally adding to the conversation and approaching participatory research with greater scrutiny and awareness. Moving forward, in order to disseminate the product, non-disabled scholars, practitioners, and others will need to be employed in order for the resource to reach as many individuals as possible, as the journals in which the research from this study will be published, oftentimes do not reach the individuals which it aims to affect (Chen et al., 2010). In this project, listening to, respecting, and amplifying the voices of research partners to help develop products to enhance pedagogical practices for future blind students was central to our goals, objectives, and ideals.

To help continue the conceptual development of the product co-constructed in study one, the purpose of the second study was to examine PE teachers' perspectives on the usefulness, relevance, and practicality of resources and recommendations co-constructed with blind young adults to help enhance PE for blind students. For this study, nine high school PE teachers were interviewed, using an interpretivist research paradigm, to inquire about the usefulness, relevance,

and practicality of using the resource within their teaching practices, which might alleviate some of the concerns and stress teachers note experiencing. Reflexive thematic analysis guided the data analysis, and three themes were constructed: (a) "You're gonna have to get to know the person": Awareness of needs, (b) "For a teacher that's on their own...this is phenomenal": More than a planning tool, and (c) "I should meet with the student": Conversations for student input.

Within the first theme, the PE teachers expressed that the content made them aware of how blind students may feel or what they might be concerned with during PE. It was noted that this awareness would encourage reflection of their current and future practices and was thought to be a good resource not only for PE teachers but also parents, paraprofessionals, and administrators. The information reinforced the importance of understanding how concepts such as student insecurities, advocacy, communication, and participation are relevant to most, if not all, students. In the second theme, which discussed the resources being more than a planning tool, the participants were particularly favorable of sections with links to purchase equipment, accessible fitness websites and apps, techniques for adapting, and funding options, which was viewed as informative and helpful. The teachers referenced that this section could help reduce the need for them to spend time researching options for accommodations, modifications, and equipment, which have been areas previously identified as barriers to teaching disabled students (Lieberman et al., 2002; Lirgg et al., 2017). The teachers viewed the content as more than just a planning tool, and rather as a resource that could help remediate some of the ill-preparedness of teachers to teach blind students in integrated PE classes (Haegele et al., 2021). In the third theme, the Collaborative Planning Tool for PE Accommodations, was highlighted. Most of the participants provided support for this particular element, and emphasized that elevation of student voice, autonomy, and collaboration could result from it. It was suggested that by using

this tool, students may gain further agency, which has been shown to support more meaningful and enjoyable educational experiences (Leyton-Román et al., 2020; Shilcutt et al., 2020; Walseth et al., 2018). Despite mostly positive perceptions toward the worksheet, two participants suggested that there was limited practicality for its utilization and indicated that they would not have time to meet with a student. This may be reflective of a general mindset of PE teachers, and their unwillingness to accommodate (Haegele & Buckley, 2019; Haegele et al., 2021), or be open to change (Petrie et al., 2018) to ensure the success of disabled students within their classes. For us, this is part of a larger problem that may not be able to be addressed by providing resources to PE teachers, and rather systemic changes would be needed to support blind or disabled students.

It is our hope that resources, such as the one provided, can help address meeting student needs and alleviate some of the demands and expectations for teachers (Hester et al., 2020; Robinson et al., 2023). Additionally, providing such resources may help minimize teachers' feelings of isolation and being on their own to design and create lessons that integrate blind students in PE (Spicer & Robinson, 2021). It is important to note that despite teachers viewing the resource as relevant, the existence and utilization of the resource does not necessarily mean blind students will feel included, accepted, or will have good experiences within PE. This resource is an early step to provide resources to try to help these experiences. However, we contest that continuing to involve students in their educational decisions is vital to take into account the integrity, autonomy, influence, and participation the individual experiences (Goodwin & Howe, 2016) and support their individual needs (Maher & Haegele, 2022). We must continue to reconceptualize how dominant perceptions, performance measures, and other qualities are valued in physical education in order to redefine normative practices and ensure that practices are safe and accessible (Fitzgerald, 2005). Doing so must involve disabled individuals

as knowers and collaborators within research (Peers, 2018) in order to ensure that such work is in the best interest of the individuals it aims to serve (Goodwin & Howe, 2016; Spencer & Molnár, 2022).

The first study posited strategies and suggestions endorsed by blind individuals who recently graduated from high school, that they felt would have led to a more positive integrated PE experience [i.e., how should we teach, what we should teach]. Using the strategies created within this study, PE teachers can aim to provide experiences to current and future blind students that may make PE a more beneficial and positive experience. These opinions provide insight into what educational content might influence a higher desire to participate in physical activity during and after leaving the school system. Physical education teachers can use the information constructed from the study to better inform their teaching practices that is beneficial to blind individuals, which may help them successfully navigate physical activity and other healthy lifestyle choices. The second study examined the usefulness, relevance, and clarity of the online resource from the perception of current high school PE teachers. Their feedback was used to edit and improve the content for the online resource in order to make it more useable, relatable, and helpful for PE teachers to implement within their class.

## REFERENCES

- Adamson, B., Adamson, M., Clarke, C., Richardson, E. V., & Sydnor, S. (2022). Social justice through sport and exercise studies: A manifesto. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, 46(5), 407-444. https://doi.org/10.1177/01937235221099150
- Ahmadi, M. N., Inan-Eroglu, E., Mishra, G. D., Salis, A., & Stamatakis, E. (2023). Associations of changes in physical activity and diet with incident obesity and changes in adiposity:

  Longitudinal findings from the UK Biobank. *Preventive Medicine: An International Journal Devoted to Practice and Theory*, *168*, 1-10.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2023.107435
- Anderson, R., Warren, N., Misajon, R., & Lee, S. (2019). You need the more relaxed side, but you also need the adrenaline: promoting physical health as perceived by youth with vision impairment. *Disability Rehabilitation*, 42(6), 841-848. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2018.1510552
- Arufe-Giráldez, V., Sanmiguel-Rodríguez, A., Ramos-Álvarez, O., & Navarro-Patón, R. (2023).

  News of the pedagogical models in physical education; A quick review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(3), 2586.

  https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20032586
- Aslan, U. B., Calik, B. B., & Kitiş, A. (2012). The effect of gender and level of vision on the physical activity level of children and adolescents with visual impairment. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 33(6), 1799-1804. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2012.05.005
- Azzarito, L., & Ennis, C. D. (2003). A sense of connection: Toward social constructivist physical education. *Sport, Education and Society*, 8(2), 179-197. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573320309255

- Ball, L., Lieberman, L., Haibach-Beach, P., Perreault, M., & Tirone, K. (2022). Bullying in physical education of children and youth with visual impairments: A systematic review. *British Journal of Visual Impairment*, 40(3), 513-529. https://doi.org/10.1177/02646196211009927
- Ball, L., Lieberman, L. J., & Haibach-Beach, P. (2021). Check your fear at the door: Allowing students with disabilities the "dignity of risk" in physical education. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 92(6), 57-59.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2021.1936872
- Barbosa Porcellis da Silva, R., Marques, A. C., & Reichert, F. F. (2018). Objectively measured physical activity in Brazilians with visual impairment: description and associated factors. 

  \*Disability Rehabilitation\*, 40(18), 2131-2137.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2017.1327984
- Barkoukis, V., Chatzisarantis, N., & Hagger, M. S. (2021). Effects of a school-based intervention on motivation for out-of-school physical activity participation. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 92(3), 477-491. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2020.1751029
- Batista, M. B., Romanzini, C. L. P., Barbosa, C. C. L., Blasquez Shigaki, G., Romanzini, M., & Ronque, E. R. V. (2019). Participation in sports in childhood and adolescence and physical activity in adulthood: A systematic review. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *37*(19), 2253-2262. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2019.1627696
- Baum, F., MacDougall, C., & Smith, D. (2006). Participatory action research. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 60(10), 854-857. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2004.028662

- Beni, S., Fletcher, T., & Ní Chróinín, D. (2017). Meaningful experiences in physical education and youth sport: a review of the literature. *Quest*, 69(3), 291-312. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2016.1224192
- Bergold, J., & Thomas, S. (2012). Participatory research methods: A methodological approach in motion. *Partizipative Forschungsmethoden: Ein methodischer Ansatz in Bewegung*, 37(4), 191-222.
- Bertills, K., Granlund, M., Dahlström, Ö., & Augustine, L. (2018). Relationships between physical education (PE) teaching and student self-efficacy, aptitude to participate in PE and functional skills: With a special focus on students with disabilities. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 23(4), 387-401. https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2018.1441394
- Block, M. E., & Obrusnikova, I. (2007). Inclusion in physical education: A review of the literature from 1995-2005. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 24(2), 103-124. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.24.2.103
- Boeije, H. (2002). A purposeful approach to the constant comparative method in the analysis of qualitative interviews. *Quality & Quantity*, *36*(4), 391-409. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020909529486
- Bogart, K. R., & Dunn, D. S. (2019). Ableism special issue introduction. *Journal of Social Issues*, 75(3), 650-664. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12354
- Bourdieu, P. (2002). Masculine domination. Stanford University Press.
- Brantlinger, E., Jimenez, R., Klingner, J., Pugach, M., & Richardson, V. (2005). Qualitative studies in special education. *Exceptional Children*, 71(2), 195-207. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440290507100205

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2022). Thematic analysis: A practical guide. Sage.
- Bredahl, A. M. (2013). Sitting and watching the others being active: The experienced difficulties in PE when having a disability. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 30(1), 40-58.
- Brian, A., & Haegele, J. A. (2014). Including students with visual impairments: Softball.

  \*\*JOPERD: The Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance, 85(3), 39-45.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). *Increasing physical education and physical activity: A framework for schools*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/physicalactivity/pdf/2019\_04\_25\_PE-PA-Framework\_508tagged.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). *Benefits of school-based physical activity*.

  U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

  https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/physicalactivity/pdf/Benefits-of-PAInfographic DRAFT v4.pdf
- Charles, O. O., & Chinaza, N. K. (2018). Barriers and facilitators of physical activity participation among youth with visual and hearing impairments in Nigeria: A qualitative study. *Palaestra*, 32(3), 21-27.
- Charlton, J. I. (1998). *Nothing about us without us: Disability oppression and empowerment*.

  University of California Press.
- Chen, P. G., Diaz, N., Lucas, G., & Rosenthal, M. S. (2010). Dissemination of results in community-based participatory research. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 39(4), 372-378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2010.05.021
- Coffey, R., Haegele, J. A., Zhu, X., & Bobzien, J. (2020). Examining physical education experiences at integrated and residential schools for students with visual impairments.

- *British Journal of Visual Impairment*, *38*(3), 312-323. https://doi.org/10.1177/0264619620911445
- Colabianchi, N., Griffin, J. L., McIver, K. L., Dowda, M., & Pate, R. R. (2016). Where are children active and does it matter for physical activity? A latent transition analysis. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 13(12), 1294-1300.
- Cook-Sather, A. (2002). Authorizing students' perspectives: Toward trust, dialogue, and change in education. *Educational Researcher*, *31*(4), 3-14.
- D'Angelantonio, M., Collins, J. L., Manchia, M., Baldessarini, R. J., & Tondo, L. (2022).

  Physical exercise, depression, and anxiety in 2190 affective disorder subjects. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 309, 172-177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.04.079
- Deschenes, S., Cuban, L., & Tyack, D. (2001). Mismatch: Historical perspectives on schools and students who don't fit them. *Teachers College Record*, *103*(4), 525-547. https://doi.org/10.1111/0161-4681.00126
- Eales, L., & Goodwin, D. L. (2022). Addressing trauma in adaptive physical activity: A call to reflection and action. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 39(2), 141-159. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2020-0129
- Eckhoff, A. (2019). Chapter 1: Conceptual and ethical considerations for participatory work. In A. Eckhoff (Ed.), *Participatory Research with Young Children* (pp. 3-20). Springer Nature Switzerland.
- Eddolls, W. T. B., McNarry, M. A., Lester, L., Winn, C. O. N., Stratton, G., & Mackintosh, K. A. (2018). The association between physical activity, fitness and body mass index on mental well-being and quality of life in adolescents. *Quality of Life Research*, 27(9), 2313-2320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-018-1915-3

- Ferrer, P., Iglesia, I., Muniz-Pardos, B., Miguel-Berges, M. L., Flores-Barrantes, P., Gomez-Bruton, A., Moreno, L. A., & Rodríguez, G. (2022). Is it important to achieve physical activity recommendations at early stages of life to improve bone health? *Osteoporosis International*, 33(5), 1017-1026. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00198-021-06256-z
- Fitzgerald, H. (2005). Still feeling like a spare piece of luggage? Embodied experiences of (dis)ability in physical education and school sport. *Physical Education & Sport Pedagogy*, 10(1), 41-59.
- Fitzgerald, H., Stride, A., & Enright, E. (2021). Messy methods: Making sense of participatory research with young people in PE and sport. *European Physical Education Review*, 27(3), 421-435. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356336x20953462
- Freeman, M. (2017). Dialectical thinking. In M. Freeman (Ed.), *Modes of thinking for qualitative* data analysis. Routledge.
- Gamoran, A., Secada, W. G., & Marrett, C. B. (2000). Chapter 2: The organizational context of teaching and learning: Changing theoretical perspectives. In M. T. Hallinan (Ed.), *Handbook of the Sociology of Education* (pp. 37-63). Springer Nature / Books.
- García-Garcés, L., Sánchez-López, M. I., Cano, S. L., Meliá, Y. C., Marqués-Azcona, D., Biviá-Roig, G., Lisón, J. F., & Peyró-Gregori, L. (2021). The short and long-term effects of aerobic, strength, or mixed exercise programs on schizophrenia symptomatology.
  Scientific Reports, 11(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-03761-3
- Giese, M., & Ruin, S. (2018). Forgotten bodies an examination of physical education from the perspective of ableism. *Sport in Society*, 21(1), 152-165. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2016.1225857

- Giese, M., Ruin, S., Baumgärtner, J., & Haegele, J. A. (2021). "... and after that came me".

  Subjective constructions of social hierarchy in physical education classes among youth with visual impairments in Germany. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(20), 10946. https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/18/20/10946
- Gill, D. L., Hammond, C. C., Reifsteck, E. J., Jehu, C. M., Williams, R. A., Adams, M. M., Lange, E. H., Becofsky, K., Rodriguez, E., & Shang, Y. T. (2013). Physical activity and quality of life. *Journal of Preventive Medicine and Public Health*, 46 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), S28-34. https://doi.org/10.3961/jpmph.2013.46.S.S28
- Glaser, B. G. (1965). The constant comparative method of qualitative analysis. *Social Problems*, 12(4), 436-445. https://doi.org/10.2307/798843
- Goodley, D., & Lawthom, R. (2019). Critical disability studies, Brexit and Trump: A time of neoliberal–ableism. *Rethinking History*, 23(2), 233-251. https://doi.org/10.1080/13642529.2019.1607476
- Goodwin, D., & Howe, P. D. (2016). Framing cross-cultural ethical practice in adapt[ive] physical activity. *Quest*, 68(1), 43-54. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2015.1117501
- Goodwin, D. L. (2020). Qualitative inquiry in adapted physical education. In J. A. Haegele, S. R. Hodge, & D. R. Shapiro (Eds.). In *Routledge handbook of adapted physical education* (pp. 163–182). Routledge.
- Goodwin, D. L., & Rossow-Kimball, B. (2012). Thinking ethically about professional practice in adapted physical activity. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 29(4), 295-309. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.29.4.295

- Grant, M. R., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2021). A conversation about rethinking criteria for qualitative and interpretive research: Quality as trustworthiness. *Journal of Urban Mathematics Education*, *14*(2), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.21423/jume-v14i2a403
- Greguol, M., Gobbi, E., & Carraro, A. (2015). Physical activity practice among children and adolescents with visual impairment--influence of parental support and perceived barriers.

  \*Disability and Rehabilitation, 37(4), 327-330.\*

  https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2014.918194
- Gür, K., Beyhan, A., Aktan, Ç., Akbulut, E., Sezer, M., Çelik, Ş., & Çakıcı, T. (2020). Physical activity levels, enjoyment, and perceptions of barriers to physical activity of adolescents with visual impairments in Turkey. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 114(6), 502-515. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482X20972206
- Haegele, J. A., Ball, L. E., Zhu, X., Keene, M. A., & Nowland, L. A. (2022). Absent, incapable, and "normal": Understanding the inclusiveness of visually impaired students' experiences in integrated physical education. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 39(4), 424-445. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2022-0105
- Haegele, J. A., & Buckley, M. (2019). Physical education experiences of Alaskan youths with visual impairments: A qualitative inquiry. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 113(1), 57-67. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482X18818614
- Haegele, J. A., & Hodge, S. (2016). Disability discourse: Overview and critiques of the medical and social models. *Quest*, 68(2), 193-206. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2016.1143849
- Haegele, J. A., Hodge, S. R., Zhu, X., Holland, S. K., & Wilson, W. J. (2020). Understanding the inclusiveness of integrated physical education from the perspectives of adults with visual

- impairments. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *37*(2), 141-159. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2019-0094
- Haegele, J. A., Kirk, T. N., Holland, S. K., & Zhu, X. (2021). 'The rest of the time I would just stand there and look stupid': Access in integrated physical education among adults with visual impairments. *Sport, Education and Society*, 26(8), 862-874. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2020.1805425
- Haegele, J. A., & Maher, A. J. (2023). Toward a conceptual understanding of inclusion as intersubjective experiences. *Educational Researcher*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x231176287
- Haegele, J. A., & Zhu, X. (2017). Experiences of individuals with visual impairments in integrated physical education: A retrospective study. *Research Quarterly for Exercise* and Sport, 88(4), 425-435. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2017.1346781
- Haegele, J. A., Zhu, X., Healy, S., & Patterson, F. (2020). Proportions of youth with visual impairments meeting 24-hr movement guidelines. *Child Care Health Development*, 46(3), 345-351. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12747
- Haegele, J. A., Zhu, X., & Kirk, T. N. (2018). Weekday physical activity and health-related fitness of youths with visual impairments and those with autism spectrum disorder and visual impairments. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 112(4), 372-384.
- Hall, M. C. (2019). Critical disability theory. *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2019/entries/disability-critical
- Hersman, B. L., & Hodge, S. R. (2010). High school physical educators' beliefs about teaching differently abled students in an urban public school district. *Education and Urban Society*, 42(6), 730-757. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124510371038

- Hester, O. R., Bridges, S. A., & Rollins, L. H. (2020). 'Overworked and underappreciated':

  Special education teachers describe stress and attrition. *Teacher Development*, 24(3),
  348-365. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2020.1767189
- Holbrook, E. A., Kang, M., & Morgan, D. W. (2013). Acquiring a stable estimate of physical activity in adults with visual impairment. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *30*(1), 59-69.
- Holland, K., Haegele, J. A., & Zhu, X. (2020). "My eyes have nothing to do with how my legs move": Individuals with visual impairments' experiences with learning to run. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *37*(3), 253-269. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2019-0098
- Hopkins, W. G., Gaeta, H., Thomas, A. C., & McN. Hill, P. (1987). Physical fitness of blind and sighted children. *European Journal of Applied Physiology & Occupational Physiology*, 56(1), 69-73.
- Hosking, D. L. (2008). *Critical disability theory*. 4th Biennial Disability Studies Conference at Lancaster University,

  https://www.lancaster.ac.uk/fass/events/disabilityconference\_archive/2008/papers/hosking2008.pdf
- Hou, M., Herold, F., Healy, S., Haegele, J., Block, M., Ludyga, S., Schuch, F., Ng, J., Gerber, M., Hossain, M. M., Taylor, A., Van Damme, T., Mueller, N., Kramer, A., & Zou, L. (2023). 24-Hour movement behaviors among visually impaired US children and adolescents. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 25, 100545.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2023.100545

- Houwen, S., Hartman, E., & Visscher, C. (2009). Physical activity and motor skills in children with and without visual impairments. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 41(1), 103-109. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e318183389d
- Howie, E. K., McVeigh, J. A., Smith, A. J., Zabatiero, J., Bucks, R. S., Mori, T. A., Beilin, L. J., & Straker, L. M. (2020). Physical activity trajectories from childhood to late adolescence and their implications for health in young adulthood. *Preventive Medicine: An International Journal Devoted to Practice and Theory*, 139, 106224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106224
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act [IDEA]. (2004). https://sites.ed.gov/idea/about-idea/
  Industries for the Blind and Visually Impaired. (2023). *Blind vs. visually impaired: What's the*difference? https://ibvi.org/blog/blind-vs-visually-impaired-whats-thedifference/#:~:text=The%20definition%20of%20visual%20impairment,%2C%20disease
  %20or%20genetic%20condition
- Institute of Development Studies. (n.d.). *Participatory methods*. https://www.participatorymethods.org/task/facilitate
- Jaarsma, E. A., Dekker, R., Koopmans, S. A., Dijkstra, P. U., & Geertzen, J. H. B. (2014).

  Barriers to and facilitators of sports participation in people with visual impairments.

  Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly, 31(3), 240-264. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2013-0119
- Katzmarzyk, P. T., Powell, K. E., Jakicic, J. M., Troiano, R. P., Piercy, K., Tennant, B., &
  Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory, C. (2019). Sedentary behavior and health: Update
  from the 2018 physical activity guidelines advisory committee. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 51(6), 1227-1241. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0000000000001935

- Keene, M. A., Haegele, J. A., Ball, L. E., Nowland, L. A., & Zhu, X. (2023). Exploring blind and visually impaired students' views on how to improve physical education. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*. https://doi.org/10.1123/jtpe.2023-0013
- Kirk, T. N., Haegele, J. A., & Zhu, X. (2021). Barriers, expectancy-value beliefs, and physical activity engagement among adults with visual impairments. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 38(2), 286-306. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2019-0196
- Kozub, F. M., & Oh, H. (2004). An exploratory study of physical activity levels in children and adolescents with visual impairments. *Clinical Kinesiology: Journal of the American Kinesiotherapy Association*, 1-7.
- Kristén, L., Klingvall, B., & Ring, M. (2022). The co-development of inclusive tools in physical education for pupils with and without disabilities. *Sport in Society*, 25(5), 1000-1016. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2020.1819243
- Kul, M., Yilmaz, S. H., & Yasartürk, F. (2018). An investigation of professional problems of physical education and sports teachers and effects of these problems on their performance and motivation. *Higher Education Studies*, 8(4), 23-34. https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v8n4p23
- Kuo, Y.-C., Kuo, Y.-T., & Tseng, H. (2024). Exploring the factors that influence k-12 teachers' use of open educational resources. *Education Sciences*, 14(3), 276. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci14030276
- Łabudzki, J., & Tasiemski, T. (2013). Physical activity and life satisfaction in blind and visually impaired individuals. *Human Movement*, *14*(3). https://doi.org/10.2478/humo-2013-0025

- Leyton-Román, M., Núñez, J. L., & Jiménez-Castuera, R. (2020). The importance of supporting student autonomy in physical education classes to improve intention to be physically active. *Sustainability*, *12*(10), 4251. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12104251
- Lieberman, L. J., Haibach, P., & Wagner, M. (2014). Let's play together: Sports equipment for children with and without visual impairments. *Palaestra*, 28(2), 13-15.
- Lieberman, L. J., & Houston-Wilson, C. (1999). Overcoming the barriers to including students with visual impairments and deaf-blindness in physical education. *RE:view:*\*Rehabilitation and Education for Blindness and Visual Impairment, 31(3), 129-138.
- Lieberman, L. J., Houston-Wilson, C., & Kozub, F. M. (2002). Perceived barriers to including students with visual impairments in general physical education. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *19*(3), 364. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.19.3.364
- Lieberman, L. J., Lepore, M., Lepore-Stevens, M., & Ball, L. (2019). Physical education for children with visual impairment or blindness. *JOPERD: The Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 90(1), 30-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2018.1535340
- Lieberman, L. J., Robinson, B. L., & Rollheiser, H. (2006). Youth with visual impairments:

  Experiences in general physical education. *RE:view: Rehabilitation and Education for Blindness and Visual Impairment*, *38*(1), 35-48. https://doi.org/10.3200/REVU.38.1.35-48
- Lieberman, L. J., Schedlin, H., & Pierce, T. (2009). Teaching jump rope to children with visual impairments. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 103(3), 173-178. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482X0910300306

- Lilia, K., Souheir, B., Mohammed, K., Eddine, R. D., & Asma, I. (2023). The effect of physical activity on the mental health of the individual. *HIV Nursing*, 23(3), 243-246. https://doi.org/10.31838/hiv23.03.30
- Lirgg, C. D., Gorman, D. R., Merrie, M. D., & Shewmake, C. (2017). Exploring challenges in teaching physical education to students with disabilities. *Palaestra*, *31*(2), 13-18.
- Lynch, S., Sutherland, S., & Walton-Fisette, J. (2020). The A–Z of social justice physical education: Part 1. *JOPERD: The Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 91(4), 8-13.
- MacDonald, C. (2012). Understanding participatory action research: A qualitative research methodology option. *Canadian Journal of Action Research*, *13*(2), 34-50.
- Maher, A. J., & Haegele, J. A. (2022). *Teaching disabled children in physical education:*(Dis)connections between research and practice. Routledge.
- Malm, B. (2020). On the complexities of educating student teachers: Teacher educators' views on contemporary challenges to their profession. *Journal of Education for Teaching: International Research and Pedagogy*, 46(3), 351-364.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/02607476.2020.1739514
- Marmeleira, J., Laranjo, L., Marques, O., & Pereira, C. (2014). Physical activity patterns in adults who are blind as assessed by accelerometry. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 31(3), 283-296. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2013-0039
- Martin, J. J. (2013). Benefits and barriers to physical activity for individuals with disabilities: A social-relational model of disability perspective. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *35*(24), 2030-2037. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2013.802377

- Martins, J., Rodrigues, A., Marques, A., Cale, L., & Carreiro da Costa, F. (2021). Adolescents' experiences and perspectives on physical activity and friend influences over time.

  \*Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 92(3), 399-410.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2020.1739607
- Maxwell, J. (2012). A realist approach for qualitative inquiry. Sage.
- Meekosha, H., & Shuttleworth, R. (2009). What's so 'critical' about critical disability studies?

  Australian Journal of Human Rights, 15(1), 47-75.
- Miyauchi, H. (2020). A systematic review on inclusive education of students with visual impairment. *Education Sciences*, 10(11), 346. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10110346
- Moore, E. W. G., & Fry, M. D. (2017). Physical education students' ownership, empowerment, and satisfaction with PE and physical activity. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 88(4), 468-478. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2017.1372557
- Muller, C., Otto, B., Sawitzki, V., Kanagalingam, P., Scherer, J. S., & Lindberg, S. (2021). Short breaks at school: Effects of a physical activity and a mindfulness intervention on children's attention, reading comprehension, and self-esteem. *Trends Neuroscience Education*, 25, 100-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tine.2021.100160
- Muller-Schoof, I. J. M., Verbiest, M. E. A., Snoeren, M., & Luijkx, K. G. (2023). Lessons learned from co-designing educational programs for student and practicing healthcare professionals in nursing homes: A participatory qualitative study. *Journal of Participatory Research Methods*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.35844/001c.57529
- Murris, K. (2013). The epistemic challenge of hearing child's voice. *Studies in Philosophy and Education*, 32(3), 245-259. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11217-012-9349-9

- Nowland, L. A., & Haegele, J. A. (2023). The self-efficacy of physical education teachers to teach students with disabilities: A systematic review of literature. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 40(4), 758-780. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2022-0135
- Oliver, K. L., & Kirk, D. (2016). Towards an activist approach to research and advocacy for girls and physical education. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 21(3), 313-327. https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2014.895803
- Oliver, M. (2002). Emancipatory research: A vehicle for social transformation or policy development. Using Emancipatory Methodologies in Disability Research: First Annual Disability Research Seminar, Dublin Airport.
- Pain, R., Whitman, G., & Milledge, D. (2011). Participatory action research toolkit: An introduction to using PAR as an approach to learning, research and action. https://www.durham.ac.uk/media/durham-university/research-/research-centres/social-justice-amp-community-action-centre-for/documents/toolkits-guides-and-case-studies/Participatory-Action-Research-Toolkit.pdf
- Peers, D. (2018). Engaging axiology: Enabling meaningful transdisciplinary collaboration in adapted physical activity. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *35*(3), 267-284. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2017-0095
- Peers, D., Spencer-Cavaliere, N., & Eales, L. (2014). Say what you mean: rethinking disability language in Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 31(3), 265-282. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2013-0091
- Peña, E. V., Stapleton, L. D., & Schaffer, L. M. (2016). Critical perspectives on disability identity. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2016(154), 85-96. https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.20177

- Petrie, K., Devcich, J., & Fitzgerald, H. (2018). Working towards inclusive physical education in a primary school: 'Some days I just don't get it right'. *Physical Education & Sport Pedagogy*, 23(4), 345-357. https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2018.1441391
- Physical Activity Alliance. (2022). 2022 United States report card on physical activity.

  https://www.activehealthykids.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/US-report-card-short-form-2022.pdf
- Robinson, L. E., Valido, A., Drescher, A., Woolweaver, A. B., Espelage, D. L., LoMurray, S., Long, A. C. J., Wright, A. A., & Dailey, M. M. (2023). Teachers, stress, and the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative analysis. *School Mental Health*, *15*(1), 78-89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-022-09533-2
- Rocco, T. S. (2005). From disability studies to critical race theory: Working towards critical disability theory. Adult Education Research Conference,

  https://newprairiepress.org/aerc/2005/papers/17
- Rodrigues, F., Monteiro, D., & Lopes, V. P. (2023). The mediation role of perceived benefits and barriers in the relationship between support provided by significant others and physical activity of adolescents. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *130*(2), 902-922. https://doi.org/10.1177/00315125231151780
- Ross, S. M., Haegele, J. A., Abrahamson, K., Schram, B. M., & Healy, S. (2022). US adults with visual impairments meeting 24-h movement guidelines: Updated national prevalence estimates. *Disability and Health Journal*, *15*(3), 101320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2022.101320
- Roulston, K. (2010). *Reflective interviewing: A guide to theory and practice*. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446288009

- Ruin, S., Giese, M., & Haegele, J. A. (2021). Fear or freedom? Visually impaired students' ambivalent perspectives on physical education. *British Journal of Visual Impairment*, 39(1), 20-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0264619620961813
- Saxton, M. (2018). Hard bodies: Exploring historical and cultural factors in disabled people's participation in exercise; Applying critical disability theory. *Sport in Society*, 21(1), 22-39.
- SHAPE America. (n.d.). What is PE? SHAPE America essential components

  https://www.shapeamerica.org/MemberPortal/publications/resources/teachingtools/teache
  rtoolbox/What\_Is\_Physical\_Education.aspx#:~:text=Physical%20education%20addresse
  s%20the%20three,4
- Shaw, R. M., Howe, J., Beazer, J., & Carr, T. (2020). Ethics and positionality in qualitative research with vulnerable and marginal groups. *Qualitative Research*, 20(3), 277-293. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119841839
- Shilcutt, J. B., Oliver, K. L., & Aranda, R. (2020). "I wish dance class never ended": An activist approach to teaching dance. *Journal of Dance Education*, 22(2), 108-118. https://doi.org/10.1080/15290824.2020.1791337
- Skrebutėnaitė, I. E., & Karanauskienė, D. (2019). Perceived physical activity benefits and barriers in sedentary adults. *Baltic Journal of Sport and Health Sciences*, 2(113). https://doi.org/10.33607/bjshs.v2i113.788
- Smith, B., Williams, O., & Bone, L. (2022). Co-production: A resource to guide co-producing research in the sport, exercise, and health sciences. *Qualitative Research in Sport*, *Exercise and Health*, 15(2), 159-187. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676x.2022.2052946

- Smyth, J. (2006). 'When students have power': Student engagement, student voice, and the possibilities for school reform around 'dropping out' of school. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 9(4), 285-298. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603120600894232
- Smyth, J., & McInerney, P. (2012). Sculpting a 'social space' for re-engaging disengaged 'disadvantaged' young people with learning. *Journal of Educational Administration and History*, 44(3), 187-201. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220620.2012.683390
- Spencer, N. L. I., & Molnár, G. (2022). Whose knowledge counts? Examining paradigmatic trends in adapted physical activity research. *Quest*, 74(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2021.2021258
- Spencer-Cavaliere, N., & Rintoul, M. A. (2012). Alienation in physical education from the perspectives of children. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, *31*(4), 344-361. https://doi.org/10.1123/jtpe.31.4.344
- Spencer-Cavaliere, N., & Watkinson, E. J. (2010). Inclusion understood from the perspectives of children with disability. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 27(4), 275-293. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.27.4.275
- Spicer, C., & Robinson, D. B. (2021). Alone in the gym: A review of literature related to physical education teachers and isolation. *Kinesiology Review*, *10*(1), 66-77. https://doi.org/10.1123/kr.2020-0024
- Stribing, A., Petersen, S., Lieberman, L., Beach, P. S., & Brian, A. (2019). Teaching strategies to improve object control development for children with visual impairments in physical education. *Palaestra*, 33(1), 34-39.

- Stuart, M. E., Lieberman, L., & Hand, K. E. (2006). Beliefs about physical activity among children who are visually impaired and their parents. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 100(4), 223-234.
- Tristani, L., Tomasone, J., Fraser-Thomas, J., & Bassett-Gunter, R. (2020). Examining factors related to teachers' decisions to adopt teacher-training resources for inclusive physical education. *Canadian Journal of Education*, *43*(2), 368-396.
- United States Association of Blind Athletes. (n.d.). *Visual Classifications*. https://www.usaba.org/membership/visual-classifications/
- United States Department of Education. (2011). Creating equal opportunities for children and youth with disabilities to participate in physical education and extracurricular activities. https://sites.ed.gov/idea/files/idea/policy/speced/guid/idea/equal-pe.doc
- United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2018). Physical activity guidelines for Americans, 2nd edition. https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-09/Physical\_Activity\_Guidelines\_2nd\_edition.pdf#page=32
- US Department of Health and Human Services. (2021). *Physical Activity for Different Groups*. https://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/basics/age-chart.html
- Vaughn, L. M., & Jacquez, F. (2020). Participatory research methods choice points in the research process. *Journal of Participatory Research Methods*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.35844/001c.13244
- Walseth, K., Engebretsen, B., & Elvebakk, L. (2018). Meaningful experiences in PE for all students: An activist research approach. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 23(3), 235-249. https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2018.1429590

- Wendell, S. (2001). Unhealthy disabled: Treating chronic illnesses as disabilities. *Hypatia*, 16(4), 17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1527-2001.2001.tb00751.x
- Winnick, J. P. (1985). The performance of visually impaired youngsters in physical education activities: Implications for mainstreaming. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 2(4), 292-299. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2.4.292
- World Health Organization. (2022). *Physical activity*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/physical-activity
- Xiaoliang, Z., & Huaping, C. (2022). The effect of physical fitness exercise on relieving psychological anxiety of college students. *Revista de Psicología del Deporte*, 31(4), 42-51.
- Yardley, L. (2000). Dilemmas in qualitative health research. *Psychology & Health*, *15*(2), 215. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870440008400302
- Yessick, A., & Haegele, J. A. (2019). 'Missed opportunities': Adults with visual impairments' reflections on the impact of physical education on current physical activity. *British Journal of Visual Impairment*, *37*(1), 40-49. https://doi.org/10.1177/0264619618814070
- Young, S. (2012). I'm not your inspiration, thank you very much.

  https://www.ted.com/talks/stella\_young\_i\_m\_not\_your\_inspiration\_thank\_you\_very\_mu
  ch?language=en
- Zhao, M., Veeranki, S. P., Magnussen, C. G., & Xi, B. (2020). Recommended physical activity and all cause and cause specific mortality in US adults: prospective cohort study. *BMJ*, 370, m2031. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2031

Zhu, X., Haegele, J. A., & Healy, S. (2019). Movement and mental health: Behavioral correlates of anxiety and depression among children of 6–17 years old in the US. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, *16*, 60-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2019.04.002

#### **APPENDICES**

#### **APPENDIX A**

Study One Recruitment Email

Hello,

My name is Ally Keene, and I am a doctoral student at Old Dominion University in Norfolk, VA. I am writing to you to see if you would be interested in participating in a study regarding your experiences in PE and opinions of improving PE for blind individuals. The study would consist of two parts, part one would include a zoom interview to discuss your experience in physical education. Part two would be determined by the group of participants, including yourself, to construct recommendations to provide to PE teachers, about improving PE from the perspective of blind individuals. To do this the group may elect to utilize focus groups, participant observation and field notes, interviews, diary and personal logs, questionnaires, or surveys. You are expected to take part in both part one and part two and will be compensated \$25 per interview or assignment for your time.

To conduct this study, we need the participation of blind adults 18 to 22 years old, who attended at least four years of high school and graduated, in the United States. Individuals must have no additional disabilities and have access to a computer for virtual meetings and interviews. All responses will be kept confidential, and all information will be reported anonymously.

Thank you again for your consideration in participating in our research. If you have any questions, please contact me at mkeen002@odu.edu. If interested, please fill out your information at this link: https://forms.gle/US5b2KjU8gYqS6rA8.

Sincerely, M. Ally Keene Old Dominion University

#### APPENDIX B

# Study One Consent Form

**PROJECT TITLE:** Co-Constructing an Understanding of the Experiences and Needs of Blind Individuals in Physical Education

## **INTRODUCTION**

The purposes of this form are to give you information that may affect your decision whether to say YES or NO to participation in this research, and to record the consent of those who say YES. This project, titled Co-Constructing an Understanding of the Experiences and Needs of Blind Individuals in Physical Education, will include individual interviews, focus groups, and independent reflection assignments.

### **RESEARCHERS**

Justin A. Haegele, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Human Movement Sciences, Old Dominion University

Mary A. Keene, MS, Health and Sport Pedagogy, Department of Human Movement Sciences, Old Dominion University

## **DESCRIPTION OF RESEARCH STUDY**

Blind individuals have been reported to have lower levels of enjoyment and find less meaning in Physical Education classes. These experiences may be directly related to the behaviors of their physical educators. This study intends to learn more about individual physical activity experiences in PE, with transition services, and after graduation. Participants will also work together to construct recommendations for current physical education teachers to help improve PE experiences for blind impaired youth that represent their interests. If you provide consent to participate, we will conduct individual interviews, focus groups, and independent reflection assignments.

### **INCLUSIONARY CRITERIA**

Participants must self-identify as blind (B1), are between the ages of 18-22, and have attended for at least 4 years and graduated from high school in the United States.

## **RISKS AND BENEFITS**

RISKS: If you decide to participate in this study, then you may face a risk of confidential data release, additionally you have the option to self-disclose your identity as part of the public dissemination of the final product. If you decide to remain anonymous, the researcher will reduce risks related to confidential data by developing data handling protocols to reduce the likelihood of data release. This includes changing your name to a pseudonym and eliminating any data relating to your identity.

BENEFITS: There are no direct benefits to participation. The benefits of this study may contribute to our knowledge of how blind individuals experience Physical Education and the co-construction of information may help PE teachers provide better experiences to future blind students.

### **COSTS AND PAYMENTS**

Participants will receive \$25 per interview for their time.

### **NEW INFORMATION**

If the researchers find new information during this study that would reasonably change your decision about participating, then they will give it to you.

## **CONFIDENTIALITY**

The researchers will take reasonable steps to keep private information, such as personal data, confidential. All data reporting will maintain confidentiality of the participant by referring only to participants in aggregate, should the participant wish to remain anonymous. The link between the data with pseudonyms and identifying information will be destroyed once data are analyzed. Identifiers might be removed, and the de-identified information used for future research without additional informed consent from the subject. The results of this study may be used in reports, presentations, and publications; but the researcher will not identify the participant, if the participant chooses such option. Of course, records may be subpoenaed by court order or inspected by government bodies with oversight authority.

#### WITHDRAWAL PRIVILEGE

It is OK for you to say NO. Even if you say YES now, you are free to say NO later, and walk away or withdraw from the study at any time. Your decision will not affect your relationship with Old Dominion University. The researchers reserve the right to withdraw your participation in this study, at any time, if they observe potential problems with your continued participation.

# **COMPENSATION FOR ILLNESS AND INJURY**

If you say YES, then your consent in this document does not waive any of your legal rights. However, in the event of harm arising from this study, neither Old Dominion University nor the researchers are able to give you any money, insurance coverage, free medical care, or any other compensation for such injury. In the event that you suffer injury as a result of participation in any research project, you may contact Dr. Justin A. Haegele, at jhaegele@odu.edu or 757 683 5338, Dr. John Baaki, the current chair for the DCOE Human Subjects Committee, at jbaaki@odu.edu or 757-683-5493.

#### **VOLUNTARY CONSENT**

By signing this form, you are saying several things. You are saying that you have read this form or have had it read to you, that you are satisfied that you understand this form, the research study, and its risks and benefits. The researchers should have answered any questions you may have had about the research. If you have any questions later on, then the researchers should be able to answer them:

Justin A. Haegele, PhD, 757 683 5338; jhaegele@odu.edu

If at any time you feel pressured to participate, or if you have any questions about your rights or this form, then you should call Dr. John Baaki, the current chair for the DCOE Human Subjects Committee, at jbaaki@odu.edu or 757 683 5491.

And importantly, by signing below, you are telling the researcher YES, that you agree to participate in this study. The researcher should give you a copy of this form for your records.

Printed Name & Signature	Date

## **INVESTIGATOR'S STATEMENT**

I certify that I have explained to this subject the nature and purpose of this research, including benefits, risks, costs, and any experimental procedures. I have described the rights and protections afforded to human subjects and have done nothing to pressure, coerce, or falsely entice this subject into participating. I am aware of my obligations under state and federal laws and promise compliance. I have answered the subject's questions and have encouraged him/her to ask additional questions at any time during the course of this study. I have witnessed the above signature(s) on this consent form.

Investigator's Printed Name & Signature	Date

### APPENDIX C

# Study Two Recruitment Email

Hello,

My name is Ally Keene, and I am a doctoral student at Old Dominion University in Norfolk, VA. I am writing to you to inquire if you would be interested in participating in a focus group regarding your opinions of a product created for PE teachers to help improve PE for blind individuals. The study would consist of a zoom focus group meeting to discuss your opinions. You will be compensated \$25 per meeting for your time.

## Requirements:

- (a) self-identify as a high school PE teacher
- (b) are between the ages of 18-89 at the start of the interview process

All responses will be kept confidential, and all information will be reported anonymously. Thank you again for your consideration in participating in this research study. If you have any questions, please contact me at mkeen002@odu.edu. If you are interested, please fill out your information at the following link: https://forms.gle/e2d9LTe3hrGSe4Hg7.

Sincerely,

M. Ally Keene

M. Ally Keene Old Dominion University

#### APPENDIX D

# Study Two Consent Form

**PROJECT TITLE:** Focus Group Analysis of PE Resources Co-Constructed by Blind Individuals

## **INTRODUCTION**

The purposes of this form are to give you information that may affect your decision whether to say YES or NO to participation in this research, and to record the consent of those who say YES. This project, titled Focus Group Analysis of PE Resources Co-Constructed by Blind Individuals will consist of a focus group meeting with high school PE teachers.

## **RESEARCHERS**

Justin A. Haegele, PhD, Professor, Department of Human Movement Sciences, Old Dominion University

Mary A. Keene, MS, Health and Sport Pedagogy, Department of Human Movement Sciences, Old Dominion University

Angela Eckhoff, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Teaching and Learning, Old Dominion University

## DESCRIPTION OF RESEARCH STUDY

Blind individuals have been reported to have lower levels of enjoyment and find less meaning in Physical Education classes. The focus group will review the products created from the participatory research project "co-constructing physical education pedagogical and curriculum strategies with blind young adults" which attempt to provide recommendations for improving PE for blind students. Focus groups participants will provide constructive feedback about the products, through open ended question prompting. The goal of this research is to determine if PE teachers understand the design of the product, their feelings about its useability, the practicality of other teachers using the product to help improve the PE experience for current and future blind students, and any recommendations for improvement or further clarification of the product(s). If you provide consent to participate, we will conduct a focus group meeting to learn about such opinions.

#### **INCLUSIONARY CRITERIA**

Participants must (a) self-identify as a high school PE teacher (b) are between the ages of 18-89 at the start of the interview process, (c) are willing to participate, and (d) have access to internet and a device that can access Zoom for the focus group meeting.

# **RISKS AND BENEFITS**

RISKS: If you decide to participate in this study, then you may face a risk of confidential data release. The researcher will reduce risks related to confidential data by developing data handling protocols to reduce the likelihood of data release. This includes changing your name to a pseudonym and eliminating any data relating to your identity.

BENEFITS: There are no direct benefits to participation. The benefits of this study may contribute to our knowledge of how PE teachers perceive and understand the product that provides recommendations to PE teachers to improve PE for blind students.

#### **COSTS AND PAYMENTS**

Participants will receive \$25 per meeting for their time.

## **NEW INFORMATION**

If the researchers find new information during this study that would reasonably change your decision about participating, then they will give it to you.

## **CONFIDENTIALITY**

The researchers will take reasonable steps to keep private information, such as personal data, confidential. The researcher will not collect any identifiable private information. All data reporting will maintain confidentiality of the participant by referring only to participants in aggregate. All data will be stored in password protected accounts. The link between the data with pseudonyms and identifying information will be destroyed once data are analyzed. Identifiers might be removed, and the de-identified information used for future research without additional informed consent from the subject. The results of this study may be used in reports, presentations, and publications; but the researcher will not identify the participant. Of course, records may be subpoenaed by court order or inspected by government bodies with oversight authority.

# **WITHDRAWAL PRIVILEGE**

It is OK for you to say NO. Even if you say YES now, you are free to say NO later, and walk away or withdraw from the study at any time. Your decision will not affect your relationship with Old Dominion University. The researchers reserve the right to withdraw your participation in this study, at any time, if they observe potential problems with your continued participation.

### **COMPENSATION FOR ILLNESS AND INJURY**

If you say YES, then your consent in this document does not waive any of your legal rights. However, in the event of harm arising from this study, neither Old Dominion University nor the researchers are able to give you any money, insurance coverage, free medical care, or any other compensation for such injury. In the event that you suffer injury as a result of participation in any research project, you may contact Dr. Justin A. Haegele, at jhaegele@odu.edu or 757 683 5338, Dr. John Baaki, the current chair for the DCOE Human Subjects Committee, at jbaaki@odu.edu or 757-683-5493.

# **VOLUNTARY CONSENT**

By signing this form, you are saying several things. You are saying that you have read this form or have had it read to you, that you are satisfied that you understand this form, the research study, and its risks and benefits. The researchers should have answered any questions you may have had about the research. If you have any questions later on, then the researchers should be able to answer them:

Justin A. Haegele, PhD, 757 683 5338; jhaegele@odu.edu

If at any time you feel pressured to participate, or if you have any questions about your rights or this form, then you should call Dr. John Baaki, the current chair for the DCOE Human Subjects Committee, at jbaaki@odu.edu or 757 683 5491.

And importantly, by signing below, you are telling the researcher YES, that you agree to participate in this study. The researcher should give you a copy of this form for your records.

Printed Name & Signature	Date

# **INVESTIGATOR'S STATEMENT**

I certify that I have explained to this subject the nature and purpose of this research, including benefits, risks, costs, and any experimental procedures. I have described the rights and protections afforded to human subjects and have done nothing to pressure, coerce, or falsely entice this subject into participating. I am aware of my obligations under state and federal laws and promise compliance. I have answered the subject's questions and have encouraged him/her to ask additional questions at any time during the course of this study. I have witnessed the above signature(s) on this consent form.

Investigator's Printed Name & Signature	Date

#### APPENDIX E

# Study Two Interview Guide

Thank you again for agreeing to speak with me. I would like to remind you that the data from our discussion will be published, but all participants will be anonymous. If there are any questions you do not want to answer or do not wish to participate in, that is perfectly fine. This meeting will be recorded, if you are not comfortable with being recorded, you are welcome to leave the zoom at this time and we appreciate your consideration for being part of this project. As a reminder, I am interested in learning about your opinions about the usefulness, practicality, and understanding of the content created as a resource to help improve PE for blind students. Do you have any questions before we get started? *Did you have a chance to review the content?* 

#### **Dear Teacher Section**

- 1. How do you find this section relevant for teachers?
- 2. What do you find useful about this section?
- 3. What do you find not useful about this section?
- 4. Could you foresee using this within your classroom? Why or why not? (ask how if conversation leads there)
- 5. What would you change about the content of this section?
- 6. What would you change about the format/organization of this section?
- 7. Is there anything you don't understand within this section? If so, please elaborate.
- 8. What additional feedback do you have regarding this section?

#### Resources (20 min)

- 1. How do you find this section relevant for teachers?
- 2. What do you find useful about this section?
- 3. What do you find not useful about this section?
- 4. Could you foresee using this within your classroom? Why or why not? (ask how, if conversation leads there)
- 5. What would you change about the content of this section?
- 6. What would you change about the format/organization of this section?
- 7. Is there anything you don't understand within this section? If so, please elaborate.
- 8. What other resources do you think should be included?
- 9. What additional feedback do you have regarding this section?

#### Worksheet

- 1. How do you find this worksheet relevant for teachers?
- 2. What do you find useful about this worksheet?
- 3. What do you find not useful about this worksheet?
- 4. What questions came to mind when you read the instructions?
- 5. What questions came to mind when you were reviewing the Teacher Section?
- 6. What questions came to mind when you were reviewing the Collaboration Section?
- 7. Could you foresee using this within your classroom? Why or why not? (ask how if conversation leads there)
- 8. What would you change about the format/organization of this worksheet?

- 9. What would you change about the content of this worksheet?
- 10. Is there anything you don't understand within this worksheet? If so, please elaborate.
- 11. What additional feedback do you have regarding this worksheet?

CONCLUSION: please complete demographic information to receive \$25 gift card:

https://forms.gle/aj18USpV62ijHprw5

#### VITA

## M. Ally Keene

Human Movement Sciences 2004 Student Recreation Center Norfolk, VA 23529-0196

#### **EDUCATION**

2024 **PhD**, Old Dominion University

Health and Sport Pedagogy

Specialization: Adapted Physical Education/Activity

Dissertation Topic: Co-constructing physical education resources and recommendations

with blind individuals.

2018 **MS**, The University of Hawaii at Manoa

Kinesiology and Rehabilitation Science Concentration: Adapted Physical Activity

Thesis Topic: Stand-up paddle board and kayak curriculum for individuals with visual

impairments.

2012 **BS**, James Madison University

Kinesiology

Concentration: Exercise Science

#### SELECTED PUBLICATIONS

**Keene, M.A.,** Sanchez, O., Pigg, M., Shapiro, D., & Dillon, S. (2024). Advocating for physical education and extracurricular opportunities for students with disabilities. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation, and Dance*.

- **Keene, M.A.,** Haegele, J.A., Ball, L.E., Nowland, L.A., & Zhu, X. (2023). Exploring blind and visually impaired students' views on how to improve physical education. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*. https://doi.org/10.1123/jtpe.2023-0013
- Haegele, J. A., Brasiliano Salerno, M., Nowland, L., Zhu, X, **Keene, M. A.**, & Ball, L. (2023) Why modify? Visually impaired students' views on activity modifications in physical education. *European Physical Education Review*.
- Haegele, J.A., Ball, L.E., Nowland, L.A., **Keene, M.A.**, & Zhu, X. (2022). Visually impaired students' views on peer tutoring in integrated physical education. *Sport, Education & Society*. https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2022.2125949
- **Keene, M.A.,** Haegele, J.A., & Zhu, X. (2022). Impact of neighbourhood walkability on weekly walking minutes among adults with visual impairments: A preliminary study. *British Journal of Visual Impairment*. https://doi.org/10.1177/02646196221127121
- Haegele, J.A., Ball, L.E., Zhu, X, **Keene, M.A**, & Nowland, L.A. (2022). Absent, incapable, and "normal": Understanding the inclusiveness of visually impaired students' experiences in integrated physical education. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *39*(4), *424-445*. https://doi.org/10.1123/apaq.2022-0014